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Foreword

The need for accurate, comprehensive, and reliable monetary and financial data across countries has been under-
scored by modern episodes of financial instability, in particular that of 2008-2009. The International Monetary
Fund (IMF) has taken the lead in promoting methodologically sound and internationally comparable monetary
and financial statistics. In 2000, the IMF published the Monetary and Financial Statistics Manual (MFSM),
followed in 2008 by its accompanying Compilation Guide (MFS Guide).

This Monetary and Financial Statistics Manual and Compilation Guide (Manual) updates and merges into one
volume methodological and practical aspects of the compilation process of monetary statistics. The Manual is
aimed at compilers and users of monetary data, offering guidance for the collection and analytical presentation
of monetary statistics. The Manual includes standardized report forms, providing countries with a tool for com-
piling and reporting harmonized data for the central bank, other depository corporations, and other financial
corporations.

The methodology and concepts described in the Manual are consistent with other macroeconomic data sets,
including the System of National Accounts 2008 (2008 SNA), the sixth edition of the Balance of Payments and
International Investment Position Manual (BPM6), the Government Finance Statistics Manual 2014 (GFSM
2014), and the publication by the United Nations and the European Central Bank of the handbook on Financial
Production, Flows and Stocks in the System of National Accounts. This consistency underscores the close rela-
tionship existing between the different macroeconomic statistical systems.

The Manual has been prepared by the Statistics Department, in consultation with a group of experts of national
central banks, statistical offices, and other international organizations. Earlier versions of the Manual were posted
on the IMF’s website for comments by the general public. I would like to thank all of the experts involved for their
invaluable assistance and for their collaborative spirit.

We publish this Manual in the expectation that it will assist member countries in their efforts to improve the pro-
cess of compiling and disseminating high-quality monetary and financial statistics. I encourage member coun-
tries to adopt the guidelines of the Manual.

Christine Lagarde
Managing Director
International Monetary Fund
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Preface

The Monetary and Financial Statistics Manual and Compilation Guide (Manual) updates and merges into one
volume methodological and practical aspects of the compilation process of monetary and financial statistics. The
Manual sets forth the broad framework for the collection and presentation of these statistics and provides spe-
cific recommendations for the classification, sectoring, valuation, and recording of various categories of financial
assets and liabilities in an economy. The Manual was produced by the IMF’s Statistics Department (STA) as part
of its mandate to provide leadership on the development and application of sound statistical methodologies and
practices.

The concepts, accounting principles, and other methodological elements of this Manual are harmonized with
those of the System of National Accounts 2008 (2008 SNA), the sixth edition of the Balance of Payments and
International Investment Position Manual (BPM6), the Government Finance Statistics Manual 2014 (GFSM
2014), and the handbook on Financial Production, Flows and Stocks in the System of National Accounts pub-
lished by the United Nations and the European Central Bank. Since the main source data for monetary statistics
are the accounting records of the financial corporations, this Manual elaborates on the relationship between
monetary and financial statistics and internationally accepted accounting standards, in particular the Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

The purpose of this Manual is to support compilers of monetary and financial statistics in the production of
methodologically sound and cross-country comparable monetary data. It provides a set of tools for identifying,
classifying, and recording stocks and flows of financial assets and liabilities; it describes standardized, analytically
oriented frameworks in which monetary statistics may be presented; and it identifies a set of analytically useful
aggregates within those frameworks.
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Introduction

I. Purposes of the Monetary and
Financial Statistics Manual and
Compilation Guide

1.1 The main purpose of the Monetary and Financial
Statistics Manual and Compilation Guide (Manual) is
to offer guidelines for the compilation and presenta-
tion of monetary statistics, with compilers and users
of such statistics as its focal target audience. Addi-
tionally, the Manual provides an orientation to the
financial statistics framework. The Manual is also use-
ful to compilers and users of other macroeconomic
statistics in understanding the relationships among
the various macroeconomic datasets.

1.2 This Manual combines and updates the con-
cepts, definitions, and recommendations contained
in the 2000 Monetary and Financial Statistics Manual
(MFSM) and the 2008 Monetary and Financial Statis-
tics Compilation Guide (MFS Guide). The Manual offers
a set of tools for identifying, classifying, and record-
ing stocks and flows of financial assets and liabilities.
At the same time, it assists compilers responsible for
monetary data collection with practical recommenda-
tions on the classification, valuation, and sectoring of
financial assets and liabilities for monetary statistics
purposes, with special emphasis on borderline cases.
In this way, the Manual promotes the harmonization
of concepts among different macroeconomic datasets
and cross-country comparability.

1.3 This Manual sets up a conceptual framework for
the analytical presentation of monetary statistics,
which provides a critical input for monetary policy
formulation and monitoring. The statistics covered in
this Manual also support the assessment of financial
system stability.

Il. Historical Perspective

1.4 In 2000, the International Monetary Fund (IMF)
published the MFSM, which was the first volume of
its kind in the field of monetary and financial statis-
tics. The MFSM was harmonized with the System of
National Accounts 1993 (1993 SNA) and other statisti-
cal manuals, such as the fifth edition of the Balance
of Payments Manual (BPM5). Because of its focus on
concepts, the MFSM was not intended as a compila-
tion guide and did not deal with practical issues on
sources or methods for compiling statistics.

1.5 The publication in 2008 of the MFS Guide filled
the void for practical guidance, providing assistance
to monetary statistics compilers on the ways to im-
plement the methodology and statistical framework
contained in the MFSM. The MFS Guide focused on
the cross-country harmonization of source data and
methodology, with special attention to the accounting
standards applicable to the source data for MFS.

1.6 Between the publication of the MFSM and the MFS
Guide, the IMF introduced in 2004 the standardized
report forms (SRFs) for monetary data reporting by
member countries to the IME The SRFs present the
sectoral balance sheets of the central bank, other de-
pository corporations (ODCs), and other financial
corporations (OFCs) in a balance-sheet-like structure,
according to the instrument, the currency of denomi-
nation, and the counterpart sector. Monetary data
compiled using the SRFs were first published in Inter-
national Financial Statistics (IFS) in September 2006.
Most member countries are submitting their data to the
IMF using the SRFs. Many of these countries are also
using the SRFs as the platform to generate the monetary
data disseminated through their national publications.

[
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1.7 Since these events took place, the methodologi-
cal framework for national accounts was updated with
the release in 2009 of the System of National Accounts
2008 (2008 SNA). Almost simultaneously, the sixth
edition of the Balance of Payments and International
Investment Position Manual (BPM6) was published.
Finally, a revised Government Finance Statistics Man-
ual 2014 (GFSM 2014) was made available to the
public in 2014.

1.8 Another development was the publication in 2014
by the European Central Bank (ECB) and the United
Nations of the handbook on Financial Production,
Flows and Stocks in the System of National Accounts.
This handbook elaborates on the financial production
and income from an SNA perspective, complement-
ing the concepts and methodology laid out in this
Manual.

1.9 In view of these major developments, a revision
of the 2000 MFSM and the 2008 MFS Guide was
required, in order to align the methodology of mon-
etary and financial statistics to the new framework.
The need for revision also presented an opportunity
to address practical compilation issues based on the
experience gained with the implementation of the
SRFs and to reflect recent developments in the finan-
cial sector and financial markets. The decision was
made to combine the manual and the compilation
guide into a single volume, as a way to reduce over-
laps and to facilitate the work of compilers and users
of monetary statistics.

lll. Main Changes from the MFSM and
the MFS Guide

1.10 The major methodological revisions contained
in this Manual, compared with the MFSM and the
MEFS Guide, are summarized in the next paragraphs.

1.11 With respect to institutional sectors, the 2008
SNA increased to nine the number of the subsectors of
the financial corporations (FCs) sector, compared with
the five of the 1993 SNA. There is a greater focus on the
OFCs, with a split between insurance corporations and
pension funds, the identification of money market
funds (MMFs) and non-MMF investment funds, and
the inclusion of a category for captive financial insti-
tutions and money lenders. As it will be seen in
Chapter 3, for monetary statistics purposes the insti-
tutional units of the FCs sector are grouped into only

three subsectors: central bank; ODCs, which include
deposit-taking corporations except the central bank
[MS]'and MMFs; and OFCs [MS], which include all
remaining FCs. The Manual also expands on the treat-
ment of some special cases of institutional units, such
as special purpose entities (SPEs), sovereign wealth
funds (SWFs), and central clearing counterparties
(CCPs).

1.12 Regarding financial instruments, the Manual
adopts the revised terminology and classification of the
2008 SNA, although in most cases the revisions do not
connote a change in concepts. The new classification
adds three subcategories to financial instruments:
(1) investment fund shares/units are added to equity;
(2) the term Insurance technical reserves is replaced
by the term Insurance, pension, and standardized
guarantee schemes (IPSGS), while the asset boundary
is extended to include Provisions for calls under stan-
dardized guarantee schemes and Claims of pension
funds on pension managers; and (3) employee stock
options (ESOs) are added to financial derivatives.
This Manual contains additional discussions on bor-
derline cases in the classification of financial assets
and liabilities.

1.13 An important revision concerning financial in-
struments is the reclassification of the Special Drawing
Rights (SDR) allocations to the Fund’s member coun-
tries, from equity to long-term foreign liability. The
change was introduced in August 2009 in the monetary
data compiled by countries, with historical data having
been revised correspondingly. Previously, SDR alloca-
tions were recorded in monetary statistics as part of
equity. The 2008 SNA and the BPM6 changed this treat-
ment, considering the SDR allocations as long-term
foreign liabilities of the countries receiving the alloca-
tion, because of a requirement to repay the allocation
in certain circumstances, and also because interest ac-
crues on the allocation. If SDR allocations are held on
the balance sheet of the central bank, they are treated

"The coverage of deposit-taking corporations except the central
bank may differ between the national accounts and monetary
statistics as the latter does not include deposit-taking institutions
whose deposits are excluded from broad money (see paragraph
3.124). Hence in this Manual, “deposit-taking corporations ex-
cept the central bank” are notated by “MS” (monetary statistics)
when referring to monetary data, to emphasize the difference with
the subsector with the same name in the 2008 SNA. A similar ap-
proach is taken for OFCs. The coverage of FCs is the same in this
Manual as in the 2008 SNA.



as liabilities to nonresidents (foreign liabilities), and re-
corded as a separate line item (see Annex 4.2).

1.14 Another revision relates to the classification of
financial instruments with principal and interest
indexed to a foreign currency. In the 2000 MFSM and
the 2008 MFS Guide, the currency of settlement of the
instrument was the key factor to determine whether
a financial asset or liability was classified as denomi-
nated in domestic or in foreign currency. Therefore,
instruments denominated in domestic currency but
fully indexed to a foreign currency were classified as
denominated in domestic currency. This was, for in-
stance, the case for the IMF No. 1 Account, IMF No. 2
Account, and IMF Securities Account, which were clas-
sified as being in domestic currency, although they
are indexed to the SDRs. However, the BPM6 recom-
mends treating financial instruments with principal
and interest indexed to a foreign currency as if they
were denominated in foreign currency. This Manual
defers to this approach.

1.15 This Manual offers a more elaborate discussion
on money aggregates, focusing on the characteristics
of the financial instruments that should be included
as part of broad money: liquidity and store of nominal
value. The MFSM and the MFS Guide were not pre-
scriptive on the national definitions of money, monetary
base, credit, and debt, which were left to the discretion
of national authorities. This Manual provides clear
guidelines on the instruments that should be included
in the calculation of these aggregates, which should
be tailored to the particular characteristics of each
economy. For the definition of money aggregates, the
Manual introduces the concepts of money issuing,
money holding, and money neutral sectors. Further-
more, the Manual provides a more elaborate discussion
on credit and liquidity aggregates.

1.16 To implement the methodological changes when
compiling monetary statistics, the sectoral balance
sheets/SRFs were correspondingly revised. The main
changes relate to (1) the inclusion of a separate line for
SDR allocations on the liability side of the central bank
sectoral balance sheet; (2) the reclassification of the
IMF No. 1 Account, IMF No. 2 Account, and IMF Secu-
rities Account from deposits denominated in domestic
currency to deposits denominated in foreign curren-
cy; (3) the introduction of separate lines for MMF and
non-MMEF investment funds shares/units on the asset
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side of the sectoral balance sheets; (4) the introduc-
tion of separate lines for MMF (in the ODCs sectoral
balance sheet) and non-MMF investment fund (in
the OFCs sectoral balance sheet) shares/units on the
liability side with a breakdown by counterpart sec-
tor; and (5) more detail in memorandum items that
identify assets and liabilities with nonresident FCs,
interbank positions with affiliated nonresident FCs,
debt securities and loans with a maturity of one year
or less, and loans and deposits of households.

IV. Structure of the Manual

1.17 This Manual consists of eight chapters, including
annexes to specific chapters, and three appendices, as
presented below.

1.18 After this introductory chapter, Chapter 2 de-
scribes the scope and uses of monetary and financial
statistics. It provides the process for the compilation
of monetary statistics in a schematic presentation.
The process integrates the different institutional units
that constitute the FC sector with the source data
needed to compile their sectoral balance sheets. It
also presents the different analytical surveys, which
are generated from the sectoral balance sheets.

1.19 The chapter then discusses the main principles
and concepts, focusing on the links between the 2008
SNA as an overarching framework for all macro-
economic datasets, including monetary and financial
statistics, and explaining the areas where this Manual
differs from the 2008 SNA.

1.20 The remainder of the chapter explains the link-
ages between the accounting records of FCs, which
are the source data for monetary statistics, and the
methodological guidelines for monetary and financial
statistics. Accounting records are produced accord-
ing to International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) or national accounting standards, which fo-
cus on the financial position and performance of an
entity as a way to provide information useful to a
wide range of users in making investment and other
economic decisions. Therefore, when compiling mon-
etary and financial statistics, the information available
from accounting records needs to be expanded to pro-
vide more details and be tailored so as to conform to
the sectoring of institutional units and the classifica-
tion of financial instruments recommended in this
Manual.
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1.21 Chapter 3 deals with institutional units and
their allocation to institutional sectors. When distin-
guishing between resident and nonresident units, and
classifying resident institutional units into sectors,
the chapter follows the concepts and definitions
of the 2008 SNA and other statistical manuals (the
BPM6 and the GFSM 2014). This chapter elaborates
on the description of institutional units and provides
examples of borderline cases that arise when classify-
ing resident and nonresident institutional units.

1.22 The focus of this Manual is on the relationship
between the FCs sector vis-a-vis other resident sectors
and the rest of the world. Therefore, the different sub-
sectors of the FC sector, as presented in the 2008 SNA,
are combined here into only three subsectors:
(1) central bank; (2) ODCs, comprising deposit-
taking corporations except the central bank [MS] and
MMFs; and (3) OFCs [MS], comprising all the re-
maining subsectors of the FCs sector. Furthermore,
the resident nonfinancial corporations (NFCs) sector
is split into only two subsectors—public nonfinancial
corporations (PNFCs) and other NFCs—unlike the
2008 SNA, where resident NFCs are divided into three
separate subsectors: PNFCs, national private NFCs,
and foreign controlled NFCs. In monetary and finan-
cial statistics, the subsectors state government and
local government within general government are
combined into one subsector, as are the sectors house-
holds and nonprofit institutions serving households
(NPISHs).

1.23 Chapter 4 provides a detailed description of the
characteristics of different categories of financial as-
sets and liabilities. At its highest level, the classification
of financial assets and liabilities in this Manual is fully
consistent with that of the 2008 SNA. The chapter pro-
vides guidance for the classification of: (1) monetary
gold and SDRs, (2) currency and deposits, (3) debt
securities, (4) loans, (5) equity and investment fund
shares, (6) IPSGS, (7) financial derivatives and ESOs,
and (8) other accounts receivable/payable. At a sec-
ondary level, currency and deposits are disaggregated
into separate subcategories for (1) currency, (2) trans-
ferable deposits, and (3) other deposits.

1.24 For monetary statistics purposes, deposits and debt
securities on the liability side are divided into included
in broad money and excluded from broad money. Eq-
uity and investment fund shares are disaggregated into

separate subcategories for (1) MMF shares, (2) non-
MMEF investment fund shares, and (3) equity.

1.25 In line with the 2008 SNA, IPSGS is disaggregated
into (1) nonlife insurance technical reserves, (2) life
insurance and annuity entitlements, (3) pension enti-
tlements, (4) claims of pension funds on pension
managers, (5) entitlements to nonpension benefits,
and (6) provisions for calls under standardized guar-
antees. Similarly, Other accounts receivable/payable
are disaggregated into (1) trade credit and advances,
and (2) other accounts receivable/payable. Where rel-
evant, financial assets and liabilities are split into
denominated in domestic currency and denominated
in foreign currency.

1.26 This chapter contains three annexes: (1) “Exam-
ples of Debt Securities Issued through Securitization,”
(2) “Accounts with the IME’ and (3) “Islamic Finan-
cial Institutions and Instruments.”

1.27 Chapter 5 describes the concepts of stocks and
flows, and the accounting rules for compiling data for
institutional units within the FCs sector. The chapter
provides an overview of the integrated framework of
stocks-and-flows data, where double-entry accounting
rules give rise to data that add up both vertically and
horizontally. It then covers the compilation of flows,
with general recommendations on the recording of
transactions, revaluations, and other changes in the
volume of assets (OCVA).?

1.28 Chapter 5 also covers the following accounting
rules: (1) time of recording; (2) treatment of transac-
tion costs and financial services fees; (3) valuations of
financial stocks and flows; and (4) aggregation, netting,
and consolidation. The chapter concludes by provid-
ing detailed guidance on the compilation of stocks
and flows for each category or subcategory of financial
assets and liabilities, and by discussing the recording
of debt reorganizations.

1.29 This Manual, consistent with the 2008 SNA,
recommends using the accrual basis of recording. In
the accrual basis of recording, flows are recorded at
the time economic value is created, transformed, ex-
changed, transferred or extinguished. Further, this
Manual recommends that valuations of stocks and
flows should be based on market prices or market-
price equivalents. It recognizes that market prices are

*References to OCVA also apply to liabilities.



not available for financial assets not traded or infre-
quently traded in secondary markets. It is, therefore,
necessary to estimate market-equivalent values for
such financial assets. (See Table 2.2.)

1.30 It is the general principle in this Manual, and in
the 2008 SNA, that data should be reported on a gross
basis; although in some circumstances reporting on a
net basis may be needed due to the lack of availability
of data on a gross basis. The underlying data for mon-
etary and financial statistics should be reported on an
aggregated basis, adding stock and flow data across all
institutional units within a sector or subsector, or of
all assets or liabilities within a particular instrument
category. Data should be disseminated on a consoli-
dated basis, eliminating stock positions and flows that
occur between institutional units that are grouped to-
gether, and should be presented as if they constituted
a single unit. For analytical purposes, positions with
nonresidents and central government are presented
on a net basis.

1.31 Four annexes are attached to Chapter 5, elab-
orating on the (1) estimation of transactions and
valuation changes from exchange rate movements;
(2) valuation, recording, and numerical examples
for specific types of debt securities; (3) valuation,
recording of financial derivatives, and a numerical
example; and (4) settlement date and transaction
date accounting.

1.32 Chapter 6 deals with the concepts of money, li-
quidity, credit, and debt. It covers a variety of issues
pertaining to the collection and reporting of data for
compiling monetary base, broad money, and other
money aggregates. Money plays an important role in an
economy and is a key component of the transmission
mechanism from monetary policy to economic activ-
ity and inflation. This Manual provides a definition of
broad money. The definition is intended to help mon-
etary statistics compilers determine the scope of broad
money, taking into account the structure and other
features of the financial system in their own economies
and against the principles specified in this Manual.

1.33 The aggregates of money, liquidity, credit, and
debt have the following same underlying dimensions:
(1) the financial instruments that are components of
a particular aggregate, (2) the issuing sectors, and (3)
the holding sectors. The distinction between money
issuers, money holders, and money neutral sectors is
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introduced in this chapter. Extending the discussion
on money aggregates, this chapter presents the under-
lying framework for compiling liquidity aggregates
with data on their counterpart sources, as well as mea-
sures of credit and debt.

1.34 Chapter 6 contains the following six annexes on:
(1) currency-union currency; (2) dollarized econo-
mies and co-circulation; (3) reserve requirements;
(4) seasonal adjustment of economic time series; (5)
holding sectors of debt securities issued by FCs; and
(6) divisia money.

1.35 Chapter 7 discusses the framework and practical
issues in the compilation and presentation of mon-
etary statistics in accordance with the methodology
of this Manual, and the necessary source data. The
chapter describes first the overall framework for mon-
etary statistics, followed by sectoral balance sheets
that provide a framework for the collection of mon-
etary statistics, and then presents the main outputs of
monetary statistics, namely the analytical surveys for
the FC sector and its subsectors, explaining the use
of the surveys for monetary policy formulation. The
depository corporations survey (DCS), for example,
contains consolidated data for all depository corpora-
tions (DCs), presenting their claims on other sectors
of the economy and on nonresidents, which constitute
the counterpart sources of broad money. The finan-
cial corporations survey (FCS) contains consolidated
data for all institutional units within the FC sector
and provides the broadest coverage of domestic credit
supplied by FCs.

1.36 The source data for monetary statistics are dis-
cussed later in the chapter, including the systematic
identification of data reporting requirements, data
adjustments and estimations, and validation tests of
the reported data. Finally, the chapter deals with the
dissemination of monetary data, at the national level
and for reporting to the IME.

1.37 The following three annexes, mostly in table
forms, are attached to Chapter 7: (1) “Other Changes
in the Volume of Assets,” (2) “Consolidation Adjust-
ments,” and (3) “Supplementary Data”

1.38 Chapter 8 presents the framework for financial
statistics, describing the compilation, presentation,
and data sources for financial statistics. After provid-
ing definitions and scope for flow and stock accounts,
more sophisticated frameworks are introduced,
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with various levels of detail on financial statistics:
(1) two-dimensional financial statistics, and (2)
three-dimensional financial statistics on a from-
whom-to-whom basis. The chapter touches also on the
main data sources for financial statistics and statistical
discrepancies when two or more datasets provide dif-
ferent results for a particular data category. The only
annex attached to this chapter provides an overview
of the 2008 SNA.

1.39 In addition to annexes pertaining to specific
chapters, the Manual contains three appendices. Ap-
pendix I presents the relationship between monetary
and financial statistics on one side and government
finance statistics and external sector statistics on the
other. Appendix II contains illustrative sectoral bal-
ance sheets/SRFs and guidelines for their completion.
Appendix III presents the FCSs and monetary author-
ities accounts.



l. Introduction

2.1 This chapter provides an overview of the mon-
etary and financial statistics framework, focusing on
its scope, uses, and main principles and concepts.
Further, it explains the relationship of monetary
and financial statistics with the System of National
Accounts 2008 (2008 SNA), other statistical manuals,
and the International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs). The chapter sets the stage for the other chap-
ters of this Manual, providing a context for the reader.

2.2 The chapter first discusses the scope and uses of
monetary and financial statistics. This discussion is
then followed by a summary of all essential principles
and concepts used in compiling monetary and finan-
cial statistics, within the framework provided by the
2008 SNA. The final section compares the source data
available from IFRSs and the needs of monetary and
financial statistics, focusing on the commonalities
and the differences between the two.

2.3 In this Manual the needs of monetary statistics
and financial statistics occasionally diverge. When
the guidance applies only to monetary statistics, this
is made explicit in the text, and similarly when the
guidance only applies to financial statistics. In all
other cases, the guidance applies both to monetary
and financial statistics.

Il. Scope and Uses of Monetary
and Financial Statistics

A. Scope

2.4 The monetary and financial statistics described in
this Manual cover financial and nonfinancial assets,
and liabilities of all institutional sectors within an
economy, with a particular focus on the financial cor-
porations (FCs) sector. Assets are stores of value, over
which ownership rights are enforced and from which
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their owners may derive economic benefits by hold-
ing them over a period of time. Financial assets are
a subset of economic assets that are financial instru-
ments and are unconditional creditor claims on eco-
nomic resources of other institutional units, which
give rise to corresponding liabilities of debtors.!
Other financial instruments of a contingent nature,
such as guarantees (except standardized guarantees)
and commitments, are outside the assets boundary
and therefore are not included in the monetary and
financial statistics (see paragraph 4.2).

2.5 Principles and concepts for the measurement of
stocks and flows in monetary and financial statistics are
consistent with the 2008 SNA and other statistical man-
uals. In particular, flows comprise the sum of one or
more of the following: (1) transactions; (2) revaluations
(also called holding gains and losses); and (3) other
changes in the volume of assets (OCVA). In compiling
monetary and financial statistics, these categories are
used to account for period-to-period changes in out-
standing amounts (i.e., stocks) of assets and liabilities.

2.6 Data on the market prices, including market
exchange rates, of financial assets and liabilities as
well as market interest rates are necessary for the
implementation of this Manuals recommendations
on the valuation of financial assets and liabilities.
Monetary and financial statistics, however, as defined
in the next two subsections, do not cover the compila-
tion and presentation of interest rates, debt and equity
security prices, or exchange rates.

B. Monetary Statistics

2.7 Monetary statistics cover the stocks and flows of
the assets and liabilities of the resident FCs sector

!'The exception is gold bullion held by monetary authorities as a
reserve asset (monetary gold), which does not have a counterpart
liability and is a financial asset by convention.
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with respect to all other resident institutional sectors
and nonresidents. Based on the concepts of the 2008
SNA, monetary statistics provide a framework for
analyzing the relationship between the FCs sector and
other institutional sectors, including through broad
money, credit aggregates, and liquidity measures.

2.8 Monetary statistics comprise a set of stock and flow
data that are organized in two hierarchical frameworks,
namely sectoral balance sheets and analytical surveys.

2.9 In the sectoral balance sheets, compiled for the
three FCs subsectors—central bank, other depository
corporations (ODCs), and other financial corpora-
tions (OFCs) [MS]—the asset and liability positions
(and the corresponding flows) are presented in a
balance-sheet-like form by category of financial
instrument, by currency (domestic and foreign), and
by counterpart institutional sector. (See Chapter 7,
Section II, and Tables A2.1-A2.3 in Appendix II.)

2.10 The analytical surveys are derived from the
respective sectoral balance sheets, whereby the sec-
toral balance sheet data are rearranged into an ana-
lytical format. In the analytical surveys, the assets
are presented as FCs' claims on other resident insti-
tutional sectors and nonresidents, while the liabilities
are presented by category of financial instrument in
the order of their liquidity. Claims on and liabilities
to nonresidents and central government are presented
on a net basis. (See Chapter 7, Section IV, and Tables
A3.1-A3.5 in Appendix III.)

2.11 The analytical surveys comprise the following:

a. Three surveys that cover the FCs subsectors—the
central bank survey (CBS), the other deposi-
tory corporations survey (ODCS), and the other
financial corporations survey (OFCS).

b. The depository corporations survey (DCS) con-
solidates the CBS and the ODCS.

¢. The financial corporations survey (FCS) consoli-
dates the DCS and the OFCS and contains data
for the entire FCs sector.

2.12 The compilation process for monetary statistics
is shown in Figure 2.1.

2.13 Monetary statistics are a prominent and some-
what special part of the macroeconomic statistical
system of a country. Compared with other types of
macroeconomic statistics, namely national accounts,

external sector statistics (ESS), and government
finance statistics (GFS), most countries compile and
disseminate monetary statistics on a more frequent
and more timely basis. This is facilitated by law and
regulations, by the needs of policymakers and mar-
ket participants, as well as by the broad availability
of detailed and frequent source data. Most countries
compile the DCS on a monthly basis and dissemi-
nate it within one or two months after the end of the
reference period.

2.14 For monetary policy purposes, the focus is on
the consolidated data for the depository corporations
(DCs) subsector, presented in the CBS, the ODCS, and
the DCS. The CBS contains data on all components of
the monetary base, which comprises the central bank
liabilities that support the expansion of broad money
and credit. The DCS contains data on all DCs’ liabili-
ties included in broad money.

2.15 The balance sheet identity in the DCS (see para-
graph 7.14) provides a direct link between the broad
money supply and DCs’ claims on nonresidents and
on the resident sectors of the economy. These data
are used for the formulation of monetary policy and,
more broadly, for macroeconomic policy.

2.16 For purposes of broader macroeconomic policies,
there is also an increasing focus on the OFCs subsec-
tor and the FCS, which is the broadest set of monetary
statistics in terms of institutional coverage. The FCS
contains consolidated data for the entire FCs sector.
The data in the FCS are particularly useful for analyz-
ing the FCs sector’s claims on (i.e., credit to) the other
sectors of the economy and nonresidents, as well as
for presenting the liquidity aggregates issued by FCs.

C. Financial Statistics

2.17 Financial statistics cover the stock and flows of
the assets and liabilities between all sectors of the
economy and between the sectors of the economy
and nonresidents. Thus financial statistics extend the
range of monetary statistics to include all sectors of
the economy and nonresidents. The financial statistics
are organized and presented in formats designed to
show financial flows between the sectors of an econ-
omy and nonresidents, and corresponding financial
asset and liability positions. Sectoral balance sheets of
the FCs subsectors contain a significant portion of the
data needed to compile financial statistics.
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Figure 2.1 Compilation Framework for Monetary Statistics
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= - by type |bytype [P Central bank P NCG NCG | Money
epository Equit ]
corporations —< Ly 8?\?8 P S%RS
(DCs)
Other Aggregated balance
depository sheets and/or
corporations reports of ODCs =
(ODCs) ODCs S survey
—— | CRICHENREY Assets | Liabiliies
Assets | Liabilities —
; : by type |bytype [P >_ Liquidity
Financial y
corporations ~— Equity i, ':J((;JCI:S Aggregates
(FCs) OIN
Other Aggregated balance
financial sheets and/or
corporations reports of OFCs
(OFCs) ¥ OFCs Ha OFCs survey
Assets | Liabilities
by type |bytype [
Equity -/
—

Note: NFA = Net foreign assets; NCG = Net claims on central government; CORS = Claims on other resident sectors; OIN = Other items net.

2.18 Financial statistics are compiled and presented
with varying degrees of detail depending on the avail-
ability of source data and analytical needs. Common
presentation formats of financial statistics include
flow-of-funds statistics, the balance sheet approach
matrix, and financial sectoral accounts as discussed in
more detail in Chapter 8.

2.19 Financial statistics provide data for use in com-
piling the financial account and balance sheets of the
2008 SNA. It is advised to produce these sets of sta-
tistics in a cooperative effort between compilers of
monetary statistics and of national accounts to gain
efficiencies in the compilation process and to promote
integration of macroeconomic statistics. For the FCs
subsectors, the data needed for compiling the finan-
cial account and SNA balance sheets are derived from
the sectoral balance sheets, as described in Chapter 7.
Data for entries that do not pertain to assets or liabili-
ties of the FCs sector are obtained from other sets of
macroeconomic statistics, including ESS, GFS, and
national accounts.

lll. Principles and Concepts

2.20 This section explains the relationship of the mon-
etary and financial statistics with the 2008 SNA and
other statistical manuals, and provides a summary of
the principles and concepts underlying the monetary
and financial statistics. Adherence to these principles
and concepts and to the resulting systematic record-
ing and presentation of data facilitates cross-country
and global comparisons and ensures internal con-
sistency as well as consistency with other major sets
of macroeconomic statistics within an economy (see
Appendix I). Chapters 3, 4, and 5 cover these prin-
ciples and concepts in more detail.

A. Relationship to the 2008 SNA
and Other Statistical Manuals

2.21 For monetary and financial statistics, as well as
for the other macroeconomic datasets (ESS and GFS),
the overarching framework is the SNA. In this respect,
the basic principles and concepts underlying mone-
tary and financial statistics are consistent with those
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of the 2008 SNA, the sixth edition of the Balance
of Payments and International Investment Position
Manual (BPM6), and the Government Finance Sta-
tistics Manual 2014 (GFSM 2014). The integral links
between the monetary and financial statistics, and the
financial account and balance sheets of the 2008 SNA
are underpinned by consistency in principles and con-
cepts such as residence and sectoring of institutional
units, classification of financial assets and liabilities,
recording and valuation rules of financial and nonfi-
nancial assets and liabilities, as well as transactions and
other flows, and data aggregation and consolidation.
The only exceptions are the recording of provisions,
the valuation of equity liabilities, and the coverage of
deposit-taking corporations except the central bank.

2.22 Methodological consistency ensures harmonization
and comparability among the different macroeconomic
datasets, and has benefits for both compilers and users
of statistics. Data consistency often implies that the same
data item appears in two or more of the macroeconomic
datasets with the same nomenclature and value. None-
theless, while the macroeconomic datasets share many
concepts and accounting rules, each has some unique
nomenclature and concepts. Two macroeconomic data-
sets are consistent if the data are reconcilable, meaning
that (1) the data are the same; (2) any data discrepancies
can be explained and justified (eliminating the discrep-
ancies, if possible); or (3) the data in one set can be con-
structed from “building blocks” of another dataset.

2.23 Because of its broader scope, the 2008 SNA
contains principles and concepts not necessarily rel-
evant for the compilation of monetary statistics. Con-
versely, monetary statistics contain some accounting
and regulatory concepts not found in the 2008 SNA.
This stems from the close relationship of the FCs sec-
toral balance sheets to the accounting principles set
by IFRSs or national accounting standards, as well as
monetary statistics’ focus on broad money and other
financial aggregates. Differences between this Manual
and the 2008 SNA are described in the remainder of
this section and in the next section. Table 2.1 sum-
marizes the differences between monetary statistics,
and the 2008 SNA and other macroeconomic datasets.

B. Economic Territory, Residence,
and Center of Economic Interest

2.24 The delineation between resident and nonresi-
dent units is a key feature of all macroeconomic statis-

tical frameworks. The separate identification of claims
on and liabilities to nonresidents is necessary for the
measurement of a country’s international investment
position. Likewise, the separate identification of DCs’
liabilities to resident money-holding sectors is nec-
essary for the measurement of an economy’s broad
money issued by resident DCs.

2.25 The definition of residence in this Manual is
identical to those in the 2008 SNA (paragraphs 4.10-
4.15) and BPM6 (paragraphs 4.113-4.115). It is based,
as discussed further in Chapter 3, on the concepts of
economic territory and center of predominant eco-
nomic interest. An institutional unit is a resident in
an economic territory when there exists some loca-
tion (dwelling, place of production, or other premises)
within the economic territory, on which or from which
the unit engages and intends to continue engaging,
either indefinitely or over a finite but long period of
time (determined to be at least one year) in economic
activities and transactions on a significant scale.

C. Institutional Sectors

2.26 Identifying and sectoring institutional units into
institutional sectors is a key element in all macro-
economic statistical frameworks. Sectoring of insti-
tutional units involves grouping together institutional
units with similar economic objectives, functions,
and behavior into institutional sectors. The 2008 SNA
groups resident units of the economy into the fol-
lowing mutually exclusive institutional sectors: (1)
nonfinancial corporations (NFCs), (2) FCs, (3) gen-
eral government, (4) households, and (5) nonprofit
institutions serving households (NPISHs). The same
delineation is used in monetary statistics, except that
household and the NPISHs sectors are aggregated.

2.27 In the 2008 SNA, the FCs sector contains the fol-
lowing nine subsectors: (1) central bank, (2) deposit-
taking corporations except the central bank, (3) money
market funds (MMFs), (4) non-MMF investment
funds, (5) other financial intermediaries except insur-
ance corporations and pension funds, (6) financial
auxiliaries, (7) captive financial institutions and money
lenders, (8) insurance corporations, and (9) pension
funds.? For monetary statistics, this Manual combines
subsectors (2) and (3) into one subsector called ODCs,
which together with the central bank constitute the

2 See Table 27.1 in the 2008 SNA.



Table 2.1 Summary of Differences between the 2008 SNA and Monetary Statistics

Different treatment

Overview of the Monetary and Financial Statistics Framework

Reconciliation

Monetary statistics 2008 SNA

Institutional sectors

Financial FCs sector is divided into three FCs sector is divided ODCs subsector combines two
corporations subsectors: central bank, other into nine subsectors. subsectors in 2008 SNA:
(FCs) depository corporations (ODCs), deposit-taking corporations
subsectors and other financial corporations [MS] and money market funds
(OFCs) by combining FCs subsectors (MMFs). OFCs [MS] subsector
separately identified in the 2008 combines all FCs subsectors
SNA. other than central bank,
deposit-taking corporations
except the central bank, and
MMFs in the 2008 SNA.
Offshore Offshore banks that do not issue All offshore banks are Separating out the accounts of
banks liabilities included in broad money classified as deposit- such offshore banks allows
(e.g., they only take deposits from taking corporations reconciliation of the data.
nonresidents) are classified as other  except the central
financial intermediaries except bank.
insurance corporations and pension
funds within OFCs [MS].
Nonfinancial NFCs sector as counterpart to FCs is NFCs sector is divided Other NFCs combines national
corporations divided into two subsectors: public into three subsectors: private NFCs and foreign-
(NFCs) NFCs (PNFCs) and other NFCs, public, national controlled NFCs, as defined
subsectors combining national private and private, and foreign in the 2008 SNA.
foreign-controlled NFCs. controlled.
Households Household and NPISHs sectors as Household sector and Household and NPISHs sector
and counterparts to FCs are NPISHs sector are combines the two subsectors
nonprofit aggregated. separately presented. of the 2008 SNA.
institutions Recommended memorandum
serving items identify households
households separately for major relevant
(NPISHs) financial assets and liabilities.
General General government as Two methods are The treatment in monetary
government counterpart to FCs is divided into allowed: (1) identifying  statistics is consistent with the
subsectors (1) central government, and four general second method of the 2008

(2) state and local government.
Social security funds (SSFs) are
presented together with the level
of government at which they
operate.

government
subsectors—central,
state, local, and SSFs;
(2) merging SSFs with
their appropriate level
of government.

SNA, with state and local
governments combined.

(Continued)
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Table 2.1 Summary of Differences between the 2008 SNA and Monetary Statistics (Continued)

Different treatment

Monetary statistics 2008 SNA

Classification and valuation of financial assets and liabilities

Reconciliation

Interbank
positions

Equity liability
(excluding
investment
fund shares)

Provision for
losses on assets

Net worth

Interbank (inter-depository
corporations) positions are
identified fully by all relevant

instrument categories (except for

equity liability). When there is

uncertainty between a loan and a

deposit, it should be recorded
under Other deposits.

Equity liability of FCs is

disaggregated into five components

without identifying holding
counterpart sectors and is valued

at book value. (See paragraphs 4.131

and 5.167-5.168.)

Provisions for losses on assets are
treated as liabilities and classified

under Other accounts payable [MS].

(See paragraph 2.32.) Provisions
made are recorded as OCVA
resulting in a reduction in equity.

The net worth concept does not

appear in monetary statistics, where
the equity liability is valued at book

value. (See paragraphs 5.42 and
5.52d.)

Interbank positions
other than debt
securities and accounts
receivable or payable
are shown as separate
category under
Transferable deposits.

Equity liability is valued
at market value and is
not disaggregated into
categories. For unlisted
equity, the own funds at
book value method is
used based on the five
categories.

Provisions for losses on
assets are treated as
bookkeeping entries
internal to the reporting
institutional unit and
are not included in the
2008 SNA, except in the
case of expected losses
on nonperforming loans
(NPLs), which appear as
memorandum items in
the balance sheets.

Net worth is defined as
the value of all the
assets owned by an
institutional unit or
sector /ess the value of
all its outstanding
liabilities (including
equity).

Memorandum items in the
sectoral balance sheets for
the central bank and ODCs
separately identify claims

on and liabilities to MMFs,
allowing the compilation of
interbank positions as defined
in the 2008 SNA.

In monetary statistics, market
value of equity liabilities of FCs
and holding counterpart sectors
are recorded as memorandum
items in FCs' sectoral balance
sheets, allowing a full
reconciliation.

See Figure 2.2 for reconciliation.

In both the 2008 SNA and
monetary statistics, the value
of all the assets less the value
of all the outstanding liabilities
(including equity) and net
worth (in 2008 SNA only)
equals to zero. See Figure 2.2
for reconciliation.

Note: 2008 SNA = System of National Accounts 2008.

DCs subsector. Categories (4) through (9) are com-

bined into one subsector called OFCs [MS].?

*In this context, the term “other financial corporation” means

“financial corporations other than DCs

2.28 In the 2008 SNA, the NFCs sector contains three
subsectors: (1) public nonfinancial corporations
(PNECs), (2) national private NFCs, and (3) foreign
controlled NFCs. For monetary statistics, the NFCs
sector is split into only two subsectors: PNFCs and
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other NFCs. Thus, unlike the 2008 SNA, this Manual
does not divide resident other NFCs into separate
subsectors based on the residency of the units that
own and control them.

2.29 The 2008 SNA (paragraphs 4.129-4.130) and
the GFSM 2014 (paragraph 2.78) offer two options
for the subsectoring of the general government. The
first method divides general government into: (1)
central government, (2) state government, (3) local
government, and (4) social security funds. The sec-
ond method merges social security funds with their
appropriate level of government. For monetary statis-
tics, data on social security funds should be merged
with the level of government at which they operate.
State and local government are aggregated in mon-
etary and financial statistics into only one subsector
of the general government sector.

D. Classification of Financial Assets
and Liabilities

2.30 At its highest level, the classification of financial
assets and liabilities in this Manual is fully consistent
with that of the 2008 SNA. At a more detailed level
of classification, monetary statistics disaggregate
Currency and deposits into separate subcategories
for currency, transferable deposits, and other depos-
its. Further, deposits (as well as debt securities) on
the liability side are classified into included in broad
money and excluded from broad money; and also into
included in monetary base and excluded from mone-
tary base for the central bank’s liabilities.* Equity and
investment fund shares are disaggregated into equity,
MMEF shares, and non-MMF investment fund shares.

2.31 In monetary statistics, equity liabilities of FCs
(except MMF and non-MMF investment fund shares)
are further disaggregated into the following compo-
nents: (1) funds contributed by owners, (2) retained
earnings, (3) current year result, (4) general and special
reserves, and (5) valuation adjustment. These separate
components within equity do not appear in the 2008
SNA or in the financial statistics presented in Chapter 8
of this Manual. To recognize the difference of the lia-
bility measure of equity in monetary statistics from the
SNA concept, in this Manual equity liabilities in mon-
etary statistics are labeled Equity liability [MS]. Data

*Financial assets and liabilities are further disaggregated by
domestic/foreign currency of denomination, where relevant.

for the five components support the balance sheet
identity in the sectoral balance sheets and provide the
necessary details for the analysis of the structure of the
FCs’ equity in the context of monetary statistics. In
monetary statistics, information on the counterpart
sectors holding equity liabilities of FCs appears only
as memorandum items. MMF and non-MMF invest-
ment fund shares are disaggregated on the liability
side by counterpart sectors.

2.32 In monetary statistics, provisions for losses on
assets, which are internal to the reporting institu-
tional unit, are treated as if these are liabilities and
are classified under Other accounts payable [MS].>* In
this regard, the underlying assets are recorded gross
of such provisions. There is a reduction in Equity
liability [MS] whenever provisions are made, because
these provisions are charged to losses. Provisions are a
precursor of a possible loan (or other financial asset)
write-off and, similar to loan write-offs, are recorded
as OCVA. Provisions for losses on assets are treated
as bookkeeping entries internal to the reporting insti-
tutional unit and are not included in the 2008 SNA,
except in the case of expected losses on nonperform-
ing loans (NPLs), which appear as memorandum
items in the balance sheets.”

E. Valuation

2.33 The valuation principles used for monetary sta-
tistics are the same as those in the 2008 SNA with one
exception. Consistent with the 2008 SNA, this Man-
ual recommends that valuations of stocks and flows
should be based on market prices or market-price
equivalents. It recognizes that market price quota-
tions are not available for financial assets not traded
or infrequently traded. It is, therefore, necessary to
estimate market-equivalent values for such financial
assets. Table 2.2 summarizes the classification and
valuation principles of financial assets and liabilities
used for monetary statistics.

2.34 Deposits and loans in this Manual, as well as in
the 2008 SNA, are valued at nominal value—that s, the
outstanding amount the debtor owes to the creditor,
which comprises the outstanding amount including

° As the definition of Other accounts payable for monetary statis-
tics differs from the definition in the 2008 SNA, it is labeled Other
accounts payable [MS] in this Manual.

¢ See paragraph 4.198.

72008 SNA, paragraphs 3.41 and 13.66-13.68.
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Table 2.2 Financial Assets and Liabilities—Classification and Valuation in Monetary Statistics

Classification Valuation method’

Monetary gold (central bank)

Special Drawing Rights (central bank)
Currency

Deposits

Debt securities

Loans

Equity and investment fund shares

Insurance, pension, and standardized guarantee
schemes

Financial derivatives and employee stock options

Other accounts receivable/payable

Market value

Market value

Face value (in currency of denomination)
Nominal value (in currency of denomination)
Market or fair value

Nominal value (in currency of denomination)

Market or fair value (assets and investment fund share
liabilities); book value (liability)

Market or fair value

Market or fair value

Nominal value

TAll foreign-currency-denominated assets and liabilities are converted into domestic currency units at market exchange rates

(see paragraph 2.39).

accrued but not yet paid interest. The same valuation
principle applies to trade credit and advances.

2.35 For monetary statistics, it is recommended that
equity and investment fund shares on the asset side of
the balance sheet, and investment fund shares on the
liability side of the balance sheet, are valued at market
prices. In contrast, equity on the liability side of the
FCs’ sectoral balance sheets is valued at book value—
that is, the value recorded in a FC’s business accounts.
The following issues arise because of this deviation
from the 2008 SNA:

a. In monetary statistics, flows between Equity liabil-
ity [MS] and assets, and between Equity liability
[MS] and other liabilities, are classified as trans-
actions, revaluations, and OCVA depending on
their nature (see paragraphs 5.168) to ensure that
Equity liability [MS] is the balancing item between
assets and non-equity liabilities. Such flows do not
appear in the 2008 SNA, as equity is recorded as a
separate instrument at market value and not as an
item that balances the balance sheet.

b. The 2008 SNA concept of net worth, defined as
the value of all the assets owned by an institu-
tional unit or sector less the value of all its out-

standing liabilities (including equity), is
embedded in Equity liability [MS]. In both 2008
SNA and this Manual, the value of all the assets
less the value of all the outstanding liabilities
(including equity) and net worth (in the 2008
SNA only) equals to zero.

2.36 Although the valuation of Equity liability [MS]
at book value is not the preferred approach in the
2008 SNA, it is recommended for monetary statistics
in order to maintain the balance sheet identity of the
data reported and to support analysis of the FC bal-
ance sheet. Equity liability [MS] can be assimilated
to the SNA calculation of shareholders’ equity called
own funds, where net worth of an institutional unit
is zero such as for foreign owned branches (see 2008
SNA, paragraph 13.88). This Manual also recom-
mends that data on the market value of equity liability
are compiled as memorandum items in the sectoral
balance sheets.

2.37 MMF shares or units are presented in monetary
statistics at market value. MMFs typically invest in
short-term, low-risk assets to ensure that the invested
value can be repaid on demand, making MMF shares
and units close substitutes for deposits. Non-MMF
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Figure 2.2 Reconciliation of Equity Liabilities in the 2008 SNA and Monetary Statistics

2008 SNA/Monetary statistics 2008 SNA

Monetary statistics

Equity at market value

Assets Liabilities and net worth Liabilities
Liabilities' Liabilities'
excluding equity (provisions for <:> excluding equity and provisions
losses on assets not covered) for losses on assets
Aassets' | N T

Provisions for losses on assets

Net worth?

Equity at book value®

Equity at market value + net worth

L

= Provisions + Equity at book value

) ( )

V-

2008 SNA

V-

Monetary statistics

" Provided the same valuation is applied, assets and liabilities would be the same under both frameworks.
2 |n this figure, net worth is assumed to be positive. It may also be negative, in which case the reconciliation will still hold.
3 Reflects contra-entry adjustments made by compilers when values of some assets and liabilities (other than equity liability)

are adjusted to market values.

Note: 2008 SNA = System of National Accounts 2008

investment funds shares or units are also recorded at
market value in the sectoral balance sheet.

2.38 Differences between monetary statistics and the
2008 SNA in the treatment of provisions for losses on
assets (see paragraph 2.32) and Equity liability [MS] can
be reconciled with the SNA concept of net worth as fol-
lows. Provided the same valuation principles are used
for valuing all the assets and liabilities except equity
liability, the sum of SNA net worth and market-valued
equity (so-called own funds) would be equal to the sum
of book-valued equity plus all provisions for losses on
assets recorded in monetary statistics (see Figure 2.2).

2.39 The standard unit of account for the monetary
and financial statistics is the domestic currency. When
compiling monetary and financial statistics, foreign-
currency-denominated assets and liabilities must be
converted into domestic currency units using the mar-
ket exchange rate prevailing on the balance sheet date.
For transactions in foreign-currency-denominated
assets and liabilities, the market exchange rate prevail-
ing on the transaction date should be used. The mid-
point between the buying and selling exchange rates

should be used as the prevailing market exchange rate
when converting both flow and stock data.

F. Time of Recording

2.40 This Manual, consistent with the 2008 SNA (para-
graph 3.172) and other statistical manuals, recommends
recording of transactions on a change-of-ownership
basis. This accrual approach to recording means that
flows and changes in the corresponding stocks are
recorded at the time economic value is created, trans-
formed, exchanged, transferred, or extinguished, rather
than at the time of payment.

2.41 In principle, the two parties to a transaction
should record it simultaneously. A financial asset
transaction is to be recorded on the trade date, rather
than on the settlement date.

G. Aggregation, Consolidation,
and Netting

2.42 Aggregation refers to the summation of stock or
flow data across all institutional units within a sec-
tor or subsector, or of all assets or liabilities within a
particular instrument category. This Manual recom-
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mends reporting and organizing the underlying data
for the monetary and financial statistics on an aggre-
gated basis.

2.43 Consolidation refers to the elimination of stocks
and flows that occur between institutional units
that are grouped together and presented as if they
constituted a single unit. For monetary statistics the
reported data are consolidated into the analytical
surveys of the FCs’ sector and its subsectors, but for
financial statistics data are presented on an unconsoli-
dated basis.

2.44 As a general principle, data should be recorded
and compiled on a gross basis (see paragraphs 5.61-
5.63). Claims held by an institutional unit on other
institutional units should not be netted out, individu-
ally or at a sectoral level, against the liabilities to those
same institutional units or sectors.® However, acquisi-
tions and disposals of a specific category of financial
instruments are presented on a net basis.

IV. Monetary Statistics and
International Financial Reporting
Standards

A. Overview

2.45 The basic source data for monetary statistics are
the FCs™ accounting and regulatory records (balance
sheets, subsidiary ledgers, etc.). These records reflect
the national (or international) accounting, supervi-
sory, and taxation frameworks and, as a result, have a
different structure than monetary statistics. The task
of the monetary statistics compiler is to adapt the
accounting records for their use in monetary statis-
tics. The structures of the sectoral balance sheets’ and
analytical surveys indicate the type and the detail of
information required to accomplish this task.

2.46 The international accounting and reporting
principles are covered in the IFRSs issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB)."
Accounting principles that have been imposed by
national law or regulation are called the national

8 Exceptions to the general rule may arise due to special circum-
stances or unavailability of data on a gross basis, such as derivative
contracts settled on a net basis.

?Sectoral balance sheets also cover flows when economic flows are
compiled for monetary statistics.

"See Box 2.1.

financial reporting standards of a country.!" With
increasing globalization of financial markets, many
countries have adopted the IFRSs, or have been har-
monizing their national financial reporting standards
with the IFRSs. This Manual refers to the IFRSs to
illustrate the relationship between FCs’ accounting
data and the source data for the monetary and finan-
cial statistics.

2.47 The IFRSs and the methodology for the mon-
etary and financial statistics contain similarities, but
also some differences in concepts and terminology.
The differences require that reporters of the source
data and compilers of monetary statistics be familiar
with both sets of standards. This would facilitate the
conversion of IFRSs-based accounts for their use in
monetary statistics.

2.48 The balance sheets within the financial state-
ments, as specified in the IFRSs, and the balance
sheets used in monetary and financial statistics have
many characteristics in common. In both cases, the
balance sheet data and flows are compiled through
double-entry accounting, the accrual principle is used
in accounting, and market or fair valuation is the basic
principle for recording assets and liabilities.'* As in the
IFRSs, the valuation principles and other accounting
rules for monetary and financial statistics are based on
the treatment of institutional units as going concerns.

2.49 The main differences between the IFRSs and the
methodology in this Manual stem from their objective
and focus. The IFRSs focus on the accounts and other
information for the preparation and dissemination
of financial statements of a reporting entity. Accord-
ing to the IASB’s Conceptual Framework for Finan-
cial Reporting, the objective of financial reporting is
to provide financial information about the reporting
entity that is useful to a wide range of users in mak-
ing economic decisions. Monetary and financial sta-
tistics record stocks and flows of financial assets and
liabilities between all sectors of the economy and
between the sectors of the economy and nonresidents,
with a particular focus on the economic relationship
between the FCs sector and other institutional sectors

"Depending on the country, the standards may be referred to as
financial reporting standards, accounting standards, or generally
accepted accounting principles.

12 In the IFRSs, fair value is the default basis for initial recognition
but not for subsequent measurement.
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Box 2.1 International Financial Reporting Standards

The International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(IASB) cover the relevant international accounting and reporting principles for preparing general purpose
financial statements. The IASB is the independent standard-setting body of the IFRS Foundation.' Its members,
appointed by the Trustees, are responsible for the development and publication of IFRSs? and for approving
Interpretations of IFRSs as developed by the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRIC, formerly called the Standards
Interpretations Committee, SIC). The IASB, and this Manual, uses the term IFRSs in a collective sense to encompass
the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting, all issued individual IFRSs, International Accounting Standards
(IASs),? IFRICs,* and SICs.® These include the Implementation Guidance (/G), lllustrative Examples (IE), and Basis of
Conclusions for individual standards.

This Manual refers to the IFRSs to illustrate the impact of IFRS-based financial reporting on source data for
monetary and financial statistics. This involves highlighting similarities and differences in methodology and
terminology between financial corporations’ IFRS-based information systems and the source data for the
monetary and financial statistics.

The IFRSs referenced in this Manual are those available for application on January 1, 2015, as published in the
2015 International Financial Reporting Standards—Consolidated without early application and in the 2015
International Financial Reporting Standards, which include IFRSs 1 through 13; IAS 1 through IAS 41 (excluding
IAS 3 through IAS 6, IAS 9, IAS 13, IAS 14, IAS 15, IAS 22, IAS 25, IAS 30, IAS 31, and IAS 35, which have been
superseded by other Standards); IFRICs 1-2, 4-7, 9, 10, 12-21; and SICs 7, 10, 15, 25, 27, 29, 31-32.

The IFRSs focus on the data and other information for the preparation and dissemination of financial statements.
The Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (paragraph OB2) states:

The objective of general purpose financial reporting is to provide financial information about the
reporting entity that is useful to existing and potential investors, lenders and other creditors in making
decisions about providing resources to the entity.

The financial statements are listed in IAS 1.10:
A complete set of financial statements comprises:
(a) a statement of financial position as at the end of the period
(b) a statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income for the period
(c) astatement of changes in equity for the period
(d) a statement of cash flows for the period

(e) notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information;

(ea) comparative information in respect of the preceding period ...; and

(f) a statement of financial position as at the beginning of the preceding period when an entity
applies an accounting policy retrospectively or makes a retrospective restatement of items in its
financial statements, or when it reclassifies items in its financial statements ...

' For additional information on the IASB and a chronology of IASB activities since 2001, see www.ifrs.org.
2 See www.ifrs.org/How-we-develop-standards/Pages/How-we-develop-standards.aspx.

3 |ASs are IFRSs that were created by the predecessor body of the IASB, and were adopted by the IASB when it
took over in 2001 and, therefore, form part of the body of the IFRS requirements.

4 IFRICs are the official interpretations of the IFRSs.
5 SICs are the official interpretations of the IASs.
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through macroeconomic aggregates such as broad
money, domestic credit, and liquidity.

B. Terminology

2.50 In the IFRSs, the original entry of an asset or
liability into the balance sheet accounts is called the
initial recognition of the asset or liability. Revaluation
of an asset or liability, as defined for the monetary and
financial statistics, is termed subsequent measurement
of the asset or liability in the IFRSs. In the IFRSs, the
equity of an enterprise is classified separately from its
liabilities, whereas the equity account is designated as
equity liability in the monetary and financial statistics
(consistent with the 2008 SNA framework). Provisions
for losses on assets, discussed in Chapters 4 and 5 of
this Manual, are referred to as allowances for losses on
impaired assets in the IFRSs.

2.51 In this Manual, fair value is a market-equivalent
value and is an estimated value that is used when a
market price for a financial asset or liability is unavail-
able. In the IFRSs, the concept of fair value encom-
passes both market values based on price quotations
in active markets and fair values that, in the absence of
market price quotations, are estimated to approximate
market values.

2.52 For monetary statistics, several categories of
financial assets and liabilities are recorded at nominal
value, a concept that does not appear in the IFRSs.
The counterpart in the IFRSs is valuation at amortized
cost (amount advanced originally plus all accrued but
not paid interest, less any repayment of principal, less
any allowance for impairment or non-collectability),
which is not fully consistent with nominal value. This
is because the valuation at amortized cost reduces the
value of an asset by the amount of the allowance for
impairment or non-collectability.

C. Sectoring

2.53 In this Manual, stocks and flows for FCs need
to be disaggregated by counterpart sector/subsector
as follows: central bank, ODCs, OFCs, central gov-
ernment, state and local government, PNFCs, other
NFCs, households and NPISHs, and nonresidents.
Sectoral disaggregation is not specified in the IFRSs.

2.54 For counterpart sector classification, compilers
may need to request more detailed information from
FCs. The general and subsidiary ledgers usually con-

tain a hierarchy of accounts that correspond to all
types of data disaggregation needed for sectoral bal-
ance sheets, assets and liabilities subdivided by eco-
nomic sector of debtor/creditor.

D. Presentation, Classification,
and Valuation of Financial Instruments

2.55 The presentation of assets and liabilities is stan-
dardized in monetary statistics. By contrast, the IFRS
guidance is not prescriptive with regard to the pre-
sentation of assets and liabilities on the balance sheet.
For example, under the IFRSs assets and liabilities can
be presented in the following ways: order of liquid-
ity, expected date of realization of assets and liabilities,
and current and non-current liabilities.”> However,
the order of presentation of assets and liabilities under
the IFRSs is unlikely to be materially affected by the
approach taken.

2.56 As compared with the valuation methodology
for financial assets and liabilities in monetary sta-
tistics shown in Table 2.2, the IFRSs have a separate
set of classifications and measurement rules on the
basis of an enterprise’s motivations for acquiring the
financial assets, either for trading or for holding to
maturity. For example, securities that are classified as
held-for-trading are measured at fair value through
profit and loss reflecting market prices. Securities clas-
sified as held-to-maturity are measured at amortized
cost in the IFRSs.

2.57 To obtain source data for monetary and finan-
cial statistics, some components of the data based on
IFRSs or national financial reporting standards need
to be adjusted as follows:

a. Debt securities valued at amortized cost need to
be restated at market or fair value.'* The market
value replaces the amortized cost in the record-
ing of the outstanding amount of the securities
and a contra-entry in the amount of the differ-
ence between the fair value and the amortized

3See IAS 1—Presentation of Financial Statements. Although TAS
1 does not prescribe the order or format in which an entity presents
balance sheet items, IFRSs emphasize fair presentation of financial
statements, which is to present information, including accounting
policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable,
and understandable information (IAS 1, paragraph 17). IFRSs also
require consistency of the presentation and classification of items
from one period to the next (IAS 1, paragraph 45).

4 TFRSs annual financial statements require disclosure of fair value
amounts in the notes to the accounts.
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cost (positive for a gain, and negative for a loss) is
recorded in monetary statistics in Equity liability
[MS] as a valuation adjustment.

b. For monetary statistics, holdings of equity shares
valued at amortized cost need to be restated at
market or fair value. No adjustment is needed for
liabilities in the form of equity, as these are mea-
sured at book value. For financial statistics, the
adjustment to market or fair value applies to both
assets and liabilities in the form of equity.

c. Loans valued at market or fair value in accor-
dance with the IFRSs guidelines need to be
restated at nominal value, and a contra-entry
(amounting to the positive or negative difference
between the nominal value and the fair value of
the loan) would need to be recorded in Equity
liability [MS] as a valuation adjustment.

2.58 In the IFRSs, specific rules apply for the record-
ing of gains or losses due to revaluations, either
through recording in the profit-or-loss accounts
(wherein gains are recorded as income and losses as
expenses) or directly in equity. The recording pre-
scribed by IFRSs or by the national financial reporting
standards maybe in the Current year result (profit-or-
loss accounts) or Valuation adjustment. In the meth-
odology of this Manual, revaluation is based on the
valuation rules in Table 2.2. Revaluations (within a
reporting period) for each asset and liability need to
be recorded separately in the revaluation account."”
For monetary statistics, the contra-entry for a gain or
loss arising from asset/liability revaluation is to be
recorded in Equity liability [MS] given that both Cur-
rent year result and Valuation adjustment are compo-
nents of Equity liability [MS].

2.59 The IFRSs and most national financial report-
ing standards follow the accrual accounting principle,
but many of these standards do not require that the
accrued interest should be included in the outstanding
amounts of the underlying financial assets or liabili-
ties. In using FCs” accounting records as source data
for the monetary and financial statistics, converting
these data to the methodology of this Manual requires
that accrued interest recorded in Other accounts receiv-

!*Valuation changes and the other two major categories of flow
data—transactions and OCVA—in monetary statistics are dis-
cussed in Chapters 5 and 7 (monetary statistics) and Chapter 8
(financial statistics).

able/payable be reclassified as part of the outstanding
amounts of the underlying financial asset or liability.

E. Time of Recording

2.60 In monetary and financial statistics, debtor and
creditor records should agree in amount and time of
recording of stocks and transactions. These issues are
not prominent in the IFRSs, which focus on the finan-
cial records of a reporting entity.

2.61 For monetary and financial statistics, transac-
tions in financial assets are recorded on the trade
date (i.e., the time of change in economic ownership
of a financial asset) rather than on the settlement date
(i.e., the time of delivery of the financial asset). If
settlement of a financial transaction occurs after the
ownership has changed, this gives rise to accounts
receivable/payable. In the IFRSs, an entity can record
transactions in financial assets on the trade dates or
the settlement dates (IAS 39.38 and IFRS 9,' para-
graph 3.1.2). For compiling monetary and financial sta-
tistics, adjustment to a transaction-date basis should
be made for transactions that are recorded on a
settlement-date basis but for which settlement does
not take place until the next reporting period.

F. Loans on a Gross or Net Basis

2.62 The IFRSs and monetary statistics recognize that
the realizable value of loans may change due to NPLs.
However, they report provisions for NPLs differently.

2.63 In the IFRSs, loan asset values are directly
adjusted for impairment based on objective evidence,
or are presented as the carrying amount of loans
(gross) less allowances for loan losses. In monetary
statistics, loan asset values are presented on a gross
basis at nominal value, with provisions for losses on
assets classified as liabilities (see paragraph 2.32).
Data on expected loan losses are included as memo-
randum items to the sectoral balance sheets to ensure
that the realizable values of loans can be calculated.

G. Periodicity and Timeliness

2.64 IFRSs require a presentation of financial state-
ments at least annually (IAS 1.36) and encourage
publicly traded entities to provide interim financial
reports at least as of the end of the first half of their

16

IFRS 9 was introduced in January 2015 to ultimately replace
IAS 39 in its entirety by January 2018, after a three-year transition
period.
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financial year and not later than 60 days after the end
of the interim period (IAS 34.1). Timely preparation
of annual financial statements is specified as within
six months after the reference date/period—a much
longer time-lag than is deemed appropriate for the
reporting of monetary statistics.

2.65 The source data for monetary statistics are nor-
mally reported by DCs on a monthly basis, within
four to six weeks after the end of the reference month.
Depending on the country, OFCs report on a monthly
or quarterly basis, with a time-lag varying between
one and four months. These frequency and timeliness
compare favorably with the standards for financial
statement preparation in the IFRSs and are adequate
for compiling monetary statistics.

2.66 The recommendations of this Manual for the
periodicity and timeliness of monetary statistics are as
follows:

a. Reporting of source data and compilation of the
CBS, ODCS, and DCS on a monthly basis with a
time lag of one-two months.

b. Reporting of source data and compilation of the
OFCS on a monthly or quarterly basis with a time
lag of one-three months or three-four months,
respectively.

c. Compilation of the FCS on a monthly or quar-
terly basis, depending on whether the OFCS is
compiled on a monthly or quarterly basis, with

a time lag of one-three months or three—four
months, respectively.

2.67 Most countries have long-standing experience
with the compilation of balance sheet (stocks) data
for the central bank and ODCs on a monthly basis."”
Some countries currently compile balance sheet data
for some or all categories of OFCs on a quarterly or
annual basis or, for some countries, on a monthly
basis.

2.68 Reporting of source data and compilation of
financial statistics on a quarterly or annual basis
depends on the periodicity of the data reporting and
compilation of the current accounts and the capital
account of the national accounts statistics. Compila-
tion of the financial statistics on a quarterly basis is
applicable to countries that have quarterly data for
current accounts and the capital account of their
national accounts statistics, or are currently working
on migration from annual to quarterly national
accounts statistics.

2.69 As a general recommendation, this Manual fol-
lows the practice of most countries, which requires
DCs to provide monthly source data to the compilers
of monetary statistics within the month immediately
following the reference month for the data. A longer
time-lag may be required for the reporting of quar-
terly data for the OFCs’ subsector in the monetary
statistics, and for the reporting of quarterly or annual
data for financial statistics.

'7In many countries, DCs are required to report additional data on
a daily, weekly, or bi-weekly basis. Such data, though important for
economic policy formulation in some countries, are outside the
scope of the monetary statistics as defined in this Manual.



l. Introduction

3.1 Chapter 3 identifies institutional units and groups
them into institutional sectors based on their eco-
nomic objectives, functions, and behavior. The chap-
ter focuses on the role of institutional units as holders
and issuers of financial assets and the classification
and sectoring of their accounts for compiling mon-
etary and financial statistics. The definition of institu-
tional units and their classification into sectors follow
closely the System of National Accounts 2008 (2008
SNA), the sixth edition of the Balance of Payments and
International Investment Position Manual (BPM6),
and the Government Finance Statistics Manual 2014
(GFSM 2014). In addition, this chapter expands on
issues that are relevant for compilers of monetary sta-
tistics and discusses special cases where sectoring is
not straightforward.

3.2 The chapter first presents the concept and char-
acteristics of institutional units, and the two main
types of units that may qualify as institutional units.
The chapter focuses then on the concept of residence,
which is used to establish the economic boundary for
compiling monetary and financial statistics, determin-
ing the foreign/domestic breakdown of assets and lia-
bilities of the financial corporations (FCs). Finally, the
classification of resident institutional units into institu-
tional sectors and subsectors allows the presentation of
the FCs’ claims on and liabilities to the different sectors
of the domestic economy. This sectoring is one of the
foundations for constructing the analytical aggregates
on broad money and credit described in Chapter 6.

Il. Institutional Units

3.3 An institutional unit is an economic entity that is
capable, in its own right, of owning assets, incurring
liabilities, and engaging in economic activities and
in transactions with other entities.

Institutional Units and Sectdrs

3.4 The following are the four main attributes of insti-
tutional units: (1) they are entitled to own goods or
assets in their own right; (2) they are able to take eco-
nomic decisions and engage in economic activities; (3)
they are able to incur liabilities on their own behalf;
and (4) they either have a complete set of accounts,
including a balance sheet of assets and liabilities, or it
would be possible and meaningful to compile such a
set of accounts, if required.

3.5 Institutional units, as owners of financial assets
and issuers of liabilities, constitute the structural
building blocks for monetary and financial statistics.
They own financial assets and incur liabilities.

3.6 Two main types of units may qualify as institu-
tional units: persons or group of persons in the form
of households, and legal or social entities.

A. Households

3.7 A household is a group of persons who share the
same living accommodation, pool some, or all, of their
income and wealth, and consume certain types of goods
and services collectively, mainly housing and food.

3.8 A household may consist of an individual or more
than one person. Special cases of groups of persons
who stay together for a very long or indefinite period
of time (institutional households) are described in the
section on institutional sectors (see paragraph 3.262).

3.9 Many assets are owned, or liabilities incurred,
jointly by two or more members of the same house-
hold, while the income of individuals may be pooled
for the benefit of all members. Many expenditure
decisions, especially those relating to the consump-
tion of food, or housing, may be made collectively for
the household as a whole. It is meaningful to compile
transactions accounts or balance sheets for the entire
household unit, and not for individuals belonging
to the same household. The individual members of
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multi-person households are not, therefore, treated
as separate institutional units, but the household as a
whole is treated as one institutional unit.

3.10 Production activities undertaken by house-
holds—such as production and selling of goods and
services—are treated as an integral part of the house-
holds, unless legal or social entities are created sepa-
rately from the households, such as those that satisfy
the criteria to be considered quasi-corporations (see
paragraphs 3.18-3.20).

B. Legal or Social Entities

3.11 The second type of institutional unit is a legal or
social entity that engages in economic activities and
transactions in its own right. A legal or social entity
is one whose existence is recognized by law or society
independently of the persons, or other entities, that
may own or control it. Such units are responsible and
accountable for the economic decisions or actions they
take, although their autonomy may be constrained to
some extent by other institutional units.

3.12 Three categories of legal or social entities con-
stituting institutional units can be identified: (1) cor-
porations, (2) nonprofit institutions (NPIs), and (3)
government units. The status of an institutional unit
cannot always be inferred from its name, and it is nec-
essary to examine its economic objectives, functions,
and behavior.

Corporations

3.13 Corporations are entities capable of generating
a profit or other financial gain for their owners, are
recognized by law as separate legal entities from their
owners, and are set up for purposes of engaging in
market production. In macroeconomic statistics, the
term corporation is used more broadly than in just a
legal sense. It covers legally constituted corporations,
butalso includes cooperatives, limited liability partner-
ships, notional resident units, and quasi-corporations.
The key to classifying a unit as a corporation in mac-
roeconomic statistics is not its legal status but rather
the economic nature of the entity.

Types of corporations
Legally constituted corporations

3.14 A legally constituted corporation is a legal
entity, created for the purpose of producing goods

or services for the market, which may be a source
of profit or other financial gain to its owner(s). It
is collectively owned by shareholders who have the
authority to appoint directors responsible for its gen-
eral management.

3.15 In macroeconomic statistics, the term corpora-
tion is not necessarily used in the same way as in the
legal sense. Some NPIs and government units have
the legal status of a corporation but are not considered
corporations for the purposes of macroeconomic sta-
tistics. The key to classifying a unit as a corporation in
macroeconomic statistics is the notion of being a mar-
ket producer. Of particular importance is the charac-
teristic to produce goods and services for the market
at economically significant prices, as explained in
paragraph 3.42, as well as the potential to be a source
of profit or other financial gain to the owner(s).

Cooperatives, partnerships, etc.

3.16 Cooperatives are set up by producers for pur-
poses of marketing their collective output. The prof-
its of such cooperatives are distributed in accordance
with their agreed rules and not necessarily in propor-
tion to shares held, but effectively they operate like
corporations.

3.17 Partnerships whose members enjoy limited lia-
bility, or not, are separate legal entities that behave like
corporations. In effect, the partners are at the same
time both shareholders and managers.

Quasi-corporations

3.18 Quasi-corporations are unincorporated enter-
prises that function in all (or almost all) respects as
if they were incorporated. For purposes of sectoring
and subsectoring, they are treated as institutional units
(corporations) separate from the units that own them.

3.19 For a quasi-corporation to exist, it must be pos-
sible to develop a full set of accounts, including balance
sheets, to distinguish it from its owners. The business-
related assets and liabilities of the quasi-corporation
must be separate from the personal assets and liabilities
of its owners. Moreover, it must be possible to iden-
tify flows of capital and income occurring between
the quasi-corporation and its owners. The intent is to
separate from their owners those unincorporated enter-
prises that are sufficiently self-contained and indepen-
dent that they behave in the same way as corporations.



Included are unincorporated enterprises owned by a
nonresident institutional unit that is deemed to be a
resident institutional unit because it engages in a sig-
nificant amount of production in the economic terri-
tory over a long or indefinite period of time.

3.20 The three main kinds of quasi-corporations are:
(1) unincorporated enterprises owned by government
units engaged in market production and operated
in a similar way as publicly owned corporations; (2)
unincorporated enterprises, including unincorporated
partnerships or trusts, owned by households that are
operated as if they were privately owned corporations;
and (3) unincorporated enterprises that belong to insti-
tutional units resident abroad, referred to as “branches”

Ownership and control of corporations

3.21 Control of a corporation is the ability to deter-
mine the general corporate policy of the corpora-
tion. The ownership of a listed corporation is diffused
among the institutional units that own its shares. An
institutional unit owning more than a half of the voting
shares, or equity, of a corporation is able to control its
policy and operations. There may be exceptional cases
in which certain shareholders enjoy privileged voting
rights, such as a “golden share” giving a right to veto.
Effective control may also be exercised with less than
50 percent ownership, depending on the corporation’s
structure and the diffusion of ownership. However, it
is not possible to stipulate a minimum below 50 per-
cent that will guarantee control in all cases.!

Subsidiary and associate corporations

3.22 A corporation is a subsidiary of another corpo-
ration when the latter is able to exercise control over
the former either by control of more than half of the
shareholders’ voting power or the right to appoint or
remove a majority of the directors.

3.23 A corporation is an associate of another corpo-
ration when the latter is able to exercise a significant
degree of influence over the former, but not control.

Groups of corporations

3.24 Large groups of corporations, or conglomerates,
may be created whereby a parent corporation controls

'For exceptional cases where control of a corporation can be
achieved with less than half of the voting power, see 2008 SNA,
paragraphs 4.69-4.71.
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several subsidiaries, some of which may control sub-
sidiaries of their own. Even if for certain purposes it
may be desirable to have information on the group
as a whole, each individual corporation should be
treated as a separate institutional unit. Conglomerates
owning subsidiaries or branches in other countries
are usually described as multinational corporations.

Government control of corporations

3.25 A corporation is a public corporation if a gov-
ernment unit, another public corporation, or some
combination of government units and public corpo-
rations control the entity. The ability to determine
general corporate policy does not necessarily include
the direct control of the day-to-day activities or oper-
ations of a particular corporation.

3.26 In determining control by government,? the fol-
lowing indicators will be the most important factors
to consider: (1) ownership of the majority of the vot-
ing interest; (2) control of the board or other govern-
ing body; (3) control of the appointment and removal
of key personnel; (4) control of key committees of the
entity; (5) golden shares and options; (6) regulation
and control; (7) control by a dominant public sector
customer or group of public sector customers; and (8)
control attached to borrowing from the government.

Control by a nonresident unit

3.27 In general, a nonresident unit controls a resident
corporation if the nonresident unit owns more than
50 percent of the equity of the corporation. Branches
of nonresident corporations are always under foreign
control. Control may also be possible with a holding
of less than half the equity if the nonresident unit can
exercise some of the powers described in the previous
paragraph indicating possible control.

Special cases
Head offices and holding companies’®

3.28 Two different types of units exist that are often
referred to as holding companies.

2 For more details, see GFSM 2014, Box 2.2, Government Control
of Corporations.

* For the definition and delineation of head offices and holding
companies, see the European Central Bank’s and United Nations’
handbook on Financial Production, Flows and Stocks in the System
of National Accounts, Box 2.1 and Box 2.2.
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3.29 The first is the head office that exercises some
aspects of managerial control over its subsidiaries.
These may sometimes have noticeably fewer employ-
ees, and more at a senior level, than its subsidiaries.
These units are allocated to the nonfinancial corpora-
tions (NFCs) sector, unless all or most of their sub-
sidiaries are FCs, in which case they are treated by
convention as financial auxiliaries.

3.30 The type of unit properly called a holding com-
pany is a unit that holds the assets of subsidiary cor-
porations but does not undertake any management
activities. These units are captive financial institutions
and are always allocated to the FCs sector, even if all
the subsidiary corporations are NFCs.

Special purpose entities (SPEs)

3.31 SPEs are typically created to carry out a single,
well-defined specific activity. Usually, they are created
to raise funds in open markets to be used by their par-
ent corporations or government, hold and manage
wealth for individuals or families, and/or issue debt
securities on behalf of related companies or govern-
ment units. Although there is no common defini-
tion of SPEs, they share some of the characteristics
described below.

3.32 Often, SPEs have no employees and no or very
little nonfinancial assets, and are sometimes referred
to as “brass plate companies,” or “shell companies”
They may have little physical presence beyond a “brass
plate” confirming their place of registration. They are
always related to another corporation or government
unit, and are often resident in a territory other than the
territory of residence of the related corporation or gov-
ernment unit. In the absence of any physical dimen-
sion to an enterprise, their residence is determined by
the territory of incorporation or registration.

3.33 SPEs are commonly managed by employees of
another corporation or government unit, which may
or may not be a related one. The unit pays fees for
services rendered to it and in turn charges its parent
or other related corporation a fee to cover these
costs.

3.34 Independent of the specific characteristics and
denominations, units described as SPEs are allocated
to sector and industry according to its principal activ-
ity, unless they fall into one of these three categories: (1)
captive financial institutions; (2) artificial subsidiaries

of corporations; and (3) special purpose units of gen-
eral government.

3.35 A resident SPE that raises funds in open markets
to be used by its parent corporation is one example of a
captive financial institution (see also paragraph 3.186).
Another example of a SPEs is a holding company that
simply holds the assets (owning controlling-levels of
equity) of its subsidiaries and whose principal activity
is to own the group (see paragraphs 3.30 and 3.182).
Other units also treated as captive financial institu-
tions are units with characteristics of SPEs used for
holding and managing wealth for individuals or fam-
ilies and issuing debt securities on behalf of related
companies.

3.36 Artificial subsidiaries of corporations are legal
entities that cannot act independently and are simply
passive holders of assets and liabilities. A subsidiary
corporation, wholly owned by a parent corporation,
may be created to provide services to the parent cor-
poration or other corporations in the same group,
often for tax purposes or to minimize liabilities in the
event of bankruptcy. In general, these corporations do
not satisfy the criteria to be institutional units. They
are thus not treated as separate institutional units,
but as an integral part of the parent corporation or
government unit, and their accounts are consolidated
with those of the parent’s unless they are resident in an
economy different from that where the parent is resi-
dent. All nonresident artificial subsidiaries are treated
as separate institutional units resident in the economy
where they are established.

3.37 A distinction must be made between artificial
subsidiaries and a unit undertaking only ancillary
activities, which are limited in scope to the type of
service functions that virtually all enterprises need to
some extent (cleaning premises, running staff payroll,
etc.). Like artificial subsidiaries, units undertaking
only ancillary activities will in general not satisfy the
condition of being an institutional unit.

3.38 General government may also set up units with
characteristics and functions of artificial subsidiaries.
Often, such special purpose units of general govern-
ment (see also paragraphs 3.241-3.243) do not have
the power to act independently, are restricted in the
range of transactions they can engage in, and do not
bear the risks and rewards associated with the man-
agement of the assets they hold. These units do not




satisfy the criteria to be an institutional unit in mac-
roeconomic statistics. If they are resident units, they
are treated as an integral part of the general govern-
ment subsector that has established them and not as
separate units. If they are nonresident, they are treated
as separate institutional units resident in the economy
where they are established, but the fiscal activities
they carry out are reflected in the accounts of the gov-
ernment that controls them.

Nonprofit institutions (NPIs)

3.39 NPIs are legal or social entities created for the
purpose of producing or distributing goods and ser-
vices, but they cannot be a source of income, profit,
or other financial gain for the institutional units that
establish, control, or finance them.

3.40 The motives leading other institutional units—
whether households, corporations, or government—
to create NPIs include: (1) to provide services for the
benefit of the households or corporations that control
or finance them; (2) to provide goods or services to
other persons in need for charitable, philanthropic,
or welfare reasons; (3) to provide health or education
services for a fee, but not for profit; and (4) to promote
the interest of pressure groups in business or politics.

3.41 The distinction between NPIs engaged in market
production and NPIs engaged in nonmarket produc-
tion is used in determining the sector of the economy
where an NP1 is classified.

NPIs engaged in market production

3.42 Although they are not a source of profit to other
institutional units, NPIs can be market producers
if they provide services for which they charge eco-
nomically significant prices. Economically significant
prices are prices that have a significant effect on the
amounts that producers are willing to supply and on
the amounts purchasers wish to buy.* NPIs engaged
in market production sell their output at prices that
are economically significant, but any surpluses gen-
erated cannot be appropriated by other institutional
units, including those that control or manage them.

3.43 NPIs engaged in market production are classified
as corporations. Schools, colleges, universities, clinics,
or hospitals constituted as NPIs are market producers

* For a more detailed discussion of economically significant prices,
see paragraphs 3.206-3.210.
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when they charge fees for their services that are based
on production costs and are economically signifi-
cant. Also treated as market producers are NPIs that,
because of their status, are able to raise additional
funds from donations by households, corporations, or
governments, but still charge economically significant
prices for their goods and services.

3.44 Other market NPIs restrict their activities to
serving a particular subset of other market producers.
Such NPIsare created by associations of the enterprises
whose interests they promote. They include chambers
of commerce, agricultural, manufacturing, or trade
associations, employers’ organizations, research and
testing laboratories, or other organizations or insti-
tutes engaged in activities that are of mutual interest
or benefit to the group of businesses that control and
finance them. These NPIs are financed by contribu-
tions or subscriptions from the group of enterprises
concerned. The subscriptions are treated not as trans-
fers but as payments for services rendered and these
NPIs are, therefore, classified as market producers
(corporations).

NPIs engaged in nonmarket production

3.45 The majority of NPIs in most countries are non-
market producers that provide most of their output
free or at prices that are not economically significant.
NPIs engaged mainly in nonmarket production fall
into two main groups: (1) those NPIs controlled by
government; and (2) those NPIs that are not. The lat-
ter group is the NPIs serving households (NPISHs)
which constitute a separate sector of the economy.

3.46 Nonmarket NPIs that are controlled by govern-
ment are included in the general government sector.
NPIs are considered to be controlled by government®
when: (1) the government has the right to appoint the
officers managing the NPI; (2) other provisions exist
enabling the government to determine significant
aspects of the policy or program of the NPI; (3) a con-
tractual agreement exists between a government and
an NPI allowing the government to determine key
aspects of the NPI’s general policy; (4) an NPI is
financed mainly by the government; or (5) a govern-
ment is exposed to all, or a large proportion of, the
financial risks associated with the NPT’s activities.

5 For more details, see GFSM 2014, Box 2.1, Government Control
of Nonprofit Institutions.
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3.47 Such government-controlled NPIs may engage
in research and development, for example, for the
benefit of producers, such as farmers. They may also
be concerned with the setting or maintenance of stan-
dards for health, safety, the environment, account-
ing, finance, education, etc. Government-controlled
NPIs are allocated to the general government sec-
tor, regardless of the types of institutional units that
mainly benefit from their activities. Certain entities
legally constituted as corporations by government
units may have the characteristics of nonmarket NPIs
controlled and mainly financed by government. Such
entities should be treated as general government units
whatever their names.

3.48 NPISHs consist of nonmarket NPIs that are not
controlled by government. They provide goods and
services to households free or at prices that are not
economically significant.

Government units

3.49 Government units are unique kinds of legal
entities established by political processes that have
legislative, judicial, or executive authority over other
institutional units within a given area. Their principal
economic functions are to: (1) assume responsibility
for the provision of goods and services to the commu-
nity or individual households primarily on a nonmar-
ket basis; (2) redistribute income and wealth by means
of transfer payments; (3) engage primarily in nonmar-
ket production; and (4) finance their activities primar-
ily out of taxation or other compulsory transfers.

3.50 Government units may control unincorporated
enterprises engaged in the production of market
goods and services. If these enterprises are managed
in a way similar to a corporation, with their own set
of accounts, they are treated as quasi-corporations.
Unincorporated enterprises owned by a government
unit that are not quasi-corporations remain an inte-
gral part of these units and so are included in the gen-
eral government sector.

lll. Residence

3.51 The concept and coverage of residence for mon-
etary and financial statistics are identical to those in the
2008 SNA and BPM6. The delineation between resident
and nonresident units facilitates the estimation of the
external position of the FCs sector. The key concepts

for defining the residence of an institutional unit are
economic territory and center of predominant economic
interest. Residence is not based on nationality of the
account holder, nor on the currency of denomination
of accounts.

A. Economic Territory

3.52 An economic territory can be any geographic
area or jurisdiction for which statistics are required.
The most commonly used concept of economic ter-
ritory is the area under the effective economic con-
trol of a single government. It includes special zones.®
The connection of entities to a particular economic
territory is determined from aspects such as physi-
cal presence and being subject to the jurisdiction of
the government of the territory. Economic territory
may be larger or smaller than the physical or politi-
cal borders of a country, for example a currency or
economic union, or part of a country.

3.53 The economic territory includes: (1) the land area;
(2) airspace; (3) territorial waters, including areas over
which jurisdiction is exercised over fishing rights and
rights to fuel or minerals; (4) in maritime territory,
islands that belong to the territory; and (5) territorial
enclaves in the rest of the world, such as embassies,
consulates, military bases, scientific stations, informa-
tion and immigration offices, aid agencies, and central
bank representative offices with diplomatic status.

3.54 Economic territory has the dimensions of physi-
cal location, as well as legal jurisdiction, so that corpo-
rations created under the law are part of that economy.
The concepts of economic territory and residence
are designed to ensure that each institutional unit is
a resident in one economic territory, determined by
its center of predominant economic interest. Excep-
tions may be made for multi-territory enterprises, as
explained later in this chapter.

B. Residence of Institutional Units

3.55 The residence of each institutional unit is the
economic territory with which it has the strongest
connection, expressed as its center of predominant
economic interest.

3.56 An institutional unit has a center of predominant
economic interest in an economic territory when there

¢ For the government’s own statistical needs, data on activities in
these zones may be excluded or shown separately.



exists, within the economic territory, some location,
dwelling, place of production, or other premises on
which or from which the unit engages and intends to
continue engaging, either indefinitely or over a finite
but long period of time, in economic activities and
transactions on a significant scale. Actual or intended
location for one year or more is used as an operational
definition. Although the choice of a specific period of
time is somewhat arbitrary, it is adopted in BPM6 (see
paragraph 4.114) to avoid uncertainty and facilitate
international consistency.

Resident units

3.57 An institutional unit is considered a resident
of an economy if it has already engaged in economic
activities and transactions on a significant scale in the
territory for one year or more, or if it intends to do so.

3.58 A household is a resident in the economic ter-
ritory in which the household members maintain or
intend to maintain a dwelling or succession of dwell-
ings treated and used by members of the household as
their principal dwelling. The residence of individual
persons is determined by that of the household of
which they form part and not by their place of work.
All members of the same household have the same
residence as the household itself, even though they
may cross borders to work or otherwise spend periods
of time abroad (see also paragraphs 3.62-3.63).

3.59 Corporations and NPIs usually may be expected
to have a center of predominant economic interest in
the economy in which they are legally constituted and
registered. Corporations may be resident in econo-
mies different from their shareholders, and subsid-
iaries may be resident in different economies from
their parent corporations. As a general principle, an
enterprise is resident in an economic territory when
it is engaged in a significant amount of production of
goods or services from a location in the territory. They
must maintain at least one production establishment
in the territory and plan to operate it indefinitely or
over a long period of time (usually one year or more).
Additional factors to consider are the maintenance
of a set of accounts covering local productive activi-
ties, and being subject to the income tax system in
the economy in which it is located. Unincorporated
enterprises that are not quasi-corporations are not
separate institutional units from their owners and,
therefore, have the same residence as their owners.
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When a nonresident unit has substantial operations
over a significant period in an economic territory, but
no separate legal entity for those operations, a branch
may be identified as an institutional unit.

3.60 When a nonresident has ownership of immov-
able assets such asland, structures, or natural resources
other than land, the assets are deemed to be owned by
a notional resident institutional unit in the economy
of location. All land, structures, and natural resources
other than land are, therefore, owned by residents.
The legal owner is deemed to hold equivalent equity
in the notional resident unit.

3.61 Apart from these general definitions, there are
special cases in which individuals or institutional
units should be considered residents of the terri-
tory, and their accounts with FCs incorporated in the
domestic assets and liabilities of those FCs.

Cross-border workers

3.62 Individuals who cross international borders to
work remain residents of their home territories. In
some cases, these workers regularly cross the frontier
(daily or weekly) to work in a neighboring country.
Also included as residents in home countries are sea-
sonal workers, who cross the border for particular
periods, such as the harvest or tourist season to attend
a place of employment and then return to their house-
holds. Other short-term employment may occur for
a particular task, such as construction projects,
repairs, delivery of advice, and so on. In each case,
the residence of the concerned person is based on
the principal dwelling, rather than the territory of
employment.

3.63 If these workers engage in substantial and sus-
tained economic activity abroad; earn income, con-
sume, and maintain regular residence abroad; and
return only briefly or infrequently to their original
household, they cease to be considered a member
of the household in their home territory and, there-
fore, are no longer resident in the economy where
the household is located. In this case, these individu-
als have a center of predominant economic interest
where they work and consume.

Highly mobile individuals

3.64 Some individuals have close connections with
two or more territories; they may have dwellings in
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more than one territory where they spend a signifi-
cant amount of time. For individuals who do not have
continuous actual or intended presence in any one
territory for one year, the territory of the principal
dwelling they maintain is the key consideration.

Staff of international organizations and
technical assistance personnel

3.65 Although international organizations (see para-
graph 3.98) are, by definition, resident in an economic
territory of their own (that is, nonresidents of the
country where they are physically located), employees
of these organizations are residents of the local econo-
mies where they have their principal dwelling.

3.66 Technical assistance personnel on long-term
(more than one year) assignment should be treated as
residents of the countries where they work. Employ-
ees of international organizations on long-term
assignment in a country different from the location
of the headquarters of the organization are residents
of the country where they perform their duties. If the
assignment is shorter than one year, they are consid-
ered residents of the economy in which they reside on
a longer-term basis.

Locally recruited staff of diplomatic
representations

3.67 Locally recruited staff of embassies and other
diplomatic representations continue to have their cen-
ter of predominant economic interest in the country
where they live and in which the embassy (or repre-
sentation) is located.

Crew members of ships, aircrafts, or

similar equipment

3.68 Crew members of ships, aircrafts, oil rigs, space
stations, or other similar equipment that operate out-
side a territory or across several territories continue
to be residents of the economies where they have
their principal dwelling (even if they are outside their
home-base territory for long periods of time) and not
of the economies in which they stop or layover but are
not living.

Refugees

3.69 The residence of refugees will change from their
home territory to the territory of refuge, if they have

stayed or intend to stay in their place of refuge for one
year or more, even if that residence is involuntary or
transient, and its future status is unclear.

General government

3.70 General government includes territorial enclaves,
such as embassies, consulates, military bases, scien-
tific stations, information or immigration offices, aid
agencies, and other enclaves of governments in host
territories with diplomatic status. Usually, these opera-
tions are not separate institutional units, but even if
they were, they are residents of their home territory,
rather than the host territory where they are physically
located. However, an entity created by a government
under the laws and jurisdiction of the host territory
is a corporation resident in the host economy and
not part of the general government sector in either
economy.

Subsidiaries or branches of

multinational conglomerates

3.71 Subsidiaries of a multinational corporation
should be treated as units separate from the par-
ent company, because they meet the definition of an
institutional unit and, therefore, are residents of the
economy where they operate. Branches of a multina-
tional corporation should be treated as units separate
from the parent company when resident in another
economy.

Construction projects

3.72 Construction companies operating in a foreign
territory (for instance, for the construction of major
projects like roads or dams) may be managed through
a branch or local office in the economy where the
project is undertaken. Although the branch or local
office may have no separate legal identity, it may, nev-
ertheless, be treated as a quasi-corporation and resi-
dent of the territory where the project is located. This
is applicable particularly to large-scale projects with
completion times of several years.

3.73 If the construction project will be finished in less
than a year, the construction operations may not sat-
isfy the conditions for recognition as a branch. Con-
sequently, the accounts of the local office should be
recorded as accounts of nonresidents for the territory
where the project is located.



Units operating mobile equipment

3.74 Mobile equipment can consist of ships, aircrafts,
drilling rigs and platforms, railway rolling stock, etc.
The same principles of the residence of an enterprise
must be applied to an enterprise operating mobile
equipment outside the economic territory where the
enterprise is a resident. If the operations take place
in international waters or airspace, the unit has a
predominant center of economic interest where the
operator maintains the base of its operations. If oper-
ations take place in another economy outside of the
home base and are substantial enough to meet the
criteria to be classified as a branch, then the branch
is considered a resident in the host economy.” Oth-
erwise, production is attributed to the home base of
the operator.

Offshore enterprises, offshore banks,

and offshore financial centers

3.75 Sometimes a government has a separate physical
or legal zone that is under its control, but to which, to
some degree, separate laws are applied, such as free
trade zones or offshore financial centers. These spe-
cial zones are part of the economic territory under
the control of the government and consequently the
enterprises located there are treated as resident units
of that economic territory.

3.76 Offshore units engaged in manufacturing pro-
cesses (including assembly of components manufac-
tured elsewhere) are residents of the economies in
which the offshore enterprises are located. This treat-
ment applies even if the units are located in special
zones exempted from custom duties or regulations
(free trade zones).

3.77 Similarly, offshore banks, which engage exclu-
sively (or almost exclusively) in transactions with non-
residents, are still considered residents of the country
where they are incorporated or registered.

3.78 Offshore financial centers are jurisdictions in
which the majority of the financial transactions are
entered into by FCs located therein and are on behalf
of clients who reside outside the offshore financial
center. Offshore financial centers have adapted to
increased competition resulting from liberalization
of financial regulations in advanced economies and

7 See also BPM6, paragraphs 4.27-4.28 and 4.31.

account for a significant share of global financial
flows. Offshore financial centers should compile data
for all corporations incorporated or registered in their
jurisdictions.

Institutional Units and Sectors

Pension funds of international organizations

3.79 Separately constituted pension funds of interna-
tional organizations are not treated as international
organizations, but regarded as FCs. They are residents
of the economic territory in which they are located or,
lacking a physical presence, residents of the economy
where they are incorporated or registered.

Ancillary corporations, holding corporations,
and special purpose entities

3.80 Domestic ancillaries are treated as an integral
part of the parent corporation, rather than as sepa-
rate institutional units. Ancillary corporations located
in a country different from their parent corporations
are, however, treated as separate units, and consid-

ered residents of the country in which they are legally
established.

3.81 Holding corporations and SPEs are often con-
stituted outside the country where their parent unit
resides, either for tax purposes or because of legal
or accounting considerations. Even if these holding
corporations and SPEs are bare trustees, not bearing
any market or credit risk, they are treated as separate
institutional units and considered residents of the
economic territory where they are incorporated or
registered.

Nonprofit institutions

3.82 An NPI is a resident of the country under whose
laws and regulations it was created and in which its
existence as a legal or social entity is officially recog-
nized and recorded. When an NPI engages in charity
or relief work on an international scale, it is necessary
to specify the residence of any branches it may main-
tain in dispensing relief in individual territories. If an
NPI maintains a branch or unit for one year or more
in a particular country, that branch or unit should be
considered a resident of that economy.

Currency union central banks

3.83 A currency union central bank (CUCB) is a
regional financial institution that acts as a central
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bank for the member countries of a currency union.
The CUCB is an institutional unit in its own right,
owning assets and liabilities on its own account. The
CUCB is nonresident of any currency union econ-
omy, but when compiling monetary statistics for the
entire currency union, the CUCB is a resident insti-
tutional unit of the union. More detailed information
on CUCBs is provided later in this chapter (see para-
graphs 3.119-3.122).

Multiterritory enterprises

3.84 Some enterprises may operate as a seamless opera-
tion over more than one economic territory. Although
the enterprise has substantial activity in more than one
economic territory, it is run with no separate accounts
and no separate branches can be identified.

3.85 Particular cases of multiterritory enterprises are
binational (or multinational) public entities estab-
lished to construct and operate hydroelectric projects
on river borders, bridges, tunnels, or undersea cables
that cross borders. Such enterprises may also include
shipping lines, airlines, or pipelines.

3.86 Governments usually require separate entities or
branches to be identified in each economic territory, but
multiterritory enterprises may be exempted from such
requirements. In the case of multiterritory enterprises,
it is preferable that separate institutional units are iden-
tified for each economy. If that is not feasible, it is neces-
sary to prorate the total operations of the enterprise into
the individual economic territories. The factor used for
prorating should be based on available information that
reflects the contributions to actual operations, such as
equity shares, equal splits, wages, or tonnage.

Nonresident units

3.87 Institutional units that have their center of
predominant economic interest outside the eco-
nomic territory are nonresidents. Their accounts are
recorded as part of foreign assets or foreign liabilities
of the resident FCs, irrespective of the nationality of
the account holder and of the currency of denomina-
tion of the accounts.

3.88 In addition to cases in which it is easy to identify
the accounts of nonresidents, there are several cases
in which it is not clear-cut that the account holder
is a nonresident of the economy, as discussed in the
remainder of this section.

Migrant workers

3.89 Migrant workers that earn income, consume,
and maintain their principal dwelling abroad for one
year or more and who return only briefly or infre-
quently to their original households are no longer
considered part of the household in their home econ-
omy but rather are residents of the economy where
they work, as this is where they have a predominant
center of economic interest. Even if individuals con-
tinue to be employed and paid by an enterprise that
is resident in their home economy, those persons
should be treated as residents of the host economy
where they maintain their principal dwelling continu-
ously for one year or more, as the principal dwelling
determines their center of predominant economic
interest.

3.90 Very often, migrant workers maintain deposit
accounts in their country of origin (home economy)
for savings purposes or to have access to funds when
they visit their country. Accounts of migrant work-
ers should be reported as nonresident accounts and,
therefore, as foreign liabilities of the depository cor-
porations (DCs) subsector in their home country.
Similarly, any loan granted to a migrant worker in
his or her country of origin should be reported as a
loan to a nonresident. For DCs, it is often difficult
to identify accounts of migrant workers as nonresi-
dent accounts, because they are opened by providing
a national identification and a national address. In
countries with a substantial proportion of their popu-
lation who live and work abroad, special instructions
should be issued to DCs with a view to identifying the
accounts of migrant workers.

3.91 If the account opened by a migrant worker in
the home economy is a joint account with a resident
of that economy, or if the account holder authorizes
a resident of the home economy to withdraw funds
from such an account, then the account should be
considered as belonging to a resident and should be
reported under domestic liabilities.

Students

3.92 People who go abroad for full-time study gener-
ally continue to be resident in the economy in which
they were resident prior to studying abroad, even
though their course of study may exceed one year.
Accounts that they open with FCs in the economy



where they study should be reported, therefore, as
accounts of nonresidents. If they develop an intention
to continue their presence in the territory of study
after the completion of the studies, they should then
be considered as residents in the host territory.

Medical patients

3.93 People who go abroad for the purpose of medi-
cal treatment maintain their predominant center of
interest in the territory in which they were resident
before they received the treatment, even if they stay
longer than one year. As with students, the movement
is considered to have a temporary motivation and
these patients remain members of households in their
home territories.

Foreign diplomatic representations

3.94 Embassies and other diplomatic representations
are enclaves of their governments in the host econ-
omy and part of the economic territory of the govern-
ment they represent. Their accounts in the financial
system of the host economy are reported as accounts
of nonresidents.

3.95 Employees, including members of their house-
hold, sent by a government to work in its diplomatic
representations continue to have a center of pre-
dominant economic interest in their home country,
irrespective of the length of their assignment in the
foreign country. They continue to be residents in their
home economy even if they live in dwellings outside
the enclaves. Their accounts in the financial system of
the host economy are classified as accounts of non-
residents.

Government entities resident abroad

3.96 If a government uses an entity that is resident in
another economic territory to carry out general gov-
ernment activities (i.e., fiscal activities rather than as
a public corporation producing goods and services
for the market), that entity is not included as part of
the general government in either its economy of resi-
dence or the economy of the government that uses
the entity. Such entities are not treated in the same
way as embassies and other territorial enclaves if they
are created and operate under the laws of the host
economy. However, special imputations of transac-
tions and positions between the government and the
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entity are adopted to ensure that any fiscal operations
undertaken through nonresident entities are reflected
in the transactions and positions of the government
concerned.

Military personnel

3.97 Military personnel stationed abroad in an
enclave of their home country (a military base) or in
peace-keeping missions, as well as the military base
itself, continue to have their center of predominant
economic interest in their home economy, irrespec-
tive of the length of duty of their assignment. They
and members of their household are considered non-
residents of the territory where they are serving.®

International organizations

3.98 International organizations have the following
characteristics:

a. The members are either national states or other
international organizations whose members are
national states.

b. They are entities established by formal politi-
cal agreements between their members that
have the status of international treaties; their
existence is recognized by law in their member
countries.

c. International organizations are created for vari-
ous purposes:

o International financial institutions—these
entities conduct financial intermediation at
an international level (i.e., channeling funds
between lenders and borrowers in different
economies). Examples are the IME World
Bank Group, Bank for International Settle-

ments (BIS), and regional development banks.

o Other international organizations—these enti-
ties provide nonmarket services of a collective
nature for the benefit of their member states,
such as peacekeeping, education, science, pol-
icy issues, and other research.

3.99 The economic territory of an international orga-
nization consists of the territorial enclave(s) over
which the organization has jurisdiction. International
organizations are not considered residents of any

8 See also BPM6, paragraph 4.123.
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national economy and, in particular, are not residents
of the economy in which they are located or conduct
their affairs. They are treated as extra-territorial (that
is, nonresident) by that economy. All accounts that
these organizations have with the FCs are treated as
nonresidents’ accounts. Regional organizations are a
type of international organization whose members are
governments or monetary authorities of economies
that are located in a specific region of the world.

IV. Institutional Sectors

3.100 Institutional units are allocated to different
institutional sectors according to the nature of the eco-
nomic activity they undertake. Sectoring of resident
institutional units is a key element in the compilation
and presentation of monetary and financial statistics.
In the monetary statistics described in Chapters 6 and
7, itis necessary to delineate the FCs sector and its sub-
sectors, to identify money-issuing and money-holding
sectors, and to identify FCs' claims on each of the
other resident sectors and on nonresidents. Conceptu-
ally, the sectoring of institutional units in monetary
and financial statistics should be aligned with the 2008
SNA and other macroeconomic datasets, which group
similar kinds of institutional units according to their
economic objectives, functions, and behavior.

3.101 The resident institutional units of the economy
are grouped into five mutually exclusive sectors: (1)
FCs, (2) NFCs, (3) general government, (4) households,
and (5) NPISHs. These sectors are further divided into
subsectors, as shown in Box 3.1. The additional split-
ting of FCs into DCs, other depository corporations
(ODC:s), and other financial corporations (OFCs) sub-
sectors for the purpose of monetary statistics is dis-
cussed in more detail later in this chapter. All resident
institutional units are allocated to only one institu-
tional sector. A unit engaged in activities belonging to
more than one sector and not having a separate set of
accounts for each activity must be classified entirely in
a single sector, based on the most prominent economic
activity in which it engages.’

°The 2008 SNA (Figure 4.1) and the GFSM 2014 (Figure 2.4)
provide decision trees to allocate institutional units into differ-
ent sectors based on whether they are residents or nonresidents,
households or legal entities, whether the latter are market or non-
market producers, whether they are controlled by government or
not, and whether they produce financial services or goods or non-
financial services.

Box 3.1 Main Sectors and Subsectors of

the Domestic Economy

Financial corporations [S12]'
Depository corporations

Central bank [S121]

Other depository corporations (ODCs)
Deposit-taking corporations except the

central bank [S122]?
Money market funds (MMFs) [S123]
Other financial corporations

Non-MMF investment funds [S124]

Other financial intermediaries except
insurance corporations and pension funds
(ICPF) [S125]

Financial auxiliaries [S126]

Captive financial institutions and money
lenders [S127]

Insurance corporations [$128]

Pension funds [S129]

Nonfinancial corporations [S11]
Public nonfinancial corporations
National private nonfinancial corporations
Foreign-controlled nonfinancial corporations

General government® [S13]
Central government [S1321]
State government [S1322]
Local government [S1323]

Households [S14]

Nonprofit institutions serving households [S15]

'Square brackets indicate the 2008 SNA sector codes.

2Deposit-takers whose deposit liabilities are not
included in broad money are excluded from ODCs
and classified as other financial intermediaries
except ICPF.

3Social security funds are allocated to the general
government subsectors, on the basis of the level at
which they operate. This is the approach adopted in
this Manual. Alternatively, the 2008 SNA also allows
social security funds to be combined into a separate
subsector of general government.

3.102 Dividing the total economy into sectors and
subsectors enhances the usefulness of the data for
purposes of economic analysis. Institutional units with
similar objectives and types of behavior are grouped
together. Corporations, government units, households,
and NPISHs differ with respect to their economic
objectives, functions, and behavior. Corporations



are created for the purpose of primarily producing
goods and services for the market; government units
provide primarily nonmarket goods and services to
the community and redistribute income and wealth.
Households are motivated by different economic
objectives, including final consumption, and are
therefore distinguished from corporations, although
households may also engage in production for the
market.

A. Financial Corporations [S12]

3.103 The FCs sector consists of all resident corpora-
tions, including quasi-corporations, that are princi-
pally engaged in providing financial services, including
insurance and pension fund services, to other institu-
tional units. It is usually the case that units providing
financial services do not produce other goods and
services and that financial services are not provided as
secondary production.

3.104 FCs are distinguished from NFCs at the first
level of sectoring, because FCs are engaged principally
in providing financial services, including financial
intermediation, which are inherently different from
other types of productive activity. Financial inter-
mediation involves incurring liabilities on their own
account for the purpose of acquiring financial assets
by engaging in financial transactions on the mar-
ket. Some characteristics of financial intermediation
include: (1) incurrence of liabilities to raise funds for
lending; (2) transformation of financial instruments
with respect to maturity, interest rate, currency of
denomination, etc.; and (3) acquisition of credit and
financial risks. Among the key factors in determining
if an entity is part of the FCs sector are the incurrence
of credit and financial risks, the existence of a sepa-
rate set of accounts for the financial intermediation
activities, and the predominance of the provision of
financial services within the total production of goods
and services of the unit.

3.105 The following entities are not included in the
FCs sector: (1) corporations or quasi-corporations
that mainly sell goods or nonfinancial services and
provide credit directly to their customers—for exam-
ple, manufacturers or retailers that extend consumer
credit under their own credit plans; and (2) individuals
or households that make loans or buy and sell foreign
currency, if they do not have separate and complete
sets of accounts for their financial activities.
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3.106 For purposes of monetary statistics, a distinc-
tion is made between FCs that issue liabilities included
in broad money (known as DCs), and OFCs that
intermediate in financial assets, or engage in activi-
ties closely related to financial intermediation, but do
not issue liabilities included in broad money. The DCs
subsector comprises the central bank, deposit-taking
corporations except the central bank, and MMFs."
The OFCs subsector of monetary statistics includes
FCs other than DCs.

3.107 Although not directly relevant for the compi-
lation of monetary statistics, the 2008 SNA and the
GFSM 2014 decision trees for allocating institutional
units (see footnote 9 in this chapter) also distinguish
between public, foreign-controlled, and national pri-
vate FCs. Using source data for monetary statistics,
this kind of grouping of FCs may also be undertaken."!

Depository corporations

3.108 Chapter 6 defines the concept of broad money
to be applied by compilers, taking into account the
structure and other features of the financial sys-
tem. For monetary statistics purposes, DCs are
FCs that issue liabilities included in broad money.
(The definition of broad money is presented in
paragraph 6.11.)

3.109 Due to its special characteristics, the central
bank constitutes a separate subsector within the DCs
subsector. When compiling monetary statistics, the
accounts of deposit-taking corporations except the
central bank, and MMFs are aggregated together and
are presented in a consolidated form in the ODCs
survey (ODCS).

Central bank [S121]

3.110 The central bank is the domestic financial insti-
tution that exercises control over key aspects of the
financial system. The central bank functions gener-
ally comprise the following: (1) issuing currency;'?(2)
conducting monetary policy, including by regulating
money supply and credit; (3) managing international

19 Tn BPM6, MMFs are included in the OFCs subsector.

! For compiling data for these three groups of FCs, separate sec-
toral balance sheets need to be compiled for each of the three
groups for ODCs and OFCs.

12 A few territories (Hong Kong SAR, Scotland, and Northern Ire-
land) have authorized private banks to issue currency, fully backed
by reserves held with the central bank.
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reserves; (4) transacting with the IMF; (5) providing
credit to ODCs; and (6) usually acting as banker to
government in holding central government depos-
its and in providing credit in the form of overdrafts,
advances, and purchases of debt securities. Central
banks in some countries also accept deposits from or
provide credit to NFCs, NPISHs, and households."

3.111 The central bank subsector includes the follow-
ing: (1) central banks, which in most countries are
separate identifiable institutional units subject to vary-
ing degrees of government control, and have various
names such as central bank, reserve bank, monetary
authority, national bank, or state bank; (2) currency
boards or independent currency authorities that issue
domestic currency that is fully backed by foreign
exchange reserves; and (3) government-affiliated agen-
cies that are separate institutional units and primar-
ily perform central banking functions, except those
exclusively engaged in supervision and regulation of
the financial system (see paragraphs 3.113 and 3.175).

3.112 Many central banks act as fiscal agents of their
central governments or government-affiliated units.
Transactions and financial positions should be attrib-
uted to the central bank when it acts on its own behalf
and is the actual debtor/creditor. When it acts only
as an agent, the transactions or positions should be
attributed to the unit that is the actual debtor/creditor.
A key factor in determining the creditor/debtor status
is the bearing of the financial risks and the appropria-
tion of the benefits from the transactions.

3.113 Many central banks also regulate and supervise
deposit-takers and sometimes OFCs. If these activi-
ties are performed within the structure of the central
bank, they are included in the central bank subsec-
tor. However, if the supervisory authority is a separate
institutional unit, it is classified as a financial auxiliary
outside the central bank subsector.

3.114 Central banks usually have branches in various
regions of a country. When compiling the central bank
balance sheet, the accounts of all branches must be con-
solidated with the accounts of the headquarters. Central
bank representative offices located in other economies
are not consolidated with headquarters but are classi-
fied as resident financial auxiliaries in the economy in

13 Some central banks offer deposit accounts and provide loans to
their staff.

which they are located (see paragraph 3.172). If such
overseas representative offices have diplomatic immu-
nity, they are considered part of the economic territory
in which the central bank itself is located.

3.115 In many countries, the central bank performs
all central banking functions listed in paragraph 3.110.
In some countries, however, certain central banking
functions are performed wholly or partly by the cen-
tral government. These functions might include cur-
rency issuance, the holding of international reserves,
and conducting transactions with the IME. In such
situations, consideration could be given to compile,
in addition to the central bank survey, an expanded
set of accounts, referred to as the monetary authori-
ties accounts (described in more detail in Chapter 7).
These accounts follow a functional approach—that
is, all data relating to central banking functions per-
formed by the central government should be included
along with the central bank’s data. The functional
approach groups stock positions and flows according
to the functions or objectives they serve, as opposed to
the institutional approach adopted in macroeconomic
statistics. Specifically, if the central government holds
part of the international reserves, they are included in
the monetary authorities accounts together with the
reserves held by the central bank.

Currency boards

3.116 Currency boards are independent monetary
authorities that issue domestic currency, usually fully
backed by foreign exchange reserves, at a fixed
exchange rate vis-a-vis some major international cur-
rency. Although not engaged in all central banking
functions, currency boards are included in the central
bank subsector.

Government-affiliated agencies

3.117 In some countries, government-affiliated units
perform certain central banking functions such as the
issuance of coins and/or currency notes, the holding
of international reserves, operation of exchange stabi-
lization funds, or having financial relationships with
the IME. When the agencies undertaking such mone-
tary authorities functions are institutional units sepa-
rate from the central government (except those
exclusively engaged in supervision and regulation of
the financial system), they should be included in the
central bank subsector.



3.118 However, if these units remain financially inte-
grated with and under the direct control and super-
vision of the government, they cannot be treated
as separate institutional units, and any monetary
authority functions carried out by the government
should be recorded in the central government sub-
sector.

Currency unions and currency union central banks

3.119 A common currency area, Or currency union,
consists of more than one economy and has a regional
central decision-making body, usually a CUCB, with
the authority to conduct a single monetary policy and
issue the legal tender of the area. To belong to this
area, an economy must be a member of the central
decision-making body. Member countries of the cur-
rency union share a common currency and may have
a single monetary and foreign exchange policy. Two
kinds of currency unions are identified (see Box 3.2
and also BPM6, Appendix 3).

3.120 In the centralized model, the currency union
has a CUCB owned by the governments of the member
economies with the common currency issued by the
CUCB and the central bank operations in each economy
carried out by national directorates or agencies of the
CUCB. This model is of the type observed in the Banque
Centrale des Etats de I'Afrique de 'Ouest (BCEAO), the
Banque des Etats de I'Afrique Centrale (BEAC), and the
Eastern Caribbean Central Banks (ECCB). In a central-
ized currency union, in each member economy the cen-
tral bank functions are deemed to be carried out by a
national (resident) directorate or agency of the central
bank. This institutional unit acts as the central bank for
that economy and must be treated for statistical pur-
poses as an institutional unit that is separate from the
headquarters of the CUCB. In these currency unions,
not all transactions carried out and positions held by
the CUCB can be allocated to individual member coun-
tries. Transactions and positions that are conducted on

the own account of the CUCB and cannot be allocated
to member countries (in particular, international reserves)
remain at the CUCB-headquarter level and are taken
into account, together with the allocated transactions
and positions, only when monetary statistics are com-
piled at the currency union level.

3.121 The decentralized model was developed by the
euro area through the creation of the European Central
Bank (ECB). In the decentralized model, the currency

Institutional Units and Sectors 9

Box 3.2 Currency Unions and Regional

Central Banks'

Centralized Model

Banque Centrale des Etats de I’Afrique de [’"Ouest
(BCEAOQO)
Benin, Burkina Faso, Cote d’Ivoire,
Guinea-Bissau, Mali, Niger, Senegal, Togo

Banque des Etats de I’Afrique Centrale (BEAC)
Cameroon, Central African Republic, Chad,
Republic of Congo, Equatorial Guinea,
Gabon

Eastern Caribbean Central Bank (ECCB)
Anguilla, Antigua and Barbuda, Dominica,
Grenada, Montserrat, St. Kitts and Nevis,
St. Lucia, St. Vincent and the Grenadines

Decentralized Model

European Central Bank (ECB)
Austria, Belgium, Cyprus, Estonia, Finland,
France, Germany, Greece, Ireland, Italy,
Latvia, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Malta, The
Netherlands, Portugal, Slovakia, Slovenia,
Spain

" As of December 31, 2016.

union comprises a CUCB and currency union national
central banks (CUNCBs) of the member economies,
with the CUCB owned by the CUNCBs. Monetary
policy decisions are made by the decision-making
body of the CUCB, which also coordinates the imple-
mentation of the decisions, a primary responsibility of
the CUNCBs. In each economy, monetary activities
with residents of the currency union are carried out by
CUNCBs having their own assets and liabilities, and
these activities are recorded in the national data.

3.122 The economic territory of a currency union con-
sists of the economic territory of the currency union
economies, plus the CUCB. Any other regional organiza-
tions that comprise the same or a subset of the currency
union economies are included in the currency union. The
currency union needs to compile monetary statistics for
the union-wide area, consolidating the accounts of the
CUCB headquarters and the accounts of the CUNCBs,
respectively. Foreign assets and liabilities of the CUCB
will reflect its claims on and liabilities to nonresidents of
the currency union. To support the compilation of the
union-wide data, the sectoral balance sheets and surveys
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for economies in a currency union should have a two-way
classification of claims on and liabilities to nonresidents:
those vis-a-vis residents in other economies of the cur-
rency union, and those vis-a-vis nonresidents of the
currency union.

Other depository corporations

3.123 For monetary statistics purposes, all FCs (other
than the central bank) that incur liabilities included
in broad money are classified as ODCs.

Deposit-taking corporations except

the central bank [MS]

3.124 Deposit-taking corporations except the central
bank have financial intermediation as their princi-
pal activity. To this end, they obtain funds through
the acceptance of deposits or other financial instru-
ments (such as short-term certificates of deposits)
that are close substitutes for deposits. Deposit-taking
corporations may also issue bills, bonds, other debt
securities, or other financial instruments.

Commercial banks

3.125 Commercial bank is the most common des-
ignation of a deposit-taking corporation. The range
of activities in which a commercial bank can par-
ticipate varies widely among countries, depending
on national banking regulations and practices, and
the sophistication of the financial system in each
country. The most common services provided by
commercial banks are accepting deposits and grant-
ing business and personal loans. In many countries,
they are required to place reserve requirements at the
central bank in a certain proportion to their deposit
liabilities.

Other deposit-taking corporations

3.126 Many other types of financial intermediar-
ies also accept deposits and/or issue other types of
liabilities that are close substitutes for deposits and
therefore are included in broad money. These other
deposit-taking corporations have various names,
depending on their principal activities and national
naming conventions.

3.127 Among the corporations and quasi-corporations
that may be classified as other deposit-taking corpora-
tions are the following: (1) merchant banks; (2) savings

and loan associations, building societies, and mortgage
banks; (3) credit unions, and credit cooperatives; (4)
municipal credit institutions; (5) rural banks and agri-
cultural banks; (6) discount houses; (7) traveler’s check
companies engaged mainly in financial activities; (8)
post office giro institutions; and (9) electronic money
institutions.

3.128 This list is neither exhaustive nor prescriptive.
Compilers of monetary statistics should investigate
the characteristics of an FC’s liabilities to determine
whether the liabilities should be included in broad
money, which determines whether such FC should
be covered in the ODCS or not. (For more details see
Chapter 6.)

3.129 Merchant banks specialize in financial activities
that facilitate trade and commerce, typically dealing
in international financing, long-term lending, and
underwriting of securities. They also have banking
relationships with multinational and other large cor-
porations but usually do not offer banking services to
the general public.

3.130 Savings and loans associations, building soci-
eties, and mortgage banks specialize in long-term

lending for purchases of real estate. Traditionally,
building societies and savings and loans associa-
tions were organized as mutual associations—that is,
individuals who provided funds or borrowed were
association members who had voting rights and con-
trol of the institutions. Legal and regulatory changes
have relaxed the rules governing these institutions
in many countries. Building societies raise funds in
commercial money markets, and savings and loans
associations undertake functions similar to commer-
cial banks.

3.131 Credit unions and credit cooperatives are
owned and controlled by their members. By open-
ing a deposit account at a credit union, an individ-
ual becomes a member—and partial owner—of the
credit union, participating in its equity. Credit unions
accept deposits (technically, these may be designated
as shares) and grant various types of loans to their
members. Regulation and reporting requirements
vary from country to country.

3.132 Municipal credit institutions are independent,
locally managed savings banks that concentrate their
business activities on customers in the region. In




general, they are not profit-oriented, but are market
producers. Their shareholders are usually located in
one city or several cities in an administrative district.

3.133 Rural banks and agricultural banks are small
community banks that provide financial services in
rural areas. Due to the economic characteristics of
their clients, they tend to specialize in micro-financing
of rural and agricultural activities. Collecting data
from rural banks can often be hampered by: (1) lack of
supervision by the central bank and lack of legal obliga-
tion to report their data; (2) inadequate communica-
tion infrastructure in remote areas of the country that
may hinder regular reporting (although improvements
in communication technology is reducing this prob-
lem); and (3) lack of sufficient staft resources for timely
and accurate compliance with reporting requirements.

3.134 Discount houses raise funds primarily to
finance investments in money-market instruments (for
example, government bills, bankers” acceptances, and
certificates of deposits), and they purchase debt secu-
rities from individual banks for rediscounting with
the central bank. If they issue liabilities included in
broad money, they are classified in the ODCs subsec-
tor; otherwise they should be classified as OFCs.

3.135 Traveler’s checks companies sell negotiable
instruments that can be directly used in making third-
party payments. A corporation that issues traveler’s
checks should be classified as an ODCif it is an FC and
if the traveler’s checks are included in broad money.
Traveler’s checks that have characteristics of both cur-
rency and liquid deposits are included in broad money
if it is expected that most of the checks will be used
for domestic market transactions; they are excluded if
most are expected to be used for foreign travel.

3.136 Post offices in some countries accept transfer-
able and savings deposits, either on their own account
or on behalf of third parties (e.g., the treasury or
another financial corporation). Account holders in
post office giro institutions may make third-party
payments or may withdraw funds from their savings
accounts at other post offices of the country. If this
financial activity of the post office has a separate set of
accounts, it should be included in the ODCs subsec-
tor. If the deposit-taking and transfer services are not
separated from the accounts of the nonfinancial oper-
ations, the postal system in its entirety is classified

as an NFC. Data on transferable and other deposits
accepted by the postal system should be collected for
inclusion in broad money (see also paragraph 6.54).

Institutional Units and Sectors

3.137 Electronic money institutions are entities
authorized to issue electronic money, which is a pay-

ment instrument whereby monetary value is elec-
tronically stored on a physical device or remotely at a
server (see paragraphs 4.38-4.41). Electronic money
can usually be used for payments to third-parties and
is, therefore, a close substitute for transferable depos-
its. An electronic money institution should be clas-
sified as an ODC if it is an FC and if the electronic
money issued is included in broad money (see para-
graph 6.30). Monetary value stored on specific prepaid
instruments does not represent electronic money if
the instruments are designed to address specific needs
only and can be used only in a limited way."*

Offshore banks

3.138 Offshore banks is a term for deposit-taking
corporations (except the central bank) established in
jurisdictions that provide legal and fiscal advantages,
such aslow or no taxation and less stringent regulations
in terms of reserve requirements or foreign exchange
restrictions. They engage in various types of financial
transactions, including deposit-taking and the exten-
sion of loans denominated in currencies other than
the currency of the economy in which they are located.
They may be restricted from accepting deposits from
residents of the economy in which they are located.

3.139 Offshore banks engaged in trade and finance
are residents of the economies in which they are
located. For the purpose of monetary statistics,' it is
recommended that offshore banks are included in the
ODC:s subsector if they transact with residents of the
economy where they are located and issue liabilities
included in broad money. If they do not issue such lia-
bilities, they should be classified as OFCs.'* Because of

!4See European Central Bank (2012), pages 9-10.

“The BPM6 (paragraph 4.72) includes all offshore banks in
deposit-taking corporations, regardless of whether they are in the
money-issuing sector or not, and recommends that the money-
issuing sector be identified on a supplementary basis to assist in
reconciliation with monetary data.

In the 2008 SNA, offshore banks are included in the deposit-
taking corporations subsector if they take deposits and meet the
definition of a deposit-taker, regardless of whether those deposits
are included in broad money or not.
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the special characteristics of offshore banks, their data
should be identified separately within the subsector."”

3.140 Given that offshore banks are often subject to
less-stringent regulations than onshore FCs, data
collection from offshore units is sometimes difficult.
If the central bank does not regulate the activities of
offshore banks, it will need to negotiate the provision
of data from the offshore units, or to seek special legal
powers to obtain reporting compliance.

Banks in liquidation

3.141 Because of financial difficulties, some deposit-
taking corporations may operate under the control
of receivers or regulators and others may have been
closed. The deposit-taking corporations continue to
exist until a formal bankruptcy or reorganization has
taken place. Until such corporations are liquidated or
reorganized, their deposits may be frozen. It is unclear
as to whether depositors and other creditors will be
able to recover all or part of their deposits or other
funding and, if so, the length of time before creditors
are reimbursed.

3.142 The deposit-taking corporations in liquidation
or reorganization continue to have claims on various
sectors of the economy, which may be transferred to
a restructuring agency or may be acquired by other
deposit-taking corporations. Reorganization, sale, or
merger of such depository corporations may result in
all or part of the funds eventually becoming available
to depositors and possibly other creditors.

3.143 To avoid distortion in the monetary statistics
during the restructuring process, it is recommended
that deposit-taking corporations in liquidation or
reorganization continue to be included in the ODCs
subsector as long as they own financial assets and
liabilities, but their liabilities be excluded from broad
money as the depositors’ withdrawal demands cannot
be met (see paragraph 6.42). Separate data on their
accounts should be presented as memorandum items
accompanying the ODCs sectoral balance sheet. It is
recognized that in practice it is usually difficult to get
data on the accounts of banks in liquidation reported
on a regular basis.

' Separate identification of offshore banks or units will also allow
reconciling monetary and financial statistics with the national
accounts and balance of payments.

Money market funds [S123]

3.144 MMFs are collective investment schemes that
raise funds by issuing shares or units to the public.
The proceeds are invested primarily in money market
instruments, money market fund (MMF) shares or
units, transferable debt instruments with a residual
maturity of not more than one year, bank depos-
its, and instruments that pursue a rate of return
that approaches the interest rates of money market
instruments. For an investment fund to be recognized
as an MME, there needs to be: (1) a certain degree of
capital certainty (store of nominal value); and (2) the
possibility to withdraw funds immediately or on short
notice. If the preceding conditions are not met, the
institution is not classified as an MMF but as a non-
MMEF investment fund.

3.145 Some MMFs offer the facility to withdraw funds
from shareholder accounts through checks payable to
third parties or other means of direct payments to third
parties. These payments to third parties may be limited
with respect to minimum amount or maximum num-
ber of checks that can be written in a specified period.

3.146 MMF shares and units—with or without third-
party payment features—are highly liquid and very
close substitutes for transferable and other deposits.
MMF shares and units are thus included in broad
money and all MMFs as defined in paragraph 3.144
are classified as ODCs.

Other financial corporations [MS]

3.147 OFCs comprise the following 2008 SNA sub-
sectors: non-MMF investment funds, other financial
intermediaries except insurance corporations and
pension funds (ICPFs), financial auxiliaries, captive
financial institutions and money lenders, insurance
corporations, and pension funds.

3.148 FCs in the OFCs subsector may be supervised
and regulated by agencies at the state or national level
rather than by the central bank, or not at all. Close
collaboration between monetary statistics compil-
ers and the agencies supervising the various types of
OFCs is required in collecting and compiling mon-
etary and financial statistics.

Non-MMF investment funds [S124]

3.149 Non-MMF investment funds are collective
investment schemes that raise funds by issuing shares



or units to the public. The proceeds are invested pre-
dominantly in long-term financial assets, such as
equity shares, bonds, and mortgage loans, and nonfi-
nancial assets, such as real estate. Non-MMF invest-
ment funds may also invest a small percentage of
their total assets in highly liquid short-term financial
instruments to ensure that requests to redeem shares
or units are met without delay. They can be run under
several denominations, such as mutual funds, invest-
ment pools, investment trusts, unit trusts, or institu-
tions for collective investment. Shares or units issued by
non-MMF investment funds are not close substitutes
for deposits because of the following reasons: (1) they
are not transferable by means of checks or other means
of third-party payments; and (2) their price can fluc-
tuate according to market conditions and so they are
not a reliable store of nominal value. Consequently,
shares or units issued by non-MMF investment funds
do not meet the definition of broad money and are
not included therein.

3.150 It is possible to distinguish between open-ended
and closed-ended non-MMEF investment funds. Open-
ended investment funds issue and redeem shares on a
continuous basis: each time a new investment is made
by an investor, new shares or units are created; when
shares are redeemed, an investment must be sold to
match such redemption. Closed-ended investment
funds are open for subscription only during a speci-
fied period at the launch of the scheme; thereafter,
investors can acquire shares only by buying them on a
secondary market from other investors.

3.151 Depending on the investment strategy, different
kinds of non-MMF investment funds can be identi-
fied: (1) equity-based investment funds; (2) security-
based investment funds; (3) real estate investment
funds, which invest in debt and equity securities of
companies that purchase real estate; (4) mortgage real
estate investment trusts (mortgage REITs),' which
provide dividends to shareholders by investing in real
estate mortgages or mortgage-backed securities; (5)
index funds, which are index-tracking funds that mir-
ror the performance of a specific group of shares; (6)
exchange-traded funds, which are a subset of index
funds that are priced continuously throughout the

'8 Equity REITSs are not considered financial intermediaries as they
specialize in owning and managing real estate. Thus, they are not
part of the FCs sector.

trading day, and therefore trade like a stock; (7) funds
of funds, which hold a portfolio of other investment
funds shares rather than investing directly; and (8)
hedge funds involving high minimum investments
and light regulation, which invest in financial deriva-
tives, take long and short positions in securities, and
may sell over-the-counter derivative contracts.

Institutional Units and Sectors

3.152 Private equity funds (PEFs) are collective invest-
ment schemes that invest in unlisted equity. They are
usually constituted as closed-ended investment funds
or as limited partnerships. Investments into PEFs are
made mainly by institutional investors, such as ICPFs
or large financial groups. Venture capital funds are a
subcategory of PEFs that invest in start-up compa-
nies. PEFs are included within non-MMF investment
funds.

Other financial intermediaries except insurance
corporations and pension funds [S125]

3.153 Other financial intermediaries except ICPFs
consist of FCs that are engaged in providing financial
services by incurring liabilities, in forms other than
currency, deposits or close substitutes for deposits, on
their own account for the purpose of acquiring finan-
cial assets by engaging in financial transactions on
the market. 1t is a feature of a financial intermediary
that transactions on both sides of the balance sheet
are carried out in open markets.

3.154 FCs in the other financial intermediaries sub-
sector generally raise funds on wholesale financial
markets, and usually not in the form of deposits, and
use the funds to extend loans and acquire other finan-
cial assets. The intermediaries often specialize in lend-
ing to borrowers in particular sectors of the economy
and for specialized financial arrangements. Some of
the types of units classified as other financial inter-
mediaries are described in the following paragraphs.

3.155 Finance companies extend credit mainly to
NFCs and households. They are less regulated than
units in the ODCs subsector and often are subject to
fewer reporting requirements. Finance companies
offer such services as consumer loans, credit cards,
small business loans, mortgage loans, economic
development loans, and purchases of bankers’ accep-
tances and trade receivables. If finance companies
accept deposits included in broad money, they should
be classified in the ODCs subsector.
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3.156 Financial leasing companies engage in financ-
ing for the purchase of tangible assets. The leasing

company is the legal owner of the financed goods (air-
planes, automobiles, machine tools, mainframe com-
puters, etc.); economic ownership (see paragraph 4.9)
is conveyed to the lessee who incurs the benefits, costs,
and risks associated with ownership of the assets.

3.157 Central clearing counterparties (CCPs) provide
clearing and settlement of market transactions in
securities and derivatives. This can include tri-party
repos (see paragraph 4.79). Clearing refers to the pro-
cess of offsetting obligations and entitlements vis-a-vis
counterparties to transactions so that settlement—
which involves the actual exchange of securities,
derivatives, and funds—can occur more efficiently on
a net basis. The CCPs take the financial risk of the
transaction between the counterparties onto their
own account and so mitigate counterparty risk to the
other parties involved. CCPs are FCs, but not money
issuers as the margin deposits they collect to mitigate
the financial risks they assume are restricted and held
as collateral, and so are not included in broad money
(see paragraphs 6.37 and 6.76). CCPs should, there-
fore, be classified as other financial intermediaries
except ICPFs.

3.158 Investment banks assist corporations in raising
funds in equity and debt markets and provide stra-
tegic advisory services for mergers, acquisitions, and
other types of financial transactions. In addition to
assisting with raising funds for their corporate clients,
investment banks invest their own funds, including
in the securities offerings of their clients, and hedge
funds dedicated to direct investments in corpora-
tions. Investment banks do not usually have deposit
liabilities that meet the definition of broad money.

3.159 Underwriters and dealers specialize in securities
market activities, operating through public exchanges,
over-the-counter markets, and privately negotiated
deals. They assist firms in issuing securities through
the underwriting and market placement of new secu-
rities issues, and may trade in new or outstanding
securities on their own account. Only underwriters
and dealers that act as financial intermediaries are
classified in this category. Securities brokers and other
units that arrange trades between securities buyers and
sellers but do not purchase and hold securities on their
own account are classified as financial auxiliaries.

3.160 Financial derivative intermediaries consist of
units that engage primarily in issuing and/or taking
positions in financial derivatives.

3.161 Securitization vehicles are created to raise funds
by selling securities backed by specific assets or future
income streams. Securitization is the practice whereby
an asset or a pool of cash-flow producing assets is
converted into marketable securities.”” For example,
an originating mortgage lender could sell a portfolio
of loans to a special purpose vehicle that issues secu-
rities to investors. The originator may continue to
provide administrative services, but the vehicle is the
legal owner of the portfolio. Such vehicles are included
in other financial intermediaries except ICPFs if the
entity is the legal owner of a portfolio of assets, sells
a new financial asset that represents an interest in the
portfolio, and has—or it would be possible and mean-
ingful to compile—a full set of accounts. When the
portfolio is not transformed, or the vehicle does not
bear market or credit risks, then it should be com-
bined with its parent (if resident in the same economy)
or treated as a captive intermediary (if in a different
economy to that of its parent).

3.162 Specialized financial intermediaries are a diverse
group of highly specialized intermediaries such as: (1)

export/import finance firms, which offer a broad range
of financial and documentary services associated with
international trade; (2) factoring companies, which
acquire accounts receivables from commercial enter-
prises, extend credit by rediscounting the receivables,
and provide guarantees that cover late or defaulted
payments; (3) venture capital funds that pool funds of
third-party investors in start-up companies; and (4)
mezzanine companies that provide short-term financ-
ing for corporate mergers and acquisitions.

3.163 Asset management companies (AMCs) and

bank restructuring agencies are created to address
the workout of nonperforming loans (NPLs) or other

impaired financial assets through the acquisition,
management, and disposal of the impaired assets,
often in the context of a banking crisis. These entities
can function as fast-disposal units for selling loans
and/or other impaired financial assets, medium-term
corporate restructuring agencies, warehouses for hold-
ing the NPLs for extended periods, and hybrid units

19 See Handbook on Securities Statistics, Chapter 6, paragraphs 6.2-6.9.



performing multiple functions. Most bank restructur-
ing agencies have been established by governments as
public institutions, but AMCs have also been created
as subsidiaries of FCs to facilitate the management
of their own NPL portfolios. For AMCs that are sub-
sidiaries of ODCs and resident in the same economy
as their parent, their balance sheets are consolidated
with the balance sheets of their parent ODCs unless
they meet all the criteria of an institutional unit (see
paragraph 3.4).

3.164 If the entity is government-controlled, the
extent to which it is engaged or not in financial inter-
mediation will determine whether it is classified as a
general government unit or an FC. The following cri-
teria should be considered in determining whether
the entity is an FC or part of general government,
given that the economically significant price criteria
are usually insufficient for this purpose:

a. An entity is more likely to be included in the
general government sector if it (1) serves only
government or primarily government; (2) sells
or buys financial assets at a value other than
market values; and/or (3) takes low risks because
it has strong public financial support and, by law
or effectively, acts on behalf of government.

b. An entity should be classified in the FCs sector if
it (1) is a genuine holding company controlling
and managing a group of subsidiaries; and/or (2)
borrows on the market at its own risk to acquire
financial or nonfinancial assets that it actively
manages.

3.165 If the government-controlled entity is consid-
ered to be operating as an FC, it is sectored as an FC
according to the nature of its operations, usually in
the subsector other financial intermediaries except
ICPFs. Otherwise, it should be classified as a general
government unit, with its transactions, and assets and
liabilities consolidated with those of the government.

Financial auxiliaries [S126]

3.166 Financial auxiliaries consist of FCs that are
principally engaged in activities associated with trans-
actions in financial assets and liabilities or with provid-
ing the regulatory context for these transactions but in
circumstances that do not involve the auxiliary taking
ownership of the financial assets and liabilities being
transacted. Financial auxiliaries do not act as interme-

diaries. Some of the most common types of financial
auxiliaries are described in the next paragraphs.

Institutional Units and Sectors

3.167 Public exchanges, securities markets, and clear-
ing houses® provide facilities in which commodities,
debt and equity securities, and financial derivatives
are transacted and/or settled. An exchange is often
responsible for ensuring the qualifications of its mem-
bers, guaranteeing the completion of transactions,
clearing and netting transactions, arranging pay-
ments, resolving disputes, and guarding against fraud.
Exchanges are identified as such if they (1) are legally
determined to be exchanges by regulators or courts;
(2) maintain insurance or capital reserves; (3) exercise
control over the trading of exchange members; or (4)
operate a margining system or collect collateral. Pro-
vided they do not act as a principal to the transactions
being conducted, the subsector includes the exchange
and a number of entities such as securities depository
companies, accounting and clearing offices, other spe-
cialized providers of securities trading services, and
entities (private and government-controlled) that reg-
ulate or supervise exchanges and securities markets.

3.168 Brokers and agents are individuals or firms that
arrange, execute, or otherwise facilitate client trans-

actions in financial assets. Included are brokers and
agents who handle the purchase and sale of securities
or other financial contracts for their clients, as well as
providers of financial advisory services to brokers and
their clients. Brokerage firms are distinguished from
underwriters and dealers that are classified as other
financial intermediaries except ICPFs. Only brokers
and agents that clearly specialize in brokerage and
related activities and do not take their own positions
in financial assets should be included in this subsector.

3.169 Foreign exchange companies, or bureaux de
change, are separate institutional units that buy and sell

foreign exchange in retail or wholesale markets. They
are classified as financial auxiliaries because their main
function is to intermediate in foreign exchange, earning
a buy-sell spread, rather than obtaining their income
from taking positions in foreign exchange. In many
countries, foreign exchange corporations are licensed
and regulated, and high-quality data on their activities
can be collected. In economies with foreign exchange

% Contrary to CCPs, clearing houses do not assume any risk dur-
ing the clearing process.



@ Monetary and Financial Statistics Manual and Compilation Guide

controls, individuals or enterprises such as travel agen-
cies engage in informal foreign exchange trade, compli-
cating the measurement of overall activity.

3.170 Insurance and pension funds auxiliaries include
agents, adjusters, and salvage administrators. The

unique nature and the large scale of their activities
in some countries justify the separate identification of
these units.

3.171 Financial derivative corporations facilitate the
issuance of financial derivative contracts, without

issuing the financial derivatives or taking financial
positions in them. Although these units may have
financial assets, they are not classified as other finan-
cial intermediaries except ICPFs, because they do not
intermediate by incurring liabilities in order to acquire
financial assets. These financial derivative corpora-
tions are distinguished from financial derivative inter-
mediaries that issue or take positions in financial
derivatives, and which are classified as other financial
intermediaries except ICPFs.

3.172 Representative offices of foreign banks that do
not accept deposits or extend credits are classified as

resident financial auxiliaries, even though they pro-
mote and facilitate transactions of the nonresident
parent company.

3.173 Corporations primarily involved in the opera-

tion of electronic payment mechanisms are classified
as financial auxiliaries if they can be separately identi-

fied as institutional units, are primarily engaged in this
specialized activity, and do not incur liabilities against
the electronic payment instruments. If they incur lia-
bilities against the issuance of electronic money, they
are included in the ODCs subsector (if the electronic
money is included in broad money).

3.174 Third-party payment processors, which provide
banks with a payment platform, are classified as finan-
cial auxiliaries. Examples include online payment cor-
porations, prepaid card corporations, and financial
payment corporations.

3.175 Supervisory agencies and regulatory bodies that
regulate or supervise FCs are sectored as financial aux-
iliaries if they are separate institutional units, even if
they are agencies affiliated with the government. When
the regulation is exercised by the central bank through
one of its departments, such regulatory activities are
subsumed within the central bank. Regulatory bodies
may become involved in extending emergency credits,

or acquiring assets and liabilities of FCs during bank-
ruptcies or reorganizations. When holdings of financial
assets and liabilities become substantial and the unit
engages in financial intermediation, it should be reclas-
sified as other financial intermediary except ICPFs.

3.176 Managers of pension funds and of mutual funds
are responsible for implementing the fund’s invest-

ment strategy and managing the trading of the port-
folio. They are paid a fee for their services, which is
usually a percentage of the fund’s average assets under
management. The fund’s managers are allocated to the
financial auxiliaries subsectors; the funds they man-
age are sectored either as MMFs, non-MMF invest-
ment funds, or pension funds.

3.177 Head offices of FCs that are engaged principally
in controlling FCs or groups of FCs, but that do not
themselves conduct financial intermediation are sec-
tored as financial auxiliaries. They are classified as
financial auxiliaries only if all or most of their subsid-
iaries are FCs; otherwise they are allocated to the NFCs
sector.

3.178 Solicitor nominee companies are bare trusts
that receive funds from private sources for lending
secured by property. The nominee company holds the
asset in its own name, but on behalf of the investors,
who are the beneficial owners of the loan.

3.179 Peer-to-peer lending companies facilitate the

lending of money from individuals and other lenders
to unrelated individuals or small businesses (“peers”),
circumventing traditional financial intermediaries.
The loans are for relatively small amounts, and made
mostly to individuals for consumption or credit refi-
nancing. Peer-to-peer lending companies operate
online by matching individual investors and other
lenders with borrowers. They are classified as finan-
cial auxiliaries. Their main source of income is the
fees collected from borrowers and lenders. Using sev-
eral credit checking tools they are able to assign dif-
ferentiated risk ratings to potential borrowers and so
set customized interest rates. The interest rate is lower
than for similar loans provided by banks because
of the lower overhead costs of peer-to-peer lending
companies, but the lenders receive a yield significantly
higher than for a deposit. Nonetheless, the loans are
generally unsecured and the lenders bear the default
risk. Peer-to-peer lending companies typically assume
no liability or risk for the loans being made, although



sometimes they also use own funds for lending. If the
latter is the case, they act as financial intermediaries
and should be classified as other financial intermedi-
aries except ICPFs.

3.180 Credit rating agencies assess the creditworthi-
ness of an issuer of debt securities with regard to its
financial obligations. They evaluate the issuer’s overall
financial capacity and willingness to make scheduled
payments on a specific issue.

Captive financial institutions and

money lenders [S127]

3.181 Captive financial institutions and money lend-
ers consist of institutional units providing financial
services other than insurance where most of either
their assets or liabilities are not transacted on open
financial markets. They include entities transacting
within only a limited group of units or subsidiaries of
the same holding corporation, or entities that extend
loans from own funds provided by only one sponsor.

3.182 Captive financial institutions are corporate sub-
sidiaries that act as financial agents for their parent
corporations, raising funds for lending to their parent
corporations or for purchase of parent corporations’
accounts receivables. Captive financial institutions are
sometimes operated by deposit-taking corporations
for engaging in specialized activities or for regulatory
reasons. If they do not qualify to be treated as units
separate from their parent corporations, they are sub-
sumed within the balance sheets of the parent corpora-
tions unless they are resident in an economy different
from that where the parent is resident. They are classi-
fied in the OFCs subsector if they qualify to be treated
as separate institutional units. Captive insurance com-
panies and pension funds that serve their owners are
not included in this subsector, but classified as insur-
ance corporations or pension funds, respectively.

3.183 Holding companies are units that hold the
assets of a group of subsidiary corporations as their
principal activity, and do not provide any other ser-
vice to the enterprises in which the equity is held (i.e.,
they do not administer or manage other units). Hold-
ing companies are always allocated to the FCs sector
and treated as captive financial institutions, even if all
the subsidiary corporations are NFCs.

3.184 Trusts are arrangements that provide for legal
control of financial assets and liabilities and specify
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the use of the portfolio holdings and the income gen-
erated thereby.” Personal trusts control portfolios of
assets owned by individuals, and assets within per-
sonal trusts are treated as part of the direct holdings
of the households that control the trust. Similarly,
many pension funds are organized as trusts. In gen-
eral, trusts are not recognized as separate institutional
units and are consolidated within the units that con-
trol or benefit from them. Only in two circumstances
are trusts treated as separate institutional units, that
is, as quasi-corporations: (1) if they are constituted in
a different economy to that of any of the beneficia-
ries; or (2) otherwise satisty the definition of a quasi-
corporation. For instance, trusts established for some
types of financial intermediation (e.g., securitization,
collateralized security issuance, investment pooling)
may be recognized as separate units if (1) they act like
financial intermediaries, and (2) no other unit can
reasonably be considered as controlling the portfolio.
Data on trusts administered by DCs that are located in
the same economy as their parent should be reported
together with the accounts of the parent corporations.

3.185 Classified in this subsector are also units that
provide financial services exclusively with own funds,
or funds provided by a sponsor, to a range of clients
and incur the financial risk of the debtor defaulting.
The following units are included here, provided that
they qualify as quasi-corporations: (1) money lend-
ers (persons or groups) that offer small personal loans
at a high rate of interest; (2) corporations engaged in
lending (e.g., student loans, import and export loans)
from funds received from a sponsor such as a govern-
ment unit or an NPI; and (3) pawnshops or pawnbro-
kers that extend loans to individuals who use personal
property as collateral.

3.186 Special purpose entities that qualify as separate
institutional units and raise funds in open markets
to be used by their parent corporation are classified
as captive financial institutions. In this regard, it is
essential to establish whether the SPE has a full set of
accounts and is acting as a financial intermediary, such

that it bears financial risk; otherwise its accounts are
consolidated with those of its parent, if resident in the
same economy. Accounts that SPEs hold at financial
institutions should be classified in the same sector as
their parent units if the SPE is not treated as a separate

*! See also BPM6, paragraph 4.48.
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corporation. An SPE established in a different econ-
omy to its parent is always treated as a separate unit
and sectored as other financial intermediaries except
ICPFs in the economy in which it is incorporated.

3.187 Sovereign wealth funds (SWFs) are created and
owned by the general government to hold, manage,
or administer assets to achieve financial objectives.
They employ a set of investment strategies, which
include investing in foreign financial assets. The
funds are commonly established out of balance of
payments surpluses, official foreign currency opera-
tions, privatization proceeds, fiscal surpluses, and/
or receipts resulting from natural resources or com-
modity exports. The establishment of an SWF thus
raises the issue of whether it is a separate institutional
unit of the OFCs subsector or part of the general gov-
ernment. As with SPEs, the decision will depend on
whether the SWF actively manages its portfolio and
provides financial services on a market basis to gov-
ernment or simply acts as a passive holder of the gov-
ernment’s assets.

3.188 Sometimes, the SWF engages the central bank
as an agent to handle its transactions in foreign assets,
but retains all investment decisions and the risks
and rewards associated with them. In such cases, the
accounts of the SWF should be kept by the central
bank off balance sheet. On other occasions, the SWEF
constitutes deposits with the central bank, which rep-
resent the value of the fund, with the central bank
bearing all risks and rewards associated with man-
aging those assets. In such cases, the deposits of the
SWE are recorded by the central bank on its balance
sheet as a liability to the SWF, and the corresponding
assets are recorded as part of total central bank assets.

3.189 If the SWF is an entity incorporated abroad or
a quasi-corporation located abroad, it is treated as a
separate institutional unit in the OFCs sector of the
economy in which the entity is legally incorporated
or domiciled.

Insurance corporations [S128]

3.190 Insurance corporations consist of incorporated,
mutual, and other entities whose principal function
is to provide life, accident, sickness, fire, or other
forms of coverage to individual institutional units
or groups of units, or reinsurance services to other
insurance corporations. Captive insurances, which

are insurance companies that serve only their owners,
and reinsurance corporations are also included in this
subsector. Insurance corporations may also operate
pension plans, as indicated in the next section.

3.191 Life insurance corporations invest premiums
to build up portfolios of financial assets to be used to
meet future claims of policyholders, spreading risks
of the policyholders over time. Non-life insurance
corporations provide financial benefits to policy-
holders in the event of accidents, fire, property loss,
health-related expenses, etc., spreading current risk
or expenses among clients. Some individual insurance

corporations sell both life and non-life insurance,
in which case they are called composite insurance
companies.

3.192 Some corporations create captive insurance
subsidiaries to handle their insurance needs. Captives
are units separate from their parents and are included
in this subsector. Captives collect premiums from
their parent corporation, then reinsure themselves, or
invest their assets to build up reserves against future
claims of the parent corporation.

3.193 Reinsurance corporations insure the insurance

policies written by other insurance corporations in
exchange for insurance premiums. Insurance cor-
porations purchase reinsurance to offset policy risk,
thereby capping the net loss incurred if the insured
event occurs.

3.194 Financial guarantee corporations, including
national deposit guarantee schemes and similar deposit

protection arrangements, insure customers against
financial loss on specific securities or other contracts,
or against losses from the collapse of financial insti-
tutions. Deposit insurers, issuers of deposit guaran-
tees, and other issuers of standardized guarantees
that are separate institutional units and function like
insurers by constituting reserves and charging premi-
ums proportional to the cost of the service provided,
are sectored as insurance corporations. Very often,
guarantees on financial instruments are provided by
banks, securities brokers, and other financial interme-
diaries as secondary activities and so are treated as an
integral part of these institutional units.

3.195 A financial protection scheme may be classified
as part of the general government, as a public FC, or
a private FC outside the public sector according to
the same sectoring principles that apply to any other



entity. A resident financial protection scheme may
satisfy the criteria to be an institutional unit or not. If
it is not an institutional unit, it is treated as an integral
part of the institutional unit that controls it. Where
fees for such financial protection schemes are set by
government, or when the government or a public
corporation has control over the protection scheme
through other means, the scheme is to be classified
as a public financial (insurance) corporation, if it is a
separate institutional unit. A protection scheme will be
part of the general government sector if: (1) fees pay-
able to the government for such a protection scheme
are compulsory, that is, if beneficiaries cannot opt out
of the scheme; (2) fees are clearly out of proportion to
the service provided (fees are not determined based
on the associated risks covered); and (3) fees pay-
able to the government are not set aside in a fund, or
can be used for other purposes (see also GFSM 2014,
paragraph 2.135).

Pension funds [S129]

3.196 The pension funds subsector consists of auton-
omous pension funds that are established to provide
retirement benefits for specific groups of individuals.
These pension funds have their own separate sets of
pension-fund assets and liabilities, with specific obli-
gations to their contributors. Pension schemes can
be established on a voluntary basis, or they can be
compulsory with mandated contributions from the
employee, employer, or both. Pension schemes may
be administered by a separately constituted pension
fund, or a fund that is operated by the employer. Gov-
ernments also sometimes organize pension schemes
for their employees, which are independent of the
social security system.

3.197 Autonomous pension funds are separate funds
(i.e., separate institutional units) established for pur-
poses of providing incomes on retirement for spe-
cific groups of employees that are organized, and
directed, by private or public employers or jointly by
the employers and their employees. Nonautonomous
pension funds are not separate institutional units and
are therefore not separated from the entity who has
organized them, and so their assets and liabilities are
reflected in the accounts of that entity.

3.198 Pension schemes may be funded or unfunded.
Funded pension schemes have separate pools of

financial assets, or reserves, assigned for the payment
of benefits. Unfunded pension schemes are adminis-
tered by employers or the government, who do not
create specific pension-fund reserves for the payment
of benefits. By definition, unfunded pension schemes
have no separated pool of assets and are not a sepa-
rate institutional unit from the administrator of the
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scheme.

3.199 There are three types of funded pension
schemes: (1) those operated by insurance corporations,
(2) those operated as autonomous pension funds, and
(3) those operated as nonautonomous pension funds.
If funded, all three types of pension funds will hold
reserves dedicated to the payment of pensions and
other retirement benefits to the policyholders or other
beneficiaries.

3.200 Depending on how the benefits are determined,
pension plans may operate as defined benefit plans or
defined contribution plans. Under a defined benefit
plan, the future retirement benefits are determined by
an actuarial formula related to participants’ length of
service and salaries, expected retirement ages, mortal-
ity rates, etc. Under a defined contribution plan, the
benefits to be received by a participant are based on
the participant’s contributions to the pension fund
and the investment performance of the fund.

3.201 Excluded from the pension fund subsector
are nonautonomous pension funds managed by the
employer, government-sponsored pension schemes
funded through social security schemes (pay-as-you-
go schemes), and arrangements organized by non-
government employers for which the reserves of the
fund are simply included among the employer’s own
resources or are invested in securities issued by that
employer. A nonautonomous pension fund is not a
separate unit, and the assets of the fund belong to the
employer. All assets, liabilities, transactions, and other
flows of nonautonomous pension funds are consoli-
dated in the accounts of the employer who operates
the scheme.

B. Nonfinancial Corporations [S11]

3.202 The NFCs sector encompasses corporations and
quasi-corporations whose principal activity is the
production of market goods or nonfinancial services.

3.203 The NFCs sector is composed of the follow-
ing resident institutional units: (1) all resident NFCs,
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regardless of the residence of their shareholders;
(2) the branches of nonresident enterprises that are
engaged in nonfinancial production in the economic
territory on a long-term basis; and (3) all resident
NPIs that are market producers of goods or nonfinan-
cial services.

3.204 Some NFCs or quasi-corporations may have sec-
ondary financial activities—for example, producers
or retailers of goods that provide consumer credit
directly to their customers. Such corporations are
classified as belonging entirely to the NFCs sector,
provided that their main activities are nonfinancial.

3.205 Two classification criteria are used in the 2008
SNA to subsector the NFCs. One criterion is to show
NPIs separately from other units in the sector. Units
other than NPIs may be described as for-profit institu-
tions. The second criterion is that of control, to show:
(1) PNECs, (2) national private NFCs, and (3) foreign-
controlled NFCs. For monetary statistics, the resident
NFCs sector is split into only two subsectors—PNFCs
and other NFCs.

3.206 The criteria for control of corporations and NPIs
by government and nonresident units are described
in the subsection Legal or social entities (see para-
graphs 3.11-3.12). NFCs controlled by government are
described as PNFCs, while NFCs controlled by nonresi-
dents are described as being foreign-controlled.

Public nonfinancial corporations

3.207 PNFCs consist of resident NFCs and quasi-
corporations that are subject to control by government
units, another public corporation, or some combina-
tion of government units and public corporations (see
the definition in paragraph 3.25). To be classified as
a PNFC, rather than as a government unit, a corpo-
ration must be a market producer of goods or nonfi-
nancial services (i.e., charge economically significant
prices as defined in paragraph 3.42).%

3.208 In practice, it may be difficult to determine
whether the prices charged are economically signifi-
cant. Although there is no prescriptive numerical rela-
tionship between the value of sales (excluding taxes
and subsidies) and the production costs, one would
expect the value of the sales by PNFCs to average at

22 Paragraphs 2.104 through 2.121 of the GFSM 2014 discuss the
public corporations subsector in detail.

least half of the production costs over a sustained
multiyear period.

3.209 For instance, public railway and urban trans-
portation systems may generate losses in a particular
period, but when the fares for their service are high
enough to cover at least half of the productions costs
of the corporation and influence the public’s decisions
to use or not use the system, they can be regarded as
economically significant prices. However, some gov-
ernment services may be provided for nominal fees
that are so low that the fees do not ration the use of the
facilities and do not produce enough revenue to con-
tribute significantly to the financing of the operations,
in which case the unit should be classified as part of
general government.

3.210 A government-controlled publishing office that
is an institutional unit and sells its publications at
prices that cover at least half of its production costs
should be classified as a PNFC. However, a national
statistical office will be considered part of the central
government, even if its publications are sold to the
general public, because this activity produces only
modest revenue.

3.211 The distinction between market and nonmar-
ket producers should be made on a case-by-case basis.
Once a government-controlled unit is classified as
a market—or a nonmarket—producer, it should be
reclassified only if a change in pricing holds for several
years or is expected to hold for several years. Market
producers that do not satisfy the requirements to be
recognized as separate institutional units are integrated
with the general government unit that controls them.

3.212 A government-controlled entity undertaking
only ancillary activities, such as transportation, clean-
ing, or maintenance services to other government units
does not satisty the criteria to be an institutional unit
and will be classified as part of general government.

3.213 For a market producer corporation (or quasi-
corporation) controlled by government to exist and
be classified as a public corporation, the government
must allow considerable discretion with respect to the
management of production and the use of funds. The
corporation must be able to maintain its own working
capital and finance some or all of its capital formation,
either from own resources or by borrowing. The abil-
ity to distinguish flows of income and capital between
a corporation and the government unit that owns it



implies that the operating and financing activities of
the corporation are not fully integrated with the par-
ent unit’s corresponding activities, even if the corpo-
ration is not a separate legal entity.

3.214 It is important to distinguish between public
and private NFCs, and between government units and
units that are PNFCs. The starting point in achieving a
proper subsectoring should be the development of an
official and comprehensive list of institutional units
belonging to the PNFCs subsector. This list should
be distributed to the central bank, ODCs, and OFCs,
to ensure a uniform subsectoring of these units. The
list should be periodically reviewed and updated.
Some countries have introduced an identification
code (linked to the tax system) for each institutional
unit, which would lead to inclusion of each unit in its
appropriate sector/subsector.

Other nonfinancial corporations

3.215 Other NFCs include all resident NFCs that are
not controlled by government. Within this category,
the 2008 SNA (but not this Manual) distinguishes
national private NFCs from foreign-controlled NFCs.
For monetary statistics, the national private and for-
eign-controlled NFCs are combined into the category
of Other NFCs.

National private nonfinancial corporations

3.216 National private NFCs include all resident NFCs
that are not controlled by government or by nonresident
institutional units.

3.217 Some private NFCs may produce goods or
services for the government (that is, public goods or
public services) or goods or services for which pro-
duction is subsidized by the government. Even if the
goods or services are not being produced for the mar-
ket, corporations that produce the goods or services
and charge economically significant prices should be
classified as private NFCs.

3.218 This subsector also includes NPIs that produce
goods or nonfinancial services for the market, such as
units engaged in providing education or health services
on a fee basis, or trade associations serving enterprises.

Foreign-controlled nonfinancial corporations

3.219 Foreign-controlled NFCs comprise all resident
NECs that are controlled by nonresidents. The clas-

sification is based on majority control (more than 50
percent of the shares) and is therefore not identical
to the balance of payments concept of direct invest-
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ment enterprises, which includes associated firms
(those with 10-50 percent ownership by nonresi-
dents). In other words, all foreign-controlled corpo-
rations are foreign direct-investment enterprises by
definition, but not all direct investment enterprises
may be foreign-controlled.” This subsector includes:
(1) subsidiaries (but not associates) of nonresident
corporations; (2) corporations controlled by a foreign
government, or by a group of nonresident units acting
in concert; and (3) branches or other unincorporated
entities controlled by nonresidents that engage in sig-
nificant amounts of production in the economic terri-
tory on a long-term basis and therefore are treated as
resident quasi-corporations.

Unincorporated enterprises within households

3.220 Household unincorporated market enterprises
are created for the purpose of producing goods or ser-
vices for sale or barter on the market. They can engage
in any kind of productive activity and can range from
individuals working as street vendors with no capital
or premises of their own, to manufacturing, construc-
tion, or service enterprises with several employees.
These enterprises also include unincorporated part-
nerships in which the partners belong to different
households.

3.221 Unincorporated enterprises within households
that are not quasi-corporations are not separate insti-
tutional units from their owners and are classified as
part of the household sector. However, if these unin-
corporated enterprises have their own sets of accounts
independent of the households, their assets are sepa-
rable from those of the owners, and their owners do
not bear unlimited liability for the debts of the enter-
prise, they are treated as quasi-corporations and are
classified in the nonfinancial corporations sector (see
2008 SNA, paragraphs 4.155-4.157).

C. General Government [S13]

3.222 Government units are unique kinds of legal
entities established by political process that have leg-
islative, judicial, or executive authority over other

»For example, a foreign direct investment enterprise may be a
government-controlled corporation with 10 percent of equity
owned by a nonresident (2008 SNA, paragraph 4.82).
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institutional units within a given area. The principal
functions of government units are to assume respon-
sibility for the provision of goods and services to the
community or individual households primarily on a
nonmarket basis, to redistribute income and wealth
by means of transfers, engage in nonmarket produc-
tion, and to finance their activities out of taxation or
other compulsory transfers.

3.223 The general government sector consists of resi-
dent institutional units that fulfill the functions of
government as their primary activity. The general
government sector comprises all government units of
central, state, provincial, regional and local govern-
ment, and social security funds, as well as all resident
nonmarket NPIs controlled by government units.
Depending on the administrative and legal arrange-
ments, more than one level of government exists
within a country, but not all countries have all levels
of government. The 2008 SNA and the GFSM 2014
provide two principal methods for delineating the
subsectors of general government. The first method
divides general government into: (1) central govern-
ment, (2) state governments, (3) local governments,
and (4) social security funds. The second method,
which is the recommended method in this Manual,
subsumes the social security funds within the gen-
eral government subsectors—central, state, or local
government—in which the social security funds oper-
ate, so classifying the deposits of the social security
fund by level of government.

3.224 A government unit is not limited to a specific
geographic location, given that ministries and gov-
ernment departments may be dispersed throughout
a country, and branch offices and agencies may be
maintained in various locations. Despite their sepa-
rate locations, these government offices are part of the
same institutional unit.

Central government [S1321]

3.225 The political authority of a central government
extends over the territory of the country. The central
government has the authority to impose taxes on all
resident and nonresident units engaged in economic
activities within the country.

3.226 The central government is a large and complex
subsector. It is composed of a central group of depart-
ments or ministries, plus autonomous units under the

authority of the central government. The departments
(or ministries) are sometimes deliberately dispersed
throughout the country, but they nevertheless remain
part of the central government. Similarly, if the cen-
tral government maintains branch offices or agencies
in different parts of the country to meet local needs,
including military bases or installations that serve
national defense purposes, these must also be counted
as part of the central government. For instance, a min-
istry of health may maintain a network of hospitals in
different parts of the country. In this case, the accounts
of the hospitals are classified as part of central govern-
ment, rather than treated as part of local government.

3.227 Central government entities such as health or
education ministries may establish hospitals, schools,
universities, etc., for the provision of general public
services that are offered free of charge or require pay-
ment of fees that are not economically significant. If
these units are not separate institutional units, their
accounts are an integral part of the central government
accounts. Even where a separate institutional unit can
be identified, if the unit is a nonmarket producer, its
accounts should be consolidated with the central gov-
ernment accounts, as extrabudgetary units. The same
principles apply for such units established by state and
local government entities.

3.228 If entities such as hospitals and schools are sep-
arate institutional units under the control of govern-
ment, and they charge economically significant prices
for their services, they are considered to be market
producers and their accounts are included in the pub-
lic nonfinancial corporations subsector.

3.229 Compilers need to be provided with a compre-
hensive list of agencies and other entities that belong
to the central government (as well as lists of entities
within state and local government), based on the defi-
nitions of this Manual and other statistical manuals.
Responsibility for providing this list should reside
with a single government agency such as the minis-
try of finance or the general accounting office. The list
should be periodically reviewed and updated.

3.230 In some countries, the central government may
include units that engage in financial activities that are
undertaken by central banks in other countries, such as
issuance of currency, holding of international reserves
and operation of exchange stabilization funds, and/
or a financial relationship with the IME. When such



units remain financially integrated with central gov-
ernment and under direct control and supervision of
central government, their activities are recorded in the
central government subsector. Nonetheless, analytic
importance is attached to compiling a single set of
accounts that cover all monetary authority functions
performed by the central bank and the central gov-
ernment, as explained in paragraph 3.115.

Nonmarket NPIs controlled by government

3.231 Nonmarket NPIs controlled by the central gov-
ernment should be classified as part of the central
government sector. Governments may choose to use
NPIs rather than government agencies to carry out
some government policies. Government NPIs take
the form of research and development institutes,
standard-setting agencies, environmental protection
agencies, etc.

3.232 A nonmarket NPI primarily financed by the cen-
tral government through the national budget should
be considered a central government agency, even if it
charges fees for its services or has a source of income
through the sale of its products. For instance, it is com-
mon for standard-setting agencies to charge for the
issuance of certificates of quality, or for research and
development institutes to copyright and sell their dis-
coveries. However, these proceeds are not their main
sources of income, and they continue to rely primarily
on government transfers to finance their activities.

Autonomous agencies

3.233 Within the central government sector are numer-
ous units created for special purposes that enjoy sub-
stantial administrative autonomy in terms of policy
setting and budget management. Central government
entities with individual budgets not fully covered by
the general budget are considered extrabudgetary.
Nevertheless, these should be classified as part of the
central government, because they are funded mainly
through the national budget.

3.234 Special agencies may have separate legal iden-
tity and discretion over the volume and composition
of their expenditures, and may have a direct source of
revenue in the form of earmarked taxes. Such agencies
are often established to carry out specific functions
such as road construction or the nonmarket produc-
tion of health or education services.

Institutional Units and Sectors @

3.235 Market regulatory agencies act on behalf of a
government (or a regional organization with govern-
ments as its members), and influence the market for
specific goods or services directly and/or indirectly.
The nature of these market regulatory agencies may
differ, and should be investigated to decide the sec-
tor classification. If the agencies merely distribute
subsidies, or have solely administrative, advisory, or
price setting functions, they should be classified in the
general government sector. Those agencies with prin-
cipal activity to buy, hold, and sell goods or services
at economically significant prices should be classified
in the nonfinancial public corporations sector. Those
market regulatory agencies that meet the definition of
an international or regional organization are classified

as residents of the rest of the world.

3.236 Sinking funds are separate accounts that may or
may not be institutional units. They are made up of seg-
regated contributions provided by the units that make
use of the funds (the “parent” units) for the gradual
redemption of the parent units’ debt. Sinking funds
may also be established to provide for major repairs
or replacements. Public sector sinking funds are clas-
sified to sectors according to whether they are sepa-
rate institutional units and, if so, whether they provide
their services at economically significant prices or
not. Sinking funds that are separate institutional units
and provide services as market producers are classi-
fied as public financial corporations. Sinking funds
that are separate institutional units and provide ser-
vices as nonmarket producers are classified as general
government units. Sinking funds that are not separate
institutional units are classified with the unit that con-
trols them.

3.237 Agencies that manage internationally financed
development projects, such as those financed by mul-

tilateral organizations (e.g., the World Bank) or donor
agencies (e.g., the United States Agency for Interna-
tional Development), usually have the power to hire
staff, acquire goods, and contract work for project
implementation. These resident agencies open spe-
cial accounts, either at central banks or at commer-
cial banks, for the project funds. These agencies enjoy
autonomy, but their expenditures are project-related.
They are usually classified as part of the central govern-
ment. The central government (generally the ministry
of finance or the ministry of development) negotiates
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the loans or grants with the international organiza-
tions and assumes the financial liability for the proj-
ect.” For analytical purposes, separate identification of
the government accounts related to projects financed
by international agencies is recommended.

3.238 National universities are a special case of units
providing nonmarket education services. Even if they
are incorporated into the ministry of education and
receive most of their funding through the national
budget, they enjoy a much greater degree of policy
and financial autonomy than primary or secondary
schools. If the universities are controlled by a central
government unit (e.g., the ministry of education) and
their main source of funding is the central govern-
ment, their accounts should be part of the central gov-
ernment accounts, even if the universities can freely
spend the funds provided by the central government.
If controlled at the state level, the university is part of
the state government subsector.

3.239 Political parties are usually part of the NPISHs
sector. In single-party states, the relationship between
the central government and the government party may
determine that the party should be classified within
the central government subsector.

Public-private partnerships

3.240 Public-private partnerships (PPPs) are long-
term contracts between two units, whereby one unit
acquires or builds an asset or set of assets, operates
it for a period, and then hands the asset over to a
second unit. Such arrangements are usually between
a private enterprise and government, but other com-
binations are possible, with a public corporation as
one of the parties or a private NPI as the second party.
These schemes are described variously as PPPs; pri-
vate finance initiatives (PFIs); build, own, operate,
transfer schemes (BOOTs); and so on.

3.241 A PPP arrangement may or may not result in
the creation of a separate institutional unit. When a
separate institutional unit is established as a result of
a PPP arrangement, its sector classification is deter-
mined by the economic nature of its activities, includ-

* In some cases, the loans or grants are extended to a lower level of
government. The funds may be deposited with a financial institution
that manages them. In this case, the accounts opened to administer
the projects are classified by the FC to the corresponding creditor
sector (such as central, state, or local government).

ing whether it is a market producer or not, and who
controls it. If the PPP is a market producer, it is clas-
sified as an NFC; whether it is a PNFC or other NFC
will depend on the control (whether it is controlled
by a government unit or a private corporation).”
If the PPP is a nonmarket producer controlled by a
government unit, it is classified as part of the general
government sector. Relevant for monetary statistics
compilers is the sectoring of FCs’ claims on and liabil-
ities to PPP units.

Special purpose entities of government

3.242 Governments may set up SPEs that may be
involved in fiscal or quasi-fiscal activities, such as
securitization of assets or borrowing. Resident SPEs
that function only in a passive manner relative to
general government and that carry out fiscal and
quasi-fiscal activities do not satisfy the criteria to be
institutional units and are therefore treated as part of
government, regardless of their legal status.

3.243 Resident SPEs acting independently, acquiring
assets and incurring liabilities on their own behalf,
and accepting the associated risk, are treated as
separate institutional units and classified to a sector
according to their principal activity.

3.244 SPEs that are resident in a different country
than their controlling government are always clas-
sified as separate institutional units in the economy
where they are established. A government may cre-
ate nonresident SPE to undertake government bor-
rowing or incur government outlays abroad for fiscal
purposes. Even if there are no actual flows recorded
between the government and the SPE related to these
fiscal activities, flows and stock positions should be
imputed in the accounts of both the government and
the rest of the world to reflect the fiscal activities of
the government undertaken by the SPE (see BPMG6,
paragraphs 8.24-8.26).

State, provincial, or regional

governments [S1322]

3.245 State, provincial, or regional governments exer-
cise some of the functions of government at a level
below that of central government and above that of

» For the statistical treatment of PPP arrangements, see Public
Sector Debt Statistics: Guide for Compilers and Users (2013), para-
graphs 4.123-4.126, and GFSM 2014, paragraphs A4.58-A4.65.



the local government level. This subsector consists
of state, provincial, or regional governments that
are separate institutional units plus those nonmar-
ket NPIs that are controlled by state, provincial, or
regional governments.

3.246 A state, province, or region is the largest geo-
graphical area into which a country may be divided
for political or administrative purposes. The legisla-
tive, judicial, and executive authority of a state gov-
ernment extends over the entire area of an individual
state, which usually includes numerous localities. The
autonomy, powers, and responsibilities of states vary
widely among countries, depending on their political
and historical circumstances. In some countries, indi-
vidual states do not exist.

3.247 A state government usually has the fiscal
authority to levy taxes on institutional units that are
resident in, or engage in economic activities or trans-
actions within, its area of jurisdiction. It must also
be entitled to spend or allocate some, or possibly all,
of the taxes or other revenue that it receives accord-
ing to its own policies, although some of the trans-
fers it receives from central government may be tied
to certain specific purposes. It should also be able to
appoint its own officers, independently of external
administrative control. If a regional unit is entirely
dependent on funds from central government, and if
the central government also determines the ways in
which these funds are to be spent, for statistical pur-
poses the unit should be treated as an agency of the
central government rather than as a separate level of
government.

3.248 The principal departments and ministries of a
state government will constitute a single institutional
unit similar to the core unit of the central govern-
ment. In addition, there may be agencies that oper-
ate under the authority of a state government and
have separate legal identity and enough autonomy
to form additional institutional units. The same
considerations that apply to the central government
regarding nonmarket NPIs, autonomous agencies,
and SPEs are applicable to determination of whether
these units are part of the state government subsec-
tor or some other sector. State governments may
own or control corporations or have other units that
engage in market production and are classified as
quasi-corporations.

Institutional Units and Sectors @

3.249 The authority over some institutional units
may be shared by two or more states. Such units are
included in the state government subsector.

Local governments [S1323]

3.250 The local government subsector consists of
local governments that are separate institutional units
plus those nonmarket NPIs that are controlled by
local governments. The legislative, judicial, and exec-
utive authority of local government units is restricted
to the smallest geographic areas distinguished for
administrative and political purposes. The scope of
their authority is less than that of the central or state
governments, and such governments may or may not
be entitled to levy taxes on institutional units or eco-
nomic activities in their areas.

3.251 Typical sources of revenue for local govern-
ment are taxes on real estate and automobiles and fees
for collective services (e.g., trash collection). Local
governments are typically dependent on grants and
transfers from higher levels of government. In some
countries, local governments are able to raise funds
by issuing bonds. Local governments are entitled to
own assets, raise funds, and incur liabilities on their
own account and must also have some discretion over
their expenditures and should be able to appoint their
own officers independent of external administrative
controls.

3.252 The principles for classifying units at the central
and state government level also apply to the local gov-
ernment subsector. Units that satisfy the criteria to be
a quasi-corporation should be classified in the NFCs
sector if the services are supplied on a market basis.
Units supplying services on a nonmarket basis remain
an integral part of the local government unit to which
they belong.

3.253 Statistics for local government may cover a
wide variety of governmental units, such as counties,
municipalities, cities, towns, townships, boroughs,
school districts, and water sanitation districts. Local
government units with different functional respon-
sibilities often have authority in the same geographic
area. For example, separate government units repre-
senting a town, a county, and a school district may have
authority over the same areas. Two or more contigu-
ous local governments may jointly organize a govern-
ment unit with regional authority that is accountable
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to the local governments. Such units should also be
included in the local government subsector.

3.254 Government units serving both a state and one
or more local governments are included at the level
of government that accounts for the largest share of
their operations and financing. In some countries,
other levels of government exist between the cen-
tral government and the lower levels of government.
These intermediate levels of government are grouped
together with the level of government, either state or
local, with which they are most closely associated.

Social security funds

3.255 A social security fund is a particular kind of
government unit that is devoted to the operation of
one or more social security schemes. Social security
funds can be found at all government levels (central,
regional, local). To be treated as independent insti-
tutional units, they must be organized and managed
separately from the other activities of the government,
hold their assets and liabilities separately, and engage
in financial transactions on their own account.

3.256 Social protection schemes are systematic gov-
ernment interventions intended to relieve households
and individuals of the burden of a defined set of social
risks.?® Typical social risks covered by these schemes
are: (1) old age, (2) invalidity, (3) death, (4) sickness
and maternity, (5) work injury, and (6) unemploy-
ment. The government often provides the relief in
the form of social benefits, which are transfer pay-
ments (in cash or in kind) provided in a collective
arrangement. These benefits are provided through
social security schemes that cover the community as
a whole, or large sections of the community, and gen-
erally require formal participation by beneficiaries,
evidenced by compulsory contributions by employees
and/or employers. The terms under which benefits are
paid to recipients are determined by the government.

3.257 Social security funds can be very large and play
an important role in government policies and the
mobilization of financial resources of the entire com-
munity. Because the government can vary social secu-
rity benefits as part of its overall economic policy, no
liabilities are associated with social security schemes.
In some countries, social security funds may become

% For a description of different organizational structures to pro-
vide social protection, see GFSM 2014, Appendix 2.

so closely integrated with the other finances of the
government as to bring into question whether they
should be treated as a separate subsector of the general
government. Even if they are separately constituted,
this Manual recommends combining the accounts of
social security funds with the level of government at
which they operate.

3.258 Social security funds are distinguished from
autonomous pension schemes provided by employ-
ers, which offer benefits linked to employment. These
schemes, operated privately or by the government, are
included in the OFCs sector.

D. Households [S14]

3.259 A household is defined in paragraph 3.7. In gen-
eral, each member of a household should have some
claim upon the collective resources of the household.
Unattached individuals are also considered house-
holds.

3.260 Households often coincide with families.
Nonetheless, a household may be of any size and
take a wide variety of different forms in different
societies or cultures, depending on tradition, reli-
gion, climate, geography, and other socioeconomic
factors. Most relevant is that among members of the
same household there is sharing of resources and
consumption.

3.261 Domestic staff that live on the same premises
as their employer do not form part of their employer’s
household, even though they may be provided with
accommodation and meals as remuneration in kind.
They have no claims upon the collective resources of
their employer’s households, and the accommodation
and food they consume are not included with their
employer’s consumption. They should be treated as
belonging to a separate household.

3.262 Households can also be institutional house-
holds. These comprise groups of persons who are
expected to reside in institutions for long, or indefi-
nite, periods of time and are treated as belonging to
a single household if they have little or no autonomy
of decision making or action in economic matters.
Some examples of persons belonging to institutional
households are: (1) members of religious orders liv-
ing in monasteries, convents, or similar institutions;
(2) long-term patients in hospitals, including mental
hospitals; (3) prisoners serving long sentences; and



(4) persons living permanently in nursing or retire-
ment homes.

Households as producers

3.263 Households may engage in various kinds of eco-
nomic activity, not merely consumption. Members of
households play a major role in production through
the operation of their own unincorporated enterprises
(often referred to as “sole proprietors”) or through the
supplying of labor as employees of unincorporated or
corporate enterprises.

3.264 Households' unincorporated enterprises may
produce for the market or for their own final use. Some
household enterprises are created solely for the purpose
of producing goods or services for sale or barter on the
market. Other household enterprises operate primarily
for production of goods or services for own final use,
such as the activities of subsistence farmers, and house-
holds engaged in the construction of their own dwellings.

3.265 Household unincorporated enterprises also
include unincorporated partnerships that are engaged
in producing goods or services for sale or barter on the
market. The partners may belong to different house-
holds. When the liability of the partners for the debts
of the enterprises is unlimited, the partnerships must
be treated as unincorporated enterprises and remain
within the household sector because all the assets of
the household, including the dwelling itself, are at risk
if the enterprise goes bankrupt.

3.266 Unincorporated enterprises owned by house-
holds and engaged in market production are classi-
fied in the household sector. However, if it is possible
to separate all assets of the enterprise—including
financial assets down to the level of cash—from
those belonging to the household as consumer, these
enterprises qualify as quasi-corporations and they
are included in the NFCs sector. Similarly, unincor-
porated partnerships with many partners, such as
some large legal, accounting, or architectural firms
are likely to behave like corporations and should be
treated as quasi-corporations assuming a complete set
of accounts is available for the partnerships.

Institutional Units and Sectors

E. Nonprofit Institutions Serving
Households [S15]

3.267 NPIs are allocated to the financial or NFCs sec-
tor when they engage in market production, or to
the general government sector if they are controlled
by government, resident in the same economy, and
engaged in nonmarket production. NPIs are non-
market producers if they provide goods or services to
their members, other households, or the community
as a whole, either free or at prices (or fees) that are not
economically significant. Nonmarket NPIs that are
not financed and are not controlled by government
units are called NPISHs and constitute a separate
institutional sector.

3.268 NPISHs are mainly financed from contribu-
tions, subscriptions from members, donations, trans-
fers, and earnings on their holdings of financial and
nonfinancial assets. The NPISHs sector includes two
major categories: (1) trade unions, professional or
learned societies, consumers’ associations, political
parties (except in single-party states), churches or
religious societies (including those financed by the
government), and social, cultural, recreational, and
sports clubs; and (2) charities and relief or aid organi-
zations financed by voluntary transfers (in cash or in
kind) from other institutional units.

3.269 Compilers may need to consider borderline
cases or misleading designations in deciding whether
a unit should be classified as a NPISHs or an NFC. For
example, recreational and sports clubs are classified as
NPISHs if they are not-for-profit and are organized
as civil associations. However, sports clubs that are
organized as private enterprises are classified in the
NEFCs sector. Professional associations can be border-
line cases for which it is necessary to determine if they
serve households (and therefore are NPISHs) or serve
corporations.

3.270 For monetary statistics, households and NPISHs
are combined in the category of Households and NPISHs.
It is recommended that compilers identify a memoran-
dum item ‘of which: households” for loans to and depos-
its of households.






and Liabilities

l. Introduction

4.1 This chapter describes the principal characteris-
tics of financial assets and liabilities, and their clas-
sification by type of financial instrument within the
framework of monetary and financial statistics. The
recommended classification at its highest level follows
that of the System of National Accounts 2008 (2008
SNA). This chapter also includes three annexes: Annex
4.1 presents examples of debt securities issued through
securitization; Annex 4.2 deals with the recommended
treatment of accounts with the IMF in monetary statis-
tics; while Annex 4.3 discusses topics related to Islamic
financial institutions and instruments.

4.2 Financial instruments comprise the full range of
financial contracts made between institutional units.
Financial instruments include financial assets and
other financial instruments. Financial assets have
demonstrable value. Other financial instruments
(e.g., financial guarantees, lines of credit, or loan
commitments) are contingent or conditional upon
the occurrence of uncertain future events. They are
outside the financial assets boundary and therefore
not included in the monetary and financial statistics
(see paragraphs 4.220-4.221).

Il. Financial Assets and Liabilities

A. Definition of Financial Assets
and Liabilities

4.3 An asset is a store of value, over which ownership
rights are enforced and from which their owners may
derive economic benefits by holding or using them
over a period of time. Financial assets are a subset of
economic assets that are financial instruments.

4.4 Most financial assets are financial claims arising
from contractual relationships entered into when one
institutional unit provides funds or other resources

Classification of Financial As's.ets

to another. These contracts are the basis of creditor/
debtor relationships through which asset owners
acquire unconditional claims on economic resources
of other institutional units. The creditor/debtor rela-
tionship provides asset and liability dimensions to a
financial instrument. From this a financial claim, and
hence a liability, can be defined. There are no nonfi-
nancial liabilities recognized in macroeconomic sta-
tistics; thus the term liability necessarily refers to a
liability that is financial in nature.!

4.5 A financial claim is an asset that typically entitles
the creditor to receive funds or other resources from
the debtor under the terms of a liability. Each claim
is a financial asset that has a corresponding liability.

4.6 A liability is established when one unit (the
debtor) is obliged, under specific circumstances, to
provide funds or other resources to another unit (the
creditor). Usually, a liability is established through a
legally binding contract that specifies the terms and
conditions of the payment(s) to be made and pay-
ment according to the contract is unconditional.

4.7 Financial assets consist of all financial claims,
including shares or other equity in corporations, plus
gold bullion held by monetary authorities as a reserve
asset. Equity is regarded as a claim; it represents a
claim of the owner on the residual value of the entity
after the claims of all creditors have been met. Gold
bullion included in monetary gold is considered to
be a financial asset because of its role as a means of
international payments and a store of value for use in
reserve assets.”

' In contrast, the International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) recognize nonfinancial liabilities under certain conditions.
2 Reserve assets are those external assets that are readily available
to and controlled by monetary authorities for meeting balance-of-
payments financing needs, for intervention in exchange markets to
affect the currency exchange rate, and for other related purposes
(such as maintaining confidence in the currency and the economy
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4.8 In this Manual, provisions for losses on assets
that are internal to the reporting institutional unit
are treated as liabilities and classified under Other
accounts payable [MS]. Such provisions are not
recorded in the 2008 SNA, except in the case of
expected losses on nonperforming loans, which
appear as memorandum items in the balance sheets.?

B. Legal and Economic Ownership

4.9 Two types of ownership can be distinguished in
macroeconomic statistics: legal ownership and eco-
nomic ownership. The legal owner of nonfinancial
and financial assets and liabilities is the institutional
unit entitled by law and sustainable under the law
to claim the associated benefits. The economic owner
of nonfinancial and financial assets and liabilities is
the institutional unit entitled to claim the benefits
associated with their use by virtue of accepting the
associated risks.

4.10 Every nonfinancial and financial asset and liabil-
ity has both a legal and an economic owner. In most
cases, the economic owner and the legal owner are the
same. Where they are not, the legal owner has passed
the risk involved in using the resource in an economic
activity to the economic owner as well as associated
benefits. In monetary and financial statistics, when
the expressions “holder(s),” “holding(s),” “ownership,”
or “owner” are used, and the legal and economic own-
ers are different, the reference should generally be
understood to be to the economic owner.

4.11 In general, a change in legal ownership also involves
a change in economic ownership. In some cases, how-
ever, a change of economic ownership takes place even
though the legal ownership remains unchanged (e.g.,
financial leases). In other cases, there is no change in
economic ownership, even though there is a change in
legal ownership (e.g., repurchase agreements).

lll. Classification of Financial Assets

and Liabilities

4.12 The classification scheme of the 2008 SNA is used
to classify financial assets and liabilities in this Man-
ual. This classification system is based primarily on:

and serving as a basis for foreign borrowing). (See the sixth edition
of the Balance of Payments and International Investment Position
Manual (BPM6), paragraph 6.63.)

? See 2008 SNA, paragraphs 3.41 and 13.66-13.68.

(1) the liquidity of the asset, which subsumes other
more specific characteristics such as negotiability,
transferability, marketability, or convertibility, as well
as divisibility; and (2) the legal characteristics that
describe the underlying creditor/debtor relationship.
Although not explicitly identified, these specific char-
acteristics of liquidity play a major role in determin-
ing the categories.

4.13 The financial asset and liability classification
facilitates the analysis of transactions and positions
between institutional units and serves as a frame-
work for assessing the sources and uses of financing
and degree of liquidity of these units. This classifica-
tion is intended to provide broad categories that allow
international comparability and the inclusion of new
instruments within the broad categories identified in
the 2008 SNA.

4.14 Table 4.1 shows the main categories of financial
assets for the compilation of monetary statistics, as
classified in the 2008 SNA.

A. Monetary Gold and SDRs

4.15 Monetary gold and Special Drawing Rights
(SDRs) are financial assets that are usually held only
by monetary authorities.

Monetary gold [F11]

4.16 Monetary gold is gold to which the monetary
authorities (or others who are subject to the effective
control of the monetary authorities) have title and
is held as a reserve asset.* It comprises gold bullion
(including gold held in allocated gold accounts) and
unallocated gold accounts with nonresidents that give
title to claim the delivery of gold. All monetary gold
is included in reserve assets or is held by international
financial institutions.

4.17 For gold bullion, there is no corresponding lia-
bility. Except in limited institutional circumstances
when reserve assets may be held by other institutions,
gold bullion can be a financial asset only for the cen-
tral bank or central government. Gold bullion takes
the form of coins, ingots, or bars with a purity of at
least 995 parts per thousand. Gold bullion holdings
that are not part of reserve assets are classified as non-
financial assets.

* See the definition of reserve assets in footnote 2 in this chapter.
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Table 4.1 Classification of Main Financial Assets

2008 SNA 1993 SNA'

Monetary gold and Special Drawing Rights [F1]?
Currency and deposits [F2]

Debt securities [F3]

Loans [F4]

Equity and investment fund shares [F5]

Insurance, pension, and standardized guarantee schemes [F6]

Financial derivatives and employee stock options (ESOs) [F7]

Other accounts receivable/payable [F8]

Monetary gold and Special Drawing Rights
Currency and deposits

Securities other than shares

Loans

Shares and other equities

Insurance technical reserves

Financial derivatives

Other accounts receivable/payable

Source: 2008 SNA, paragraphs A1.26 and A1.39, and 7993 SNA, Annex V.

" Classification of major financial assets in the 7993 SNA is shown for ease of reference. In the case of Insurance, pension, and stan-
dardized guarantee schemes and Financial derivatives and ESOs there is not a direct correspondence with the 7993 SNA categories.
2Square brackets indicate the 2008 SNA codes for transactions in financial assets and liabilities.

Note: 2008 SNA = System of National Accounts 2008; 1993 SNA = System of National Accounts 1993.

4.18 An allocated gold account provides ownership of
a specific piece of gold, whereas an unallocated gold
account does not give the holder the title to physical
gold but provides a claim against the account operator
to deliver gold (see also paragraph 4.44). Both allo-
cated and unallocated gold accounts can be opened by
any sector or subsector with a financial corporation
(FC) that offers such services.

4.19 Allocated gold accounts are classified as mon-
etary gold when held by monetary authorities (or
other units authorized by them) as reserve assets, or
as a nonfinancial asset when not held as reserve assets.
Unallocated gold accounts that give title to claim the
delivery of gold are classified as monetary gold when
held by monetary authorities (or other units autho-
rized by them) as reserve assets. Unallocated gold
account assets not held as reserve assets, and all unal-
located gold account liabilities, are classified as depos-
its in foreign currency. The same principle applies to
unallocated accounts for other precious metals.

4.20 Nonmonetary gold, which can be in the form of
bullion, gold powder, and gold in other unwrought or
semi-manufactured forms, or gold coins, may be held
as either a store of value or for industrial purposes. In
some cases, a central bank may own gold bullion that
is not held as a reserve asset and thus should be classi-
fied as nonmonetary gold.

Special Drawing Rights [F12]

4.21 SDRs are international reserve assets created
by the IMF and allocated to its members that are
SDR Department® participants (currently all IMF
member countries) to supplement existing official
reserves. SDRs are held by member countries (central
banks or central governments) that participate in the
SDR Department. Other holders of SDRs include the
IME, through the General Resources Account (GRA)
within the General Department, and international
organizations and monetary institutions prescribed by
the IME® SDRs are transferable among SDR Depart-
ment participants, prescribed holders, and the IMF
GRA.” SDR holdings represent assured and uncondi-
tional rights to obtain freely usable currency.

4.22 SDRs are assets representing claims on the SDR
Department participants collectively and not on the

° The SDR Department of the IMF, an accounting entity rather
than an organizational unit of the IMF, records and administers
all transactions and operations involving SDRs. The Articles of
Agreement require that the General and SDR Departments be kept
strictly separated. (See IMF Financial Operations.)

¢ See IMF Financial Operations, page 87.

7 The GRA refers to the principal account of the IMF, consisting
of a pool of currencies and reserve assets largely representing the
paid subscriptions of member countries’ quotas. The GRA is the
account from which the regular lending operations of the IMF
are financed (see paragraph 4.241 and IMF Financial Operations,
Chapter 2).
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IME. A holder of SDRs may sell some or all of its SDR
holdings to another participant or holder and receive
in return a freely usable currency.

4.23 SDR holdings and SDR allocations should be
recorded as gross assets and liabilities in the balance
sheet of the entity that under domestic law is responsi-
ble for a member’s SDR Department positions, usually
the central bank and in some cases the central govern-
ment. Therefore, allocations of SDRs increase claims on
nonresidents (reserve assets) and liabilities to nonresi-
dents (foreign liabilities), initially by the same amount.

4.24 SDR allocations are classified as debt liabilities
to nonresidents® because (1) interest is payable to the
SDR Department on the cumulative allocation, and
arrears arise if payments are not made on time;’ and
(2) a country would be required to repay its allocation
of SDRs in certain circumstances such as upon ter-
mination of its participation in the SDR Department,
cancellation of SDRs, or upon liquidation of the SDR
Department. Annex 4.2 provides more detailed dis-
cussion on IMF-related accounts and their treatment
in monetary and financial statistics.

B. Currency and Deposits
Currency [F21]

4.25 Currency consists of notes and coins that are of
fixed nominal values and are issued or authorized by
central banks or governments. Currency is divided
into domestic currency and foreign currency.

4.26 Domestic currency is the one that is legal tender
in the economy and is issued by the central bank or
government of that economy or of the common cur-
rency area to which the economy belongs. Any cur-
rencies that do not meet this definition are foreign
currencies to that economy, representing claims on
nonresident central banks or governments.

4.27 Some countries issue gold or precious metal
coins, which are held for their intrinsic value, or com-
memorative coins, which are held for their numismatic

# In the System of National Accounts 1993 (1993 SNA) and the fifth
edition of the Balance of Payments Manual (BPM5), SDR holdings
were classified as financial assets without a corresponding liability.
In the Monetary and Financial Statistics Manual, (MFSM), SDR
allocations were classified as Shares and other equity.

° Given that the rate of interest earned by members holding SDRs
is the same as the rate of interest owed by those with SDR alloca-
tions, no settlement payment is made if the levels of holdings and
allocations are equal for a member.

value. If not in active circulation, such coins should be
classified as nonfinancial assets rather than as finan-
cial assets. Those commemorative coins that differ
only slightly from the standard coins in circulation,
are issued at or near their face value, are fungible with
the standard coins in circulation, and for which the
issuing authority has a liability to redeem them, are
classified as currency (see also paragraph 6.25).

4.28 Central bank or central government holdings of
unissued currency are nonfinancial assets and are val-
ued at cost.

Deposits

4.29 Deposits are nonnegotiable contracts that rep-
resent the placement of funds available for later
withdrawal. A deposit is usually a standard contract,
open to the public at large, that allows the placement
of variable amounts of money. Deposits include all
claims that are (1) on the central bank, other deposi-
tory corporations (ODCs), other financial corpora-
tions (OFCs), and, in some cases, other institutional
units; and (2) represented by evidence of deposit. The
category of deposits comprises transferable deposits
and other deposits.

Transferable deposits [F22]

4.30 Transferable deposits comprise all deposits that
are (1) exchangeable for banknotes and coins on
demand at par and without penalty or restriction;
and (2) directly usable for making payments to third
parties by check, draft, giro order, direct debit/credit
or other direct payment facility.

4.31 Judgment must be applied in the national context
in deciding whether deposits with less-than-full trans-
ferability features should be classified as transferable
deposits because some types of deposits embody only
limited features of transferability. For example, some
deposits have restrictions such as on the number of
third-party payments that can be made per period
and/or on the minimum size of the individual third-
party payments. Usually, deposits with limited fea-
tures of transferability are excluded from the category
of transferable deposits and treated as other deposits.

Special cases

4.32 Cashier’s checks. A cashier’s check is a check pur-
chased by a depository corporation’s (DC) customer



and drawn on the own account of a DC. It is signed
by the DC’s cashier and is made payable to the party
specified by the purchaser of the check. Whether pur-
chased with currency or through deposit withdrawal,
a cashier’s check should be included within transfer-
able deposit liabilities of the DC on which it is written.
For deposit classification by sector, the bank check
should be attributed to the economic sector of the
purchaser of the check, rather than to the economic
sector of the recipient of the check.

4.33 Bank draft (or teller’s check). Less commonly, a
DC’s customer may purchase a bank draft (sometimes
called a teller’s check) that is a check or similar instru-
ment written by a DC against funds in its deposit
account at another DC. For a bank draft purchased by
one of its customers, a DC should record (1) a reduc-
tion in deposit liabilities, arising from a withdrawal
from the customer’s deposit holdings (or an increase
in the DC’s currency holdings, if the check was pur-
chased with cash); and (2) a reduction in its deposit
holdings at the DC on which the draft was written."
A bank draft (or teller’s check) should be included
within transferable deposit liabilities (and broad
money liabilities if the customer is a money holder),
of the DC on which it is written when the draft is
presented for payment. While the bank draft is being
held by the purchaser of the draft or is in transit to the
payee, it is not included in broad money."!

4.34 Deposit overdrafts. Depositors in some coun-
tries are authorized to obtain funding in the form
of an overdraft—a check or other item in an amount
that overdraws a transferable deposit account. All
outstanding claims arising from overdrawn deposit

accounts should be classified as loans rather than as
negative balances in depositors’ accounts, regardless
of whether the depositor intentionally created the
overdraft or inadvertently had insufficient funds in
the account.

1 The DC should record a reduction in its deposit holdings at the
other DC, even though the corresponding entry will not be made
in the other DC’s accounts until the item has been presented for
payment through the clearing system.

" The exclusion from broad money is achieved automatically
because when one of its customers (money-holding units) pur-
chases a bank draft, the DC reduces its deposit liabilities to that
customer, while the DC on which the draft was written still
includes this amount within its deposit liabilities to another ODC
(a money-issuing unit).

Classification of Financial Assets and Liabilities

4.35 Traveler’s check. Traveler’s checks are issued by
financial or nonfinancial corporations (NFCs) to pro-
vide a medium of exchange with characteristics of
both currency and transferable deposits. One feature
of traveler’s checks is that they provide a safer way
to carry funds than currency as a security feature is
provided against lost or stolen checks by the issuing
party.!? Traveler’s checks should be included within
transferable deposit liabilities of the issuing DC. (See
also paragraph 6.29.)

4.36 IMF No. 1 Account, IMF No. 2 Account, and
IMF Securities Account. Deposit liabilities of central
banks include the IMF No. I Account and IMF No. 2
Account, which are transferable deposits that the IMF
holds in central banks of member countries. Securi-
ties that have been substituted for IMF No. 1 Account
liabilities should also be classified as transferable
deposits, because these liabilities have the character-
istics of demand deposits rather than debt securities
and, in particular, are encashable on demand by the
IME

4.37 Reserve deposits. Reserve deposits are deposits
at the central bank that ODCs use to satisfy reserve
requirements for eligible liabilities. All reserve depos-
its of ODC:s that satisfy reserve requirements, includ-
ing any excess reserves,' based on the averaging of
reserve holdings over a period (as well as used for
settlement purposes) are classified as transferable
deposits unless they are illiquid. Reserve deposits that
are pre-specified fixed amounts or required reserves
(without averaging), including excess reserves, are
classified as other deposits (i.e., nontransferable
deposits). (See Annex 6.3.)

4.38 Electronic money is a payment instrument
whereby monetary value is electronically stored on a
physical device or remotely at a server and represents
a claim on the issuer. To qualify as electronic money,
the payment instrument must represent general pur-
chasing power (i.e., it may be used for making pay-
ments to a variety of other entities). Electronic money

12 Specific checks are given unique check numbers, similar to a
normal check. When a lost or stolen check is identified, it is simply
canceled and the individual is reissued a new check.

3 If net recording is followed, there will be no entries for IMF
No. 1 Account and IMF Securities Account in the sectoral balance
sheet for the central bank.

14 Excess reserves are deposits held at the central bank in excess of
those required.
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that can be used for direct payments to third parties
qualifies as a transferable deposit.

4.39 In comparison with currency, which has only
physical security features, electronic money uses
cryptography to authenticate transactions and to pro-
tect the confidentiality and the integrity of the data
processing. One common type of electronic money is
the “electronic purse,” where monetary value of small
amounts is stored on payment cards for use in mak-
ing small payments. Other examples of electronic
money include prepaid cards (except those designed
to address specific needs and that can be used only
in a limited way (see paragraph 3.137); web-based
electronic money (such as PayPal, if monetary value
is electronically stored); and mobile money, which is
electronic money accessible via a mobile phone or a
mobile device to make direct payments to third parties.

4.40 Not all electronic payments involve electronic
money. For instance, credit cards or debit cards are
not electronic money because no monetary value is
stored on them; neither are store cards, because they
are similar to credit cards but with use limited to only
the issuing stores. Internet-based currency, such as
Bitcoins," is not electronic money because it does
not meet the definition of currency, as it is not issued
or authorized by a central bank or government, and
additionally is not widely accepted as a medium of
exchange.

4.41 Both FCs and NFCs can issue electronic money.
Regardless of the issuing sector, electronic money is
classified as deposits rather than currency. Closed
circulation of electronic money is when recipients of
funds are required to forward evidence of ownership
to the issuer for redemption. Less common is open
circulation, which allows the funds to be transferred
through a sequence of buyer-to-buyer transactions
without involvement of the issuer of the electronic
money.

4.42 Data collection is straightforward for electronic
money under closed circulation issued by ODCs,
given that accounting for transactions and balances
for the electronic money and for regular transfer-
able deposits are similar. In the loading of funds to
the electronic money device, the ODC depositor
acquires electronically stored money on a device in

15 Bitcoins are classified as nonfinancial assets.

exchange for transferable deposits or currency. The
ODCs’ transactions with the recipients of the elec-
tronic funds are similar to electronic settlements for
other types of transferable deposits.

Other (or nontransferable) deposits [F29]

4.43 Other (or nontransferable) deposits comprise
all claims, other than transferable deposits, that are
represented by evidence of deposit. Other deposits
include:

a. Sight deposits that permit immediate cash with-
drawals but are not useable for direct payments
to third parties.

b. Savings deposits'® that are accounts with
deposit-taking institutions that pay interest but
cannot be used for direct payments to third par-
ties (for example, by writing a check). These
accounts enable customers to set aside a portion
of their liquid assets while earning interest.

c. Fixed-term deposits (also known as term
deposits or time deposits) that are provided by
deposit-taking institutions to their customers
with a higher rate of interest than a regular sav-
ings account. These are with maturities ranging
from a month to a few years. When a fixed-term
deposit is set, the fund can only be withdrawn
after the term has ended or by giving a predeter-
mined number of days’ notice.

d. Nonnegotiable certificates of deposits.

e. Deposits of limited transferability that are
excluded from the category of transferable
deposits.

f. Transferable deposits that have been posted to
depositors’ accounts but cannot be drawn upon
until the deposited items (e.g., checks or drafts)
have been collected by the depository corpora-
tions that accepted them.

g. FCs liabilities in the form of shares (such as
issued by savings and loan associations, build-
ing societies, and credit unions) arising from
members’ deposits that are legally or in practice
redeemable immediately (but are not useable for
direct third-party payments) or at short notice.

16

Deposits that are called savings deposits but are equipped with
automatic transfer service features should be classified as transfer-
able deposits.



h. The reserve tranche position in the IME, which
represents the payment of the foreign exchange
component of the IMF quota subscription (see
paragraph 4.246b). The reserve tranche posi-
tion is a claim on the IMF and an international
reserve asset.

i. Repayable margin payments in cash related to
different financial contracts, such as financial
derivatives and repos (see paragraphs 4.47-
4.49).

j. Repurchase agreements with money-holding
sectors resembling a deposit, where the DC is
the cash-taker."” These repurchase agreements
may be included in broad money. (See para-
graph 6.36.)

Special cases
Unallocated accounts for precious metals

4.44 Unallocated gold accounts assets, other than
monetary gold, are classified as other deposits in for-
eign currency. All unallocated gold accounts liabili-
ties, including counterpart accounts for monetary
gold, are classified as other deposits in foreign cur-
rency (see paragraph 4.19). The same principle applies
to unallocated deposit accounts for other precious
metals (e.g., silver or platinum). Unallocated deposit
accounts for other precious metals are included in
foreign currency deposits. Allocated deposit accounts
for all metals, other than for gold held by monetary
authorities as reserve assets,'® are included in non-
financial assets. Conceivably, unallocated deposit
accounts could arise for commodities other than pre-
cious metals.

Interbank positions

4.45 The 2008 SNA (paragraphs 11.56-57) recom-
mends that interbank positions in loans and deposits
be shown as a separate category of transferable depos-
its. The borrowing and lending within the deposit-
taking subsector, which may be substantial, is of a
different economic nature from their intermediation

7 Money holders usually deposit funds with ODCs rather than
provide loans to them. Repurchase agreements with counterparts
other than money-holding sectors where the DC is the cash-taker
should be classified as loans. Although OFCs are money-holders,
they may provide loans, some of them in the form of repurchase
agreements, to ODCs as part of their intermediation function.

'8 Such gold is classified as monetary gold.

activities involving other sectors. In monetary statis-
tics, all assets and liabilities (except equity liabilities)
are classified by sectors/subsectors of counterparts,
including for the central bank and ODCs, so that
inter-DC positions are identified by all relevant
instrument categories. Further, memorandum items
in the sectoral balance sheets for the central bank and
ODCs separately identify claims on and liabilities to
MMFs, allowing the compilation of interbank posi-
tions as defined in the 2008 SNA (see Table 2.2). When
the parties are uncertain as to whether the interbank
position is a loan or a deposit, this Manual recom-
mends recording it under other deposits.

Classification of Financial Assets and Liabilities

Restricted deposits

4.46 Restricted deposits are those for which with-
drawals are restricted on the basis of legal, regulatory,
policy, or commercial requirements. Such deposit
withdrawal restrictions do not include limitations
on the early withdrawal of deposits that have agreed
maturities. A fixed-term deposit withdrawal prior to
maturity may not be allowed or, if allowed, typically
carries a penalty for early withdrawal. Such withdrawal
conditions are treated as standard maturity provisions
of fixed-term deposits, rather than as restrictions.
Examples of restricted deposits are:

a. Import deposits required in advance of imports
as evidence of available funds.

b. Compulsory savings deposits that can be
accessed only after a specified period or from
which withdrawals may be made only for
specified purposes (e.g., home purchase or
retirement).

c. Escrow deposit accounts that cannot be accessed
until the appropriate conditions and obligations
have been fulfilled.

d. Judicial deposits paid to a court, in the name
and to the credit of such a court.

e. Fiduciary deposits, which are placed with an
ODC (the recipient) by a trustee, typically
another ODC or OFC on behalf of another
party (the beneficiary).

f. Foreign currency deposits that are blocked (i.e.,
withdrawal allowed only under certain circum-
stances or conditions) because of national poli-
cies (e.g., rationing of foreign currency).
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g. Impaired deposits that are expected to be
partially or totally uncollectible (that have not
yet been written off), including frozen deposits
in FCs that are under liquidation or reorgani-
zation.

Margin deposits

4.47 Margins are payments of cash or deposits
of collateral that cover actual or potential obliga-
tions incurred. The required provision of margin
reflects counterparty risk and is standard in finan-
cial derivative markets (see also financial derivative
section, later in this chapter). The classification of
margins depends on whether they are repayable or
nonrepayable.

4.48 Repayable margin consists of cash or other col-
lateral deposited to protect a counterparty against
default risk. Ownership of the margin remains with
the unit that deposited it. Although its use may be
restricted, a margin is classified as repayable if the
depositor retains the risks and rewards of owner-
ship—such as the receipt of income or exposure to
holding gains and losses. At settlement, a repay-
able margin (or the amount of repayable margin in
excess of any liability owed on the financial contract)
is returned to the depositor. In organized markets,
repayable margin is sometimes known as initial
margin.

4.49 Repayable margin payments are transactions in
deposits, not transactions in the associated financial
assets (e.g., financial derivatives). Repayable margin
deposits made in cash are classified as other deposits
(particularly if issued by ODCs and included in
broad money) or in other accounts receivable/pay-
able (especially if placed with financial auxiliaries).
When a repayable margin deposit is made in a non-
cash asset (i.e., debt securities), no transaction or
a new position in stocks is recorded in the balance
sheets because no change in economic ownership has
occurred.

4.50 Nonrepayable margin payments are transac-
tions in financial derivatives, and not in deposits. In
organized exchanges, nonrepayable margin is paid
daily to meet liabilities recorded as a consequence
of the daily marking of derivatives to market value.
The payments reduce the liability created through the

financial derivative with the contra-entry a reduction
in another financial asset (likely in currency or depos-
its). The receipt of nonrepayable margin is recorded
as a reduction in the financial derivative asset; the
contra-entry is an increase in another financial asset
(probably in currency or deposit).

4.51 In some countries, repayable and nonrepayable
margins are recorded in a single account, and it may
be difficult to distinguish. The institutional arrange-
ments (i.e., the types of units making payments and
types of instruments used) must be reviewed. The key
test is whether the margin is repayable or whether
payment of the margin represents an effective transfer
of ownership between counterparties to the financial
contract.

C. Debt Securities [F3]

4.52 Securities are financial claims that have the
characteristic feature of negotiability. In this Manual
(and the 2008 SNA and other statistical manuals), a
financial asset is negotiable if its legal ownership is
readily capable of being transferred from one unit
to another unit by delivery or endorsement. Securi-
ties are negotiable instruments that are designed to
be traded usually on an organized exchange or in the
over-the-counter (OTC) market.” The OTC market
involves parties negotiating directly with one another,
rather than on a public exchange. Some securities
may be legally negotiable, but there might not be, in
fact, a liquid market where they can be readily bought
or sold. Negotiability is a matter of the legal form of
the instrument, and evidence of actual trading is not
required.

4.53 Securities comprise debt securities and equity
securities. Debt securities are discussed in this sub-
section, while equity securities are discussed in the
subsection Equity and Investment Fund Shares in this
chapter.

4.54 Debt securities are negotiable financial instru-
ments serving as evidence of a debt. They include bills,

' For a detailed discussion of debt security features see Handbook
on Securities Statistics, paragraphs 2.8-2.23. The Handbook on
Securities Statistics deals with the conceptual framework for the
compilation and presentation of securities statistics, elaborating
on issues such as securities’ issuers, holders, currency, maturity,
and type of interest rate.



bonds, notes, negotiable certificates of deposit, commer-
cial paper, debentures, asset-backed securities, and simi-
lar instruments usually traded in the financial markets.

4.55 Common types of debt securities are those
sold on:

a. A coupon basis, stipulating that periodic inter-
est, or coupon, payments will be made during
the life of the instrument and that the principal
will be payable at maturity.

b. An amortized basis, stipulating that interest and
principal payments will be made in installments
during the life of the instrument.

c. A discount, or zero coupon, basis, whereby a
security is issued at a price that is less than the
face (or par) value of the security, and all inter-
est and principal are payable at maturity.

d. A deep discount basis, whereby a security is
issued at a price that is less than face value, and
the principal and a substantial part of the inter-
est is payable at maturity.

e. An indexed basis, which ties the amount of
interest and/or principal payment to a reference
index, such as a price index, an interest rate, an
exchange rate index, or to a price of a commod-
ity (e.g., gold).

4.56 Box 4.1 shows examples of some common types
of debt securities. Box 4.2 presents examples of debt
securities issued and traded in international markets.

4.57 Bills are debt securities that give the holders the
unconditional right to receive stated fixed sums on a
specified date. Bills are generally issued with short-
term maturities at a discount to face value that depends
on the rate of interest and the time to maturity; they
are usually traded in organized markets. Examples of
such short-term securities are treasury bills, negotia-
ble certificates of deposit, promissory notes, bankers’
acceptances, and commercial paper.

4.58 Bonds and debentures are long-term debt secu-
rities that give the holders the unconditional right
to fixed payments or contractually determined vari-
able payments on a specified date or dates, that is,
the earning of interest is not dependent on earnings
of the debtors. Bonds and debentures also give hold-
ers the unconditional right to fixed sums as payments
to the creditor on a specified date or dates.

Box 4.1 Debt Securities: Some Common Types

Short-term securities sold on a zero coupon
(or discount) basis

Classification of Financial Assets and Liabilities

e Treasury bills and other securities issued by
a central government or its agencies

e Other securities issued by state and local
government

e Commercial and financial papers issued by
financial and nonfinancial corporations

¢ Negotiable certificates of deposit issued by
other depository corporations (ODCs)

e Bankers’ acceptances

Long-term securities sold on a fixed-rate coupon
basis

e Central government bonds

e Bonds issued by state and local governments

e Corporate bonds

¢ Negotiable certificates of deposit issued by
ODCGCs

o Preferred stock (if qualifying as debt
rather than equity)

Pass-through and other asset-backed securities
(including principal-only and coupon-only strips)

e Collateralized mortgage obligations
e Collateralized debt obligations
e Mortgage-backed bonds

Debentures: unsecured or uncollateralized debt
security backed only by the creditworthiness of the
issuer

Debt securities with embedded financial
derivatives

e Denominated in a foreign currency'

e Variable interest rate (including with
interest caps, floors, or collars)’

¢ Interest and/or principal indexed to equity
values, commodity prices, or other
reference variables

e Callable at the option of the issuer

e Puttable at the option of the holder

e Convertible to equity shares

e Extendable maturity

e Credit derivative features

"Included under the broadest characterization of
embedded financial derivatives.
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Box 4.2 Debt Securities: Some Types Traded

in International Markets'’

Short-term securities. Eurocurrency instruments,
denominated in U.S. dollar, euro, yen, etc.

e London certificates of deposit. Negotiable
certificates of deposit issued by a London
bank or a London branch of a foreign
bank

e Furo commercial paper and euronotes

e Euro bankers’ acceptances.

Long-term securities. International bonds are those
issued outside the domestic market of the bor-
rower.

e Global bonds. Simultaneously placed in
the euro area and one or more domestic
markets with securities fungible between
the markets

e Furobonds. Issued by a borrower in a
foreign country, denominated in a euro
currency (U.S. dollar, euro, yen, etc.), and
underwritten and sold by an international
syndicate of a financial corporation

e Floating-rate notes (FRNs). Medium- to
long-term securities with variable rates
usually linked to the London interbank
rate (offer, bid, or average rate).

! For descriptions of these and other instruments, see
the Coordinated Portfolio Investment Survey Guide
(2002), Appendices V and VI.

Specific types of debt securities?®

4.59 Negotiable loans. Loans that have become nego-
tiable de facto are to be reclassified from loans to debt
securities. For such reclassification, there needs to be
evidence of secondary market trading, including the
existence of market makers and frequent quotations of
the instruments, such as provided by bid-offer spreads.

4.60 Preferred shares. Nonparticipating preferred
stocks or shares (also called preference shares) that
pay a fixed income but do not provide for partici-
pation in the distribution of the residual value of an
incorporated enterprise on dissolution are included in
debt securities.

% Appendix I of the External Debt Statistics: Guide for Compilers
and Users (2013) provides detailed information on specific types of
financial instruments and transactions, and their classification in
the gross external debt position.

4.61 Convertible bonds are fixed interest rate bonds
that may be converted into equity and should also
be classified as debt securities prior to the time when
they are converted.

4.62 Bankers acceptances (BA) are treated as debt
securities from the time of acceptance (even though
funds may not be exchanged until a later stage) and
classified under the category of debt securities. A BA
involves the acceptance by an FC, in return for a fee,
of a draft or bill of exchange and the unconditional
promise to pay a specific amount at a specified date. A
BA must be tradable. The BA represents an uncondi-
tional claim on the part of the holder and an uncon-
ditional liability on the part of the accepting FC; the
FC’s counterpart asset is a claim on its customer. (See
also Bills of exchange and acceptances in the subsec-
tion Loans.)

4.63 Private placements of debt securities involve an
issuer selling debt securities directly to a small num-

ber of investors without public offering. The credit-
worthiness of private placements is not assessed by
credit rating agencies and as the securities are gener-
ally not resold or re-priced, their secondary market is
thin. To the extent that some private placements can
be (and are) traded among investors, the criterion of
negotiability for debt securities is met.

4.64 A structured debt security combines a debt
security, or a basket of debt securities, with a finan-
cial derivative, or a basket of financial derivatives.
This financial derivative, or the basket, is embedded
in and is, therefore, inseparable from the debt secu-
rity. When the debt security and financial derivative
components of a financial instrument are separable
from each other, they should be classified accordingly;
but if they cannot be separated, then the instrument
should be valued and classified according to its pri-
mary characteristics, either as a debt security or finan-
cial derivative.”!

4.65 Depository receipts (DRs)?? allow a nonresident
institutional unit to introduce its equity or debt into

2! For more detailed discussion on structured debt securities see
the Handbook on Securities Statistics, Annex 2.

2 The most common categories are American depository receipts
(ADRs) and Global depository receipts (GDRs), both most often
denominated in U.S. dollars, but sometimes in euros. ADRs are
traded on U.S. exchanges such as the New York Stock Exchange
and American Stock Exchange, while GDRs are commonly listed
on European stock exchanges such as the London Stock Exchange.



another market in a form more readily acceptable to
the investors in that market. A resident deposit-taking
corporation will acquire the underlying securities
and then issue receipts in a currency more accept-
able to the investor. After issuance, DRs can be traded
freely among investors, either on a stock exchange
or OTC. DRs are classified according to the under-
lying financial instrument backing them (i.e., as debt
securities or equity). This is because the issuer (the
deposit-taking corporation) does not take the under-
lying securities onto its balance sheet, but rather acts
as a facilitator.

4.66 A promissory note is an unconditional promise
to pay a certain sum on demand on a specified date.
Promissory notes are one specific type of debt securi-
ties within the category bills, which give holders the
unconditional rights to receive the stated sums on a
specified date. Bills are issued and usually traded in
organized markets at a discount to face value depend-
ing on the rate of interest and the time to maturity.

Debt securities issued through securitization

4.67 Securitization involves the issuance of debt
securities that are backed by financial assets (such
as mortgage loans, claims on credit card holders,
car loans, commercial and industrial loans), non-
financial assets, or future income streams (such as
from music record or ticket sales). Although future
income streams are sometimes used in securitization
transactions, these future streams are not recognized
as an asset in macroeconomic statistics.”* Securiti-
zation of assets provides liquidity in assets that are
otherwise not so liquid. For example, an originating
mortgage lender could sell a portfolio of loans to a
special purpose vehicle that issues securities to inves-
tors that are “backed” by the loans. In cases in which
the originator issues asset-backed securities on its
own books, the securitization may take place with-
out the creation of a separate entity. Examples of debt
securities issued through securitization are provided
in Annex 4.1.

Other categories are European depository receipts and International
depository receipts. Based on a determined ratio, each DR may
be issued as representing a single or more than one share of the
underlying equity.

» The Handbook on Securities Statistics (Chapter 6) provides a
description of three broad types of securitization schemes and the
range of debt securities issued under these schemes.

Classification of Financial Assets and Liabilities @

Indexed securities

4.68 Indexed debt securities are instruments for which
either the coupon payments (interest) or the principal
or both are linked to an index such as a price index, an
interest rate, an exchange rate index, or the price of a
commodity. These securities are classified as variable-
rate instruments. The recording of revaluations and
interest for indexed financial instruments is discussed
in Chapter 5 (paragraphs 5.53-5.59 and Annex 5.2,
paragraph 5.271).

D. Loans [F4]

4.69 Loans are financial assets that are (1) created
when a creditor lends funds directly to a debtor, and
(2) evidenced by documents that are not negotiable.**

4.70 The category of loans includes overdrafts, mort-
gage loans, installment loans, hire-purchase credit,
loans to finance trade credit, and payday loans. Claims
on, or liabilities to, the IMF that are in the form of loans
are also included in this category.”® An overdraft aris-
ing from the overdraft facility of a transferable deposit
account is classified as a loan. Repurchase agreements,
gold swaps, and financing by means of a financial lease
are classified as loans, with few exceptions, as explained
in the remainder of this subsection. Undrawn lines of
credit are not recognized as an asset as they are only
potential claims. Accounts receivable/payable, which
are treated as a separate category of financial assets,
and loans that have become debt securities are also
excluded from loans.

Repurchase agreements and securities lending

4.71 A securities repurchase agreement (repo) is an
arrangement involving the sale of securities for cash,
at a specified price, with a commitment to repur-
chase the same or similar securities at a fixed price
either on a specified future date (often one or a few
days hence, but also further in the future) or with
an “open” maturity.’® A repo is viewed from the per-
spective of the provider of the securities (i.e., the cash

# Negotiability is defined in paragraph 4.52. Loans may be traded,
but their legal form is not designed for negotiability in the same
way as debt securities.

% Annex 4.2 of this chapter contains a detailed discussion on IMF-
related accounts.

2 “Open” maturity is where both parties have the option to agree
daily to renew or terminate the agreement. Such an arrangement
avoids settlement costs if both parties wish to rollover the repo on
a continuing basis.
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taker). The agreement is called a reverse repo when
viewed from the perspective of the securities taker
(i.e., the cash provider).

4.72 Repos convey the legal ownership of the securi-
ties to the cash provider, which entitles the cash pro-
vider to sell the securities to a third party (on-selling).
Despite conveyance of the legal ownership to the cash
provider, the economic ownership is retained by the
cash taker (i.e., the securities provider), as the cash
taker retains the market risk and ownership benefits,
other than the right of sale, including holding gains or
losses and interest income on the securities. Because
of these features, a repo is similar to a loan that is col-
lateralized by the securities underlying the agreement.

4.73 Repos may be used for a variety of different
purposes, for example, as a means of financing the
acquisition of the underlying instrument, for cash
borrowing, or as a means of covering a negative
position (“short” position) in the security. In some
circumstances, substitution of the securities may be
permitted.”” To provide for protection against adverse
movements in the price of the security, a “haircut” is
subtracted from the market value of the asset used as
collateral; with the size of the “haircut” reflecting the
perceived risk associated with holding the asset. An
additional margin deposit may be required to cover
residual counterparty risk. Repurchase agreements
are usually “cash-driven,” where the motivation is to
obtain cash with the security provided as collateral;
but they may be “security-driven,” where the motiva-
tion is to obtain a security when it has “gone special”
(i.e., when it has become difficult to obtain).

4.74 A buy-sell-back is one type of repo, which
involves a spot sale of a security with a simultaneous
forward purchase. Buy-sell-backs have the same eco-
nomic effect as a securities repo. The main difference
between the two arrangements is that in a repo both
transactions are conducted under the same contract,
whereas under a buy-sell-back the transactions are
conducted under two legally independent contracts: a
spot transaction and the opposite forward transaction.

4.75 In macroeconomic statistics, securities repur-
chase agreements are treated as collateralized loans
or deposits, rather than as outright sales of securities.

¥ Similar securities can be substituted if permitted under the
agreement. “Similar” may be defined narrowly or broadly, depend-
ing on the circumstances.

Generally, a repurchase agreement is classified as a
loan. However, repurchase agreements with money-
holding sectors resembling a deposit, where the DC
is the cash taker, should be classified as other deposits
and may be included in broad money. The securities
should remain on the balance sheet of the cash taker
and a new financial asset (i.e., a loan or a deposit)
should be recorded as an asset of the cash provider
and a liability of the cash taker.

4.76 Securities acquired under reverse repos may in
turn be repoed. In such circumstances, the securities
under repo support two loan transactions—the cash
provider’s claim on the cash taker under the original
repo and the claim of the “on-buyer” (i.e., the cash
provider under the new repo) on the original cash
provider (i.e., the cash taker under the new repo,
who is also the cash provider under the first repo/
reverse repo). The party with the loan asset from the
reverse repo does not net it against the loan payable in
the subsequent repo, because the counterparties to the
two transactions are different. Double-counting of the
holding of the security should not arise in such a case,
because the securities underlying both the first and the
second repos continue to be recorded only on the bal-
ance sheet of the original cash taker.

4.77 Consistent with the 2008 SNA and other statis-
tical manuals, this Manual makes a specific recom-
mendation on the statistical treatment of securities
that are acquired under reverse repo and are on-sold
outright. Although a cash provider should not record
the acquisition of a security under a reverse repo as a
transaction in securities, if the security so acquired
is on-sold outright, a transaction in the security
should be recorded by the cash provider (and by
the outright purchaser). This is known as “short
selling”?*—the sale of a financial asset not currently
held on balance sheet—and results in a recorded
short position in the security for the on-seller. This
treatment reflects the economic ownership in that
the holder of the negative position is exposed to the
risks and rewards of the security, in an equal and
opposite way, as the party in a long position. Inter-
est accrues on the negative position negatively (i.e.,
the negative position becomes larger). In aggregate,
the recording of a negative position overcomes the

2 This treatment should be applied to the recording of all short
sales of securities, whether or not associated with repos.



double counting that would otherwise result from
the security being recorded as an on-balance-sheet
asset holding of the third party that has purchased
it outright, as well as still being recorded on balance
sheet as a security asset holding of the cash taker
under the repo.

4.78 In this instance, additional information may
be required for a fuller understanding of the repo
market and to determine who is holding the instru-
ment. It is useful for the analysis of liquidity, lever-
age, and vulnerability, to identify the parties to repo
transactions. Accordingly, it is recommended that
when a repo (reverse repo) is undertaken, data on
the counterparty to the repo (reverse repo) trans-
action (resident sector or nonresident) and the
instrument and sector of issuer (e.g., government
debt security) are made available to the compilers,
for ensuring appropriate recording in sectoral bal-
ance sheets.

4.79 A tri-party repo is a transaction mediated by
a third party, typically a custodian bank or cen-
tral counterparty, to reduce counterparty risk for
the lender. Tri-party repos are structured in a way
that transfers the risk to the third party as follows:
(1) the borrower enters into a repurchase agree-
ment with the third party, borrowing the required
amount and pledging collateral to the third party as
required; (2) the lender enters into a reverse repur-
chase agreement with the third party; and (3) the
third party administers the transaction and the col-
lateral, acting as the direct counterparty to the seller
and the buyer, thus assuming the risk of default of
the borrower.”

4.80 Securities lending is an arrangement whereby
a security holder transfers securities to a borrower,
subject to the stipulation that the same (or similar)*
securities be returned on a specified date or on
demand. “Full, unfettered ownership” is transferred
to the borrower, but the risks and benefits of owner-
ship (economic ownership) remain with the origi-
nal owner.” The practice is undertaken by owners of

» See European Central Bank (2012), pages 119-120.

* Similar securities can be substituted, if permitted under the lend-
ing arrangements.

U If the original owner does not retain these elements of owner-
ship, the provision of the securities should be viewed as an outright
sale.

securities to raise the return on the securities and/or
to reduce the cost of custody.

Classification of Financial Assets and Liabilities

4.81 Securities lending arrangements are divided into
two major categories that are delineated by the type of
collateral—either cash or securities—that is provided
to the lender of the securities.’”” The borrower of the
securities usually provides collateral that is of equal
value to, or greater value than, the value of the securi-
ties being lent.

4.82 Securities lending backed by cash collateral is
similar to a repo, has the same economic effect as a
repo, and so is treated statistically in the same way as
a collateralized loan.

4.83 Securities lending that is backed by collateral
other than cash (or that is not collateralized) should
not be treated as a transaction and should be recorded
off balance sheet by both the lender and borrower of
the securities. If the securities are on-sold outright to
a third party, the “borrower” of the securities should
record a security transaction, and a reduction in secu-
rity assets, resulting in a “short” position in that secu-
rity asset. Similar to repos, this approach overcomes
the double counting that would otherwise result, in
the aggregate, from the security being recorded as
an on-balance-sheet asset holding of the third party
that has purchased it outright as well as still being
recorded on balance sheet as a security asset holding
of the original lender of the securities.*

4.84 Similar to securities received under a repo that
are on-sold, additional information may be required
when a security acquired under a securities lending
transaction has been on-sold.

Gold swaps and gold loans

4.85 A gold swap*** involves an exchange of gold for
foreign exchange with an agreement that the trans-
action be reversed at an agreed future date at an

32 In some instances, collateral is not provided.

¥ The collateral might, conceivably, be provided in part in secu-
rities and the rest in cash. If so, the securities lending should be
recorded as a loan in the amount of the cash collateral and, in all
other respects, should not be recorded on the balance sheets of the
lender and borrower of the securities.

3 These swaps should not be confused with interest rate or cur-
rency swaps that are financial derivatives, as described later in this
chapter.

* Gold swaps may be more broadly defined to include arrange-
ments involving nonmonetary gold and parties other than quali-
fied holders of monetary gold.
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agreed gold price, so that the original owner remains
exposed to the gold market. Gold swaps are forms of
repurchase agreements undertaken between central
banks or between a central bank and other types of
FCs. Its features are similar to those of a repo and,
therefore, they should be treated in a similar way.

4.86 Gold swaps should be recorded as collateral-
ized loans when they involve the exchange of gold
for foreign exchange. Consequently, the gold remains
on the balance sheet of the original owner and is not
taken onto the balance sheet of the cash provider—
in the same manner in which a repurchase agree-
ment is recorded. If gold received under a gold swap
is swapped again, the same treatment applies: it is
treated as a collateralized loan by both parties. In
the event that the gold received under a gold swap is
sold outright, the seller (if not a monetary authority)
should record a “short” holding of nonmonetary (i.e.,
commodity) gold and the purchaser (if not a mon-
etary authority) should record on its balance sheet
a holding of nonmonetary (i.e., commodity) gold. If
the gold acquired under a gold swap is sold outright
by a nonmonetary authority to a monetary authority,
monetization will be involved.* If gold received under
a gold swap is sold outright by a monetary authority
(whether to a monetary authority or another party),
it should record on its balance sheet a negative posi-
tion in monetary gold. The transaction will involve
demonetization if the counterparty in this instance is
not a monetary authority.

4.87 Gold loans (or gold deposits) may be undertaken
to obtain an income return on gold. The gold that is
placed on loan (or deposit) may be either a financial
asset (i.e., monetary gold) or a nonfinancial asset (i.e.,
nonmonetary gold). The gold remains on the books
of the gold lender, and the lender retains the expo-
sure to the market risk arising from movements in
the market price of gold. Gold loans (or deposits) are
not backed by cash collateral and, in some cases, are
not backed by any collateral. However, the gold may
be on-sold by the borrower. This Manual (and the

% This could create the situation where monetary gold is over-
stated, in aggregate, as far as the same holding of gold would be
reported on the balance sheet of two monetary authorities at the
same time. If both the originator of the gold swap and the outright
purchaser are monetary authorities, and the outright seller is not
a monetary authority, there will be no offsetting negative position:
the negative position will be recorded by the nonmonetary author-
ity in nonmonetary gold.

2008 SNA and other statistical manuals) recommends
that gold loans be treated as off-balance-sheet items
(i.e., not recorded as assets or liabilities, and transac-
tions). If the gold is on-sold, however, the on-selling
party (i.e., the gold borrower) should record a gold
transaction, in the same manner as to gold swaps. (See
also paragraph 4.44.)

4.88 Recording repos, securities lending, gold swaps
and gold loans (reverse transactions) under the col-
lateralized loan approach as set out in this Manual, is
in line with the economic ownership principles in the
2008 SNA.

Financial leases

4.89 A financial lease is a contract under which the
lessor, as legal owner of an asset, conveys substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
the lessee. The lessee, therefore, becomes the economic
owner of the asset. A financial lease involves imputing
a loan. Under a financial lease, the lessor is shown as
making a loan to the lessee, which the lessee uses to
acquire the asset. Thereafter, the leased asset is shown
on the balance sheet of the lessee and not of the les-
sor, the corresponding loan is shown as an asset of the
lessor and a liability of the lessee. Payments under the
financial lease are treated not as rentals on the asset
but as payments of interest, possibly a service charge
(financial intermediation services indirectly mea-
sured), and repayments of principal on the imputed
loan. Such financial leases are classified as loans.

4.90 The statistical treatment of financial leases is
designed to move away from the legal arrangements
to capture the economic substance of such arrange-
ments, by treating assets under a financial lease as
it they were acquired and owned by the user who
financed the acquisition with a loan. For example, if
a bank leases a cargo vessel to a transportation com-
pany, the company is deemed to have taken economic
ownership of the vessel. The vessel is therefore shown
as an asset in the balance sheet of the transportation
company, while a loan is recorded as a liability.

4.91 Examples of situations that would usually lead to
a recording of a financial lease include:

a. The lease transfers legal ownership to the lessee
at the end of the lease term; or

b. The lease has the option for the lessee to acquire
legal ownership at the end of the lease term at a



price that is sufficiently low that the exercise of
the option is reasonably certain; or.

c. The lease term is for the major part of the eco-
nomic life of the asset; or

d. At inception, the present value of the lease pay-
ments amount to substantially all of the value of
the asset; or

e. If the lessee can cancel the lease, the lessor’s
losses are borne by the lessee; or

f. Gains or losses in the residual value of the resid-
ual asset accrue to the lessee; or

g. The lessee has the ability to continue the lease
for a secondary period for a payment substan-
tially lower than market value.

4.92 These conditions in the lease contract may not,
however, demonstrate conclusively that substantially
all of the risks have been conveyed; for example, if the
asset is conveyed to the lessee at the end of the lease
at its fair value at that time, then the lessor holds sub-
stantial risks of ownership. The lease is then called
an operating lease. Financial leases are also called
finance leases, capital leases, or full-payout leases,
highlighting that the motivation is to finance acqui-
sition of the asset. Accounting practices recognize
financial leases in the same way as in macroeconomic
statistics.

Credit card debt

4.93 Credit cards are used as a convenient means of
payment for purchases and as a means of financing
purchases. Cardholders usually do not incur financing
charges if the entire balance due for their credit-card
purchases is paid within each billing cycle, typically
monthly. Card holders who carry credit card balances
on a month-to-month basis are charged interest on all
outstanding balances, including the balances gener-
ated by new credit card purchases during the month
leading up to the billing cycle. All credit card balances
should be classified as loans, and interest accrued and
not yet paid are recorded as for loans.

Loan participations

4.94 A loan participation occurs when two or more
investors (usually FCs) jointly fund a loan to a single
borrower, either through a loan syndication—a loan
origination by a syndicate, or group, consisting of a

lead creditor and one or more other creditors who
jointly finance the loan—or when portions of an out-
standing loan that was originated by one creditor are
purchased by various creditors. Each syndicate mem-
ber records the amount of the loan participation that
the member has funded.

Classification of Financial Assets and Liabilities

4.95 A loan participation should be disaggregated
by economic sector of the debtor and each creditor.
Debtor-creditor relationships for loan participations
are determined by contractual arrangements. If the
loan participation is on an assignment basis (the most
prevalent type), each participant has a direct creditor
claim on the debtor. If the loan participation is on a
nonassignment basis, the initial contract between a
single creditor and the debtor remains intact, but the
original creditor incurs a liability to each purchaser
of a participation in the loan. The entries for the loan
transactions are:

a. Assignment basis. Each participant classifies
the amount of the loan participation as a direct
claim on the original debtor. The debtor records
the loan participations as individual loans, dis-
aggregated by economic sector of the creditor.
The originator of the loan participation would
show a loan claim on the debtor only to the
extent that the originator retained a participa-
tion in the loan.

b. Nonassignment basis. The original creditor/
debtor relationship remains intact, and a new
set of creditor/debtor relationships is created.
The original creditor continues to record a loan
claim on the debtor, and the debtor continues
to record a loan to the original creditor—in the
full outstanding amount of the loan. In addi-
tion, the original creditor records a loan liability
to each participant in the outstanding amount
of participation, classified by economic sector
of the participant. Each participant shows the
outstanding amount of the participation as a
loan claim on the original creditor, classified
by the economic sector of the original creditor.
An FC may specialize in originating loans that
are to be sold (usually, shortly after origination)
to another FC that intends to hold the loans to
maturity.

4.96 Loan participations that, after initial purchase,
are to be held to maturity should continue to be clas-
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sified as loans. If structured as a negotiable instru-
ment, all syndicate participants should classify the
loan participations as debt securities, resulting in the
single classification, as debt securities, for the entire
syndicated loan.

4.97 Collection and disbursement of the interest and
principal payments are usually on a pass-through
basis. The FC that sold the loan participations (or its
agent) records the interest and principal payments
receivable from the debtor and, for a fee, passes the
amounts payable to the loan participants (even if the
seller of the loan participations no longer holds a par-
ticipation share).

Bills of exchange and acceptances

4.98 A bill of exchange is an unconditional order
written and signed by one party (drawer of the bill),
requiring the party to whom it is addressed to pay
on demand, or at a fixed or determinable future
time, a specified sum to order or to the bearer. Bills
of exchange—sometimes called trade bills or simply
bills—are most often associated with foreign trade, but
also may be used for domestic trade. Bills of exchange
are often called sight drafts or time drafts, depend-
ing on whether payable on demand or payable by a
specified future date. A bill of exchange is an order to
pay, rather than a promise to pay. When it is received
and “accepted”—stamped* and signed—by the party
on whom it is written (i.e., the drawee), the bill of
exchange becomes a promissory note® and is desig-
nated as an acceptance.”

4.99 An acceptance is classified within loans, debt
securities, or trade credit, depending on the charac-
teristics of the credit instrument. Those acceptances
that are eligible for rediscounting in a secondary mar-
ket or by a central bank are usually known as bankers’
acceptances and classified as debt securities (see para-
graph 4.62). Acceptances ineligible for rediscounting
are designated as other acceptances and are classified
as loans or trade credit depending on the nature of

%7 Traditionally, a stamp and signature were required, but modern
drafts may not be stamped, but are subject to other forms of accep-
tance, such as electronic signatures, etc.

% See paragraph 4.66 for the definition of promissory notes.

¥ A check written on a bank is a bill of exchange that, because pay-
able on demand, is sometimes called a sight draft. A bank “accepts”
a check by making the ordered payment.

the acceptance.”” The loans and debt securities created
through acceptances include:

a. Exporter credit. The drawer (exporter) may hold
the acceptance and, at maturity, receive pay-
ment (usually channeled through the exporter’s
bank) from the drawee (importer). The drawer
would classify the acceptance as a trade credit
claim on the drawee.

b. Export bill. Instead of holding the acceptance,
the drawer (exporter) may rediscount the
acceptance at a DC. If ineligible for further
rediscounting, the acceptance should be classi-
fied as a loan that the DC has extended to the
drawee (importer). If eligible for rediscount in
the bankers’ acceptances (BA) market and/or at
the central bank, the acceptance should be clas-
sified within debt securities and, for purposes
of sectoral classification, should be attributed to
the economic sector of the drawee (importer),
who is the original issuer.

c. Import bill. An importer may arrange an accep-
tance that calls for the exporter to be paid from
the proceeds of a loan that the importer obtains
from an ODC that will make the payment. The
credit advanced to the importer is classified as a
loan by the ODC. The loan remains in the DC’s
loan portfolio until repaid by the importer.

d. Banker’s acceptances. Export and import bills
that meet the BA eligibility requirements are
sold to BA investors, principally to FCs, NFCs,
and nonresident institutions. For classifica-
tion by debtor, the BA should be attributed to
the economic sector of the drawee of the bill
of exchange. For example, the BA based on an
export bill drawn on an importer should be
classified within debt securities issued by nonfi-
nancial corporations (assuming the importer is
a nonfinancial corporation). The purchaser of a
BA that originated as an import bill drawn on an
ODC should classify the BA within debt securi-
ties in the subcategory for claims on ODCs.

e. Own acceptances. A DC may repurchase its
own acceptances that it earlier issued in the

* ODCs provide a variety of off-balance-sheet services for bills of
exchange and acceptances, including letters of credit that support
the origination of bills of exchange and cross-border transmission
of documentation for the bills and acceptances.



bankers’ acceptance market. Holdings of own
acceptances, representing a DC’s liability to
itself, should be deducted from the liability
account for bankers acceptance outstanding.
The repurchased own bankers’ acceptance can
be reintroduced as a debt security, if the DC
decides to rediscount them in the bankers
acceptance market during the remaining term
to maturity.

Nonperforming loans

4.100 A loan is nonperforming when (1) payments
of interest and/or principal are past due by 90 days
or more; or (2) interest payments equal to 90 days or
more have been capitalized or delayed by agreement;
or (3) evidence exists to reclassify a loan as nonper-
forming even in the absence of a 90-day past due pay-
ment, such as when the debtor files for bankruptcy.
Once a loan is classified as nonperforming, it (or any
replacement loans) should remain classified as such
until payments are received or the principal is written
off on this or subsequent loans that replace the original.

4.101 Impaired loan trading. Loans sold in second-
ary markets range from high-quality loans (those
with little credit risk) to nonperforming or otherwise
impaired loans for which repayment is highly uncer-
tain, or even unlikely. Transactions in nonperforming
or otherwise impaired loans often involve purchases
at deep-discounted prices (i.e., at well below the
nominal value, or carrying amount, of the loans),
reflecting the potential default on interest and prin-
cipal payments for significant proportions of the loan
portfolios purchased. These instruments should be
classified as loans even if sold at a fraction of nominal
value unless there is evidence of secondary-market
trading, including the existence of market makers,
and frequent quotations of the instruments, such as
provided by bid-offer spreads. In the latter case, they
are classified as debt securities and recorded at mar-
ket value.

Distinction between deposits and loans

4.102 As a general principle, all financial instruments
that can be used for direct payments to third parties
should be classified as transferable deposits, regard-
less of the designation of the instrument (i.e., check-
ing account, current account, giro account, nostro/
vostro account, etc.). Transferable deposits cannot

be classified as loans, because loans are not usable for
payments to third parties.

Classification of Financial Assets and Liabilities

4.103 Differentiating between an other deposit and a
loan can be more difficult, in particular for interbank
transactions. This Manual recommends that classifi-
cation as an other deposit or as a loan is based on the
instrument characteristics specified in the documen-
tation, focusing on whether an early withdrawal for
the creditor is possible or not. If the creditor does not
have an option of early withdrawal, the instrument
should be classified as a loan unless the creditor is a
household or a nonfinancial corporation. Regardless
of the classification, the financial instrument should
have the same classification in the accounts of the
creditor (holder of the financial asset) and the debtor
(issuer of the liability).

Other deposits

4.104 Deposits in broad money (see Chapter 6). The
issue of distinguishing between a loan and a deposit

does not arise for a financial instrument that is
included in broad money. In particular, broad money
does not include a separate component for loans. Any
financial instrument that, in national terminology, is
designated or informally described as a loan is classi-
fied as an other deposit, if the financial instrument is
included in broad money.

4.105 Zero-interest deposits. The issue of distinguish-
ing between a loan and a deposit does not arise for
a financial instrument that is non-interest bearing.
Loans are generally recognized as interest-bearing
instruments (with some minor exceptions such as
a credit card debt that is paid within the specified
period). The most common category of zero-interest
deposits are transferable deposits.

4.106 Deposits with non-formula-based variable
interest rates. This category relates to savings accounts.

The amount and timing of an increase or decrease in
interest rate is at the discretion of the DC in which the
deposit is placed. The new interest rate applies to all
deposit accounts (new accounts and those outstand-
ing) in the category. This type of interest-rate mecha-
nism does not typically exist for loans.

4.107 Insured deposits. Deposit insurance is a means
of ensuring that depositors (usually with a predefined
limit) will recover all or part of their deposit balances
in DCs that have been liquidated. Credit guarantees
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applied to loans and debt securities are similar to
deposit insurance. An insured deposit and a loan sub-
ject to third-party guarantee can be distinguished on
the basis of the institutional arrangements and the
nature of asset coverage. Deposit insurance is usu-
ally provided by an institutional unit*'—the insuring
agency—that specializes in insuring broad categories
of DCs’ liabilities. In contrast, credit guarantees apply
to an individual loan or loan portfolio (or specific set
of securities). Loans subject to credit guarantees are
a means of ensuring that creditors (primarily, central
governments and corporate lenders) are covered in the
event of default by a borrower or issuer of securities.

4.108 Deposits in the form of repurchase agreements.
Repurchase agreements are classified as other depos-
its if they are contracted with money holders and the
DC is the cash taker (see paragraph 4.75). All other
repurchase agreements (and all collateral-based secu-
rity lending arrangements) are classified as loans.

4.109 Margin deposits. Investors hold deposits to meet
the daily settlement requirements for financial futures
and for other purposes. Margin deposits held at DCsare
classified as deposits. Margin deposits held at a financial
auxiliary are classified as deposits, if the general ledger
of the financial auxiliary includes deposit accounts.
If not, the financial auxiliary may include the mar-
gin deposits in the category of Other accounts payable
[MS]—other. The margin accounts are not classified as
loans (see also paragraphs 4.47-4.51).

4.110 Deposits incorporated in residential mortgage
loan contracts. This type of arrangement—called an
offset mortgage—combines a mortgage loan and one
or more deposit accounts that the mortgagee holds
at the lending institution. The outstanding balances
in the deposit accounts are deducted from (i.e., off-
set against) the outstanding amount of the mortgage
loan so as to obtain the net outstanding amount for
calculation of monthly loan payments. Under flexible
offsetting arrangements, the deposit offset can be used
to (1) reduce monthly loan payments, (2) occasionally
skip monthly payments, or (3) accelerate repayments
to shorten the effective maturity of the mortgage loan.
Under some arrangements, the mortgagee’s credit-
card debt and other types of non-mortgage borrow-
ing can be consolidated with the mortgage loan and

! This does not apply in cases when a deposit insurance or a finan-
cial guarantee scheme is part of the general government.

the deposit offset. Despite the account consolidation,
the mortgagee/depositor retains access to the deposit
accounts and receives monthly statements that
show the activity of the individual deposit and loan
accounts. The deposit and loan components of the off-
set mortgage are recorded separately in the categories
of Deposits and Loans, respectively.

Loans

4.111 Collateralized loans. Many business loans, com-
mercial and residential mortgage loans, and consumer
loans for the purchase of automobiles and other dura-
ble goods are backed by collateral. Loans that inves-
tors acquire from securities brokers and dealers are
usually collateralized by securities or other financial
assets that the investors are purchasing (or by other
securities or other financial assets that the investors
already hold). Deposit contracts do not include col-
lateral requirements.

4.112 Loans with protective covenants. Protective
covenants appear in some loan contracts, but not in
deposit agreements. Protective covenants may stipu-
late specific actions that a borrower must take (e.g.,
maintain at least a specified amount of working capi-
tal throughout the life of a loan). Other protective
covenants may specify actions that a borrower must
not take without the lender’s approval (e.g., expan-
sion of fixed assets, acquisition of additional external
financing, entry into a merger, establishment of a sub-
sidiary, or replacement of the senior management of
the borrowing firm).

4.113 Loans with supporting balance requirements.
Loan contracts can specify that, throughout the life of
a loan, a borrower must maintain a required amount
(or average amount) of deposits in the depository cor-
poration that makes the loan. Similar requirements
do not exist for deposits.

4.114 Loans backed by letters of credit and or other
trade-related documentation. Trade bills, letters of
credit, and other trade-related documents are used to
facilitate the lending associated with the acquisition
of imports (or sometimes domestic goods). Financial
instruments backed by such documentation are clas-
sified as loans. Similar arrangements do not exist for
deposits. Credit in the form of bankers™ acceptances
that are tradable instruments should be classified as

debt securities.



4.115 Loans made under commitment. Loan commit-
ments, which once were informal credit lines available
to corporate customers who kept adequate deposit bal-
ances at lending institutions, and are now firm agree-
ments that lay out lending institutions” obligations to
provide credit in the future (including the amount of
credit available and the interest rate to be charged), in
return for customers’ payments of fees to guarantee the
credit availability. All credit extended under informal
credit lines or formal loan commitments (including
revolving credit arrangements) are classified as loans.

Distinction between loans and debt securities

4.116 The defining feature that distinguishes between
loans and debt securities is that the former are non-
negotiable financial contracts (evidenced by nonne-
gotiable documents), whereas the latter are negotiable
instruments.*” Loans that become negotiable or trad-
able should be reclassified from loans to debt securities
(see paragraph 4.59). In other words, debt securities
should include loans that have become negotiable de
facto. These debt securities result from the conversion
of loans, with the recording of two other changes in
the volume of assets (OCVA) flows, that is, liquidation
of the loan and creation of the new debt security (see
paragraph 5.21e).

E. Equity and Investment Fund Shares [F5]
Equity [F51]

4.117 Equity comprises all instruments and records
acknowledging claims on the residual value of a cor-
poration or quasi-corporation after the claims of all
creditors have been met. Equity is treated as a liability
of the issuing institutional unit.

4.118 Ownership of equity in legal entities is usually
evidenced by shares, stocks, participations, DRs, or
similar documents. Shares and stocks have the same
meaning. Participating preferred shares are those that
provide for participation in the residual value on the
dissolution of an incorporated enterprise. Such shares
are also equity securities, whether or not the income is
fixed or determined according to a formula.

42 Similar to the case between loans and debt securities, the defin-
ing feature that distinguishes between deposits and debt securities
is that the former are nonnegotiable financial contracts (evidenced
by nonnegotiable documents), whereas the latter are negotiable
instruments.

Classification of Financial Assets and Liabilities

4.119 Shares (often called common stock) of a cor-
poration may be widely held among many investors,
closely held among a few investors, held within a sin-
gle family, or held exclusively by one corporation or an
individual. Shares in a corporation may be traded on
securities exchanges, in OTC markets, or not traded.

4.120 Share holdings of FCs include shares of their
own subsidiaries, as well as shares of unrelated corpo-
rations. Financial holding companies (see paragraph
3.183) hold shares of subsidiaries (principally, FCs)
that they own and control. Subject to national law
and regulation, FCs may hold shares in DCs, OFCs,
NFCs, and foreign corporations. In a few countries,

FCs (and, in some countries, other investors) hold
central bank shares.

4.121 Corporations sometimes purchase their own
shares in the market. The reacquired shares (called
treasury shares) are not classified as asset holdings
(i.e., as a corporation’s claim on itself) but rather are
deducted from funds contributed by owners within
the liability account for Equity and investment fund
shares (see paragraph 5.157).

4.122 In the 2008 SNA (but not in this Manual for
purposes of compiling monetary statistics), equities
are subdivided into:

a. Listed shares
b. Unlisted shares
c. Other equity.

4.123 Both listed and unlisted shares are negotiable
and are, therefore, equity securities.

4.124 Listed shares are equity securities listed on an
exchange. They are also referred to as quoted shares.
The existence of quoted prices of shares listed on an
exchange means that current market prices are readily
available.

4.125 Unlisted shares are equity securities not listed
on an exchange. Unlisted shares can also be called
private equity; venture capital usually takes this form.
Unlisted shares tend to be issued by subsidiaries and
smaller scale enterprises, and they typically have dif-
ferent regulatory requirements, but neither qualifica-
tion is necessarily the case.

4.126 Other equity is equity that is not in the form of
securities. It can include equity in quasi-corporations
(such as branches, trusts, and partnerships), unincor-
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porated funds, and notional units for ownership of
real estate and other natural resources. The ownership
of some international organizations is not in the form
of shares and so is classified as other equity. Owner-
ship of currency union central banks is included in
other equity.

4.127 Other equity is principally in the form of the
accumulation of proprietor’s net additions to the
equity of quasi-corporate enterprises—derived as (1)
funds or other resources (including fixed or other
assets) that the owners provide for capital invest-
ment by quasi-corporate enterprises; (2) accumulated
retained earnings; less (3) withdrawals from quasi-
corporate enterprises, which could include withdraw-
als of income, proceeds from the sale of fixed or other
assets, transfers of fixed or other assets, and withdraw-
als taken from accumulated savings and reserves.

4.128 For quasi-corporations, all equity (including
retained earnings and reserves) is assumed to be held
by the owners. In some cases, the owners may provide
financing to a quasi-corporation through the exten-
sion of loans, placement of deposits, purchase of debt
securities issued by the quasi-corporation, or provision
of trade credit to the quasi-corporation. The owners
and the quasi-corporations should record such claims/
liabilities as respectively loans, deposits, etc., in line
with the contractual financial instrument, rather than
as additions to the equity of quasi-corporations. The
owner may also provide nonfinancial assets such as
machinery, and this increases the value of other equity
in the quasi-corporation to the owner.

4.129 Shares include DRs, if their underlying instru-
ments are shares (see paragraph 4.65).

Equity liability [MS]

4.130 In the context of the monetary statistics (but
not financial statistics), FCs total liabilities in the
form of equity (except MMF and non-MMF invest-
ment fund shares)*® are recorded at book value, the
difference between the value of the balance sheet
assets and liabilities other than equity liabilities. This
measure of equity liabilities is labeled “Equity liability
[MS]” in this Manual.

# For the treatment in monetary statistics of MMF and non-MMF
investment fund shares, see paragraphs 4.134-4.136.

4.131 For the purposes of monetary statistics, Equity
liability [MS] can be divided into the following sepa-
rate components:

a. Funds contributed by owners, which include
the total amount from the initial and any sub-
sequent issuance of shares, stocks, or other
forms of ownership of corporations and quasi-
corporations.

b. Retained earnings, which constitute all previ-
ous years after-tax profits that have not been
distributed to shareholders or appropriated as
general or special reserves.*

c. Current year result, which represents the accu-
mulation of profit or loss since the beginning of
the fiscal year.

d. General and special reserves, which are appro-
priations of retained earnings.*

e. Valuation adjustment, which shows the net
counterpart to changes in the value of assets and
liabilities on the balance sheets of FCs, exclud-
ing those changes in value (i.e., gains or losses)
that are recorded in net profit or loss for the
period under IFRSs or national financial report-
ing standards (see paragraph 2.58).

4.132 Equity liability [MS] is reconciled with the 2008
SNA concepts as presented in Figure 2.2,* and it is
consistent with the valuation approach for unlisted
equity called own funds at book value described in

“In principle, net profit or loss can be transferred to retained earn-
ings in each period, as the profit or loss is recorded. In practice in
many countries, net profit or loss is transferred to retained earnings
on a quarterly or annual basis. In the periods between transfers to
retained earnings, profit or loss is transferred on a cumulative basis
to a separate account within equity. In national financial reporting
standards, this account may be designated as results for the period,
or accumulated profit or loss, or by some other name. In monetary
statistics, retained earnings should include all profit or loss that
has accumulated in previous periods and has been officially trans-
ferred to retained earnings; current year result should include the
current period profit or loss that has not been officially transferred
to retained earnings.

#In many cases, general reserves are required by law to provide the
entity and its creditors with an added measure of protection from
the effects of losses. Special reserves also provide added protection,
but from the effects of losses that may arise from specific activities
of the corporation or quasi-corporation.

* Recording the market value of the equity liability by counter-
party sector on a frequent basis presents difficulties for monetary
statistics compilers, given that the primary source data of FCs
accounting records do not provide such information, although
estimation of such data may be made on a less-frequent basis.



the 2008 SNA (paragraphs 13.71e and 13.88), which
is applicable for quasi-corporations such as foreign-
owned branches. Data for these categories support the
balance sheet identity in the sectoral balance sheets
and provide the necessary details for the analysis of
the structure of FCs’ equity.

4.133 The accounting rules for Equity liability [MS]
are described in Chapter 5 of this Manual.

Investment fund shares or units [F52]

4.134 This category includes shares or units issued by
all kinds of investment funds, including MMFs and
non-MMF investment funds described in Chapter 3
(see paragraphs 3.144-3.146 and 3.149-3.151). Those
units acquiring shares in the funds thus spread their
risk across all the instruments in the fund.

4.135 MMF shares or units. As described in paragraph
3.146, MMF shares—with or without third-party pay-
ment features—are close substitutes for deposits and
are included in broad money. For the compilation
of monetary statistics, MMF shares or units should
be separately identified on the asset and liability side
of the sectoral balance sheets, with a further disag-
gregation on the liability side between MMF shares
included in or excluded from broad money based on
the creditor sector, and sectored by counterpart hold-
ing sector.

4.136 Non-MMF investment fund shares or units. As
discussed in paragraph 3.149, these entities allow indi-
vidual investors to acquire participation in a pool of
financial assets and possibly real estate. The shares or
units are not transferable and are typically not regarded
as substitutes for deposits. For the compilation of mon-
etary statistics, non-MMF investment fund shares or
units should be separately identified on the asset and
liability side of the sectoral balance sheets, with a fur-
ther disaggregation on the liability side by counter-
part holding sector.

F. Insurance, Pension, and Standardized
Guarantee Schemes [F6]

4.137 IPSGS all function as a form of redistribution
of income or wealth mediated by financial institu-
tions. The redistribution may be between individual
institutional units in the same period or for the same
institutional unit over different periods, or a combi-
nation of the two. Units participating in the schemes

contribute to them and may receive benefits (or have
claims settled) in the same or later periods.

Classification of Financial Assets and Liabilities

4.138 This section deals mainly with the classifica-
tion of respective asset and liability accounts of insur-
ance corporations, pension funds, and standardized
guarantee schemes included in the OFCs subsec-
tor, as reflected in the sectoral balance sheets in the
monetary statistics. The accounts within this category
receive separate treatment, owing to the specialized
treatment of these accounts in national financial
reporting standards and macroeconomic statistics.

4.139 Insurance, pension, and standardized guar-
antee schemes (IPSGS) are usually intermediated by
FCs. There are five categories of reserves applicable to
IPSGS:

a. Nonlife insurance technical reserves
b. Life insurance and annuities entitlements

c. Pension entitlements and nonpension entitle-
ments

d. Claims of pension funds on pension managers

e. Provisions for calls under standardized guaran-
tees.

4.140 These reserves, entitlements, and provisions,
except for claims of pension funds on the pension
fund manager, represent liabilities of the insurer, pen-
sion fund, or issuer of standardized guarantees and a
corresponding asset of the policyholders or beneficia-
ries. Only claims related to nonlife insurance techni-
cal reserves, claims of pension funds on the pension
manager, and claims related to provisions for calls
under standardized guarantees may appear as assets in
the balance sheets of FCs. Further, only life insurance,
and annuity and pension entitlements may appear as
liabilities in the balance sheets of FCs, the beneficia-
ries and policyholders for which are households.

4.141 The insurers, pension funds, and guarantors usu-
ally hold a range of assets to allow them to meet their
obligations; however, these are not necessarily equal to
the provision and entitlement liabilities. The aggregate
value of liabilities can be estimated actuarially.

4.142 In macroeconomic statistics, the term insur-
ance is treated as a form of nonlife insurance. A policy
that provides a benefit in the case of death within a
given period, but in no other circumstances, is usu-
ally called term insurance and should be regarded
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as nonlife insurance because, as with other nonlife
insurance, a claim is payable only if a specified con-
tingency occurs within the specified time frame, and
not otherwise.

Nonlife insurance technical reserves [F61]

4.143 Nonlife insurance provides cover to the policy-
holders against loss or damage suffered as a result of
accident, fire, property loss, health-related expenses,
etc. Nonlife insurance technical reserves consist of
prepayments of net nonlife insurance premiums
and reserves to meet outstanding nonlife insurance
claims. This definition applies to both nonlife direct
insurance and reinsurance:

a. Prepayments of net nonlife insurance premi-
ums. A buyer of an insurance coverage (the
“insurance policy”) pays for this service an
amount—called a premium—to the insurance
provider. Typically, the client prepays the pre-
mium (the cost of the insurance policy) at the
beginning of the period of insurance cover-
age. The insurance provider earns income from
the insurance service provided to the client
on an accrual (pro-rated) basis.”” The category
includes prepayments for nonlife insurance pol-
icies which cover a wide variety of events such

asaccident, sickness, fire, theft, etc. The category
also includes less-common types of premium
payments, including those for reinsurance
and deposit insurance.”® The category includes
prepayments that insurance corporations have
made to other insurance corporations—for
example, a life insurance corporation’s prepay-
ments for fire insurance provided by a nonlife
insurance corporation. It also includes reserves

* These prepayments are similar in some respects to prepayments
for some types of goods (e.g., subscriptions to publications) and
some types of non-insurance services (e.g., dues for memberships
in organizations). Prepayment of insurance premiums is classified
separately in insurance technical reserves, because of the special-
ized treatment of insurance corporations’ output in the national
accounts statistics.

* Deposit insurance included in this category should be distin-
guished from deposit protection schemes, also known as deposit
insurance provided to the general public. The former relates to
deposit insurance policies at the initiation of the deposit holders
who pay an insurance premium for the insurance service, whereas
the latter relates to ODCs participation in deposit-protection
schemes, which is usually mandatory under national legislation
and in which the participating ODCs pay fees or contributions to
the scheme.

for unexpired risks, which are reserves created
at the discretion of the insurer if it considers that
the funds kept in the unearned premium reserve
are not enough to cover the perceived risk.

Prepayment of nonlife insurance premiums is one
of the categories of IPSGS for which there are
both asset and liability positions in the sectoral
balance sheets of FCs. Assets cover the amount
of FCs' prepayments for insurance services to
all resident and nonresident insurers; liabilities
cover the prepayment of insurance premiums
received from all resident and nonresident poli-
cyholders by a resident insurance corporation.

Prepayments in the asset account for IPSGS need
to be disaggregated by prepayments made to res-
ident (with breakdowns into ODCs* and OFCs)
and nonresident insurers. The disaggregation
is needed to facilitate the compilation of total
claims on and liabilities to (1) resident individ-
ual institutional sectors, and (2) nonresidents,
as shown in the consolidated surveys compiled
from the sectoral balance sheets discussed in
Chapter 7.

b. Reserves to meet outstanding nonlife insurance
claims are funds set aside by insurance corpo-
rations to cover the amounts that they expect
to pay out with respect to valid claims that are
not yet settled or claims that may be disputed.
Reserves against such outstanding claims are

considered to be assets of the beneficiaries and
liabilities of the insurance corporations. Policy
benefits due to claimants are considered assets
of the claimants. Until paid, these assets are held
by insurance corporations as reserve liabilities.

Other reserves, such as equalization reserves,
may be identified by insurers; these are recog-
nized as liabilities and corresponding assets,
only when there is an event that gives rise to a
liability. Otherwise, equalization reserves are
internal accounting entries by the insurer that
represent saving (recorded under the general
and special reserves component of equity) to
cover irregular catastrophes and, thus, do not
represent any existing corresponding claims for
policyholders.

* ODCs may also engage in insurance business.



4.144 For nonlife insurance, investment income
attributable to policyholders generated from the assets
corresponding to nonlife insurance technical reserves
is treated as if it were (1) payable by the insurance
corporations to policyholders, and (2) payable back
to the insurance corporations in the form of premium
supplements.

Reinsurance

4.145 Reinsurance is insurance where both parties to
the policy are providers of insurance services. That is,
reinsurance allows insurance risk to be transferred from
one insurer to another. Many insurers act as both direct
insurers and reinsurers. There may be chains of transfer-
ring risk, from insurer to reinsurer to secondary rein-
surer and so on. Transactions and positions between the
direct insurer and the reinsurer should be recorded as
a separate set of transactions and positions rather than
on a net basis—that is, no consolidation takes place
between the transactions of the direct insurer as the
issuer of policies to its clients on the one hand and the
holder of a policy with the reinsurer on the other, and
the claim of the original issuer of policies on the rein-
surance corporation is not netted out from its liabilities
to beneficiaries. Reinsurance activities are classified and
recorded in the same way as direct nonlife insurance.

Life insurance and annuity entitlements [F62]

4.146 Life insurance and annuities entitlements
are financial claims policyholders have against an
institutional unit offering life insurance or provid-
ing annuities. This category consists of reserves of
life insurance corporations and annuity providers
for prepaid premiums and accrued liabilities to life
insurance policyholders and beneficiaries of annui-
ties. Life insurance and annuity entitlements are used
to provide benefits to policyholders upon the expira-
tion of the policy, or to compensate beneficiaries upon
the death of policyholders, and, thus, are kept sepa-
rate from shareholders’ funds. Annuity entitlements
are the actuarial calculation of the present value of
the obligations to pay future income until the death of
the beneficiaries. These entitlements show the extent
of financial claims that policyholders have against an
institution offering life insurance or providing annui-
ties and are therefore regarded as liabilities of the life
insurance corporations and annuity providers, and
assets of the policyholders and beneficiaries.

Classification of Financial Assets and Liabilities

4.147 For life insurance, the income earned by insur-
ance corporations from their holdings of assets to
meet their liabilities (which equal the present value of
expected claims from existing policyholders) is attrib-
uted to the policyholders as investment income on
their claims on life insurance corporations, and then
treated as being paid back to the insurance company
as premium supplements.

Pension entitlements [F63] and nonpension
entitlements [F65]

4.148 Pension entitlements are used to provide retire-
ment benefits for specific groups of employees. Pen-
sion entitlements show the extent of financial claims
that both existing and future pensioners hold against
either their employer or a fund designated by the
employer to pay pensions earned as part of a com-
pensation agreement between the employer and
employee. In addition to funded liabilities of pension
funds, this category includes liabilities of unfunded
employment-related pension schemes. As well as pen-
sions, some schemes may have other related liabilities,
such as for health benefits, which are included under
entitlements to nonpension benefits. For practical
reasons, liabilities for nonpension entitlements may
be included with those for pension entitlements.

4.149 Net implicit obligations for future social secu-
rity benefits (other than employment-related retire-
ment benefits) are not recognized as financial assets
or liabilities, because there is no direct link between
the contributions made and the benefits eventually
payable, and those benefits may be varied to achieve
policy objectives that have no direct connection with
the concept of social protection schemes. However,
if a social security fund also acts as an employment-
related pension scheme (as is sometimes the case for
benefits for present and former government employ-
ees), those pension obligations (but not implicit social
security obligations) are included under this category.

Claims of pension funds on the pension
manager [F64]

4.150 An employer may contract with a third party
to administer the pension funds for its employees. If
the employer continues to determine the terms of the
pension schemes and to retain the responsibility for
funding any deficit, as well as the right to retain any
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excess funding, the employer is described as the pen-
sion manager and the unit working under the direction
of the pension manager is described as the pension
administrator. If the agreement between the employer
and the third party is such that the employer passes
the risks and responsibilities for any deficit in funding
to the third party in return for the right of the third
party to retain any excess, the third party becomes the
pension manager as well as the administrator.

4.151 When the pension manager is a unit different
from the administrator, with the consequences that
responsibility for any deficit or claims on any excess
rests with the pension manager, the claim of the
defined benefit pension fund on the pension manager
is shown under this category.

Provisions for calls under standardized
guarantees [F66]

4.152 Provisions for calls under standardized guar-
antees consist of prepayments of net fees and provi-
sions to meet outstanding calls under standardized
guarantees.

4.153 Standardized guarantees are issued in large
numbers, usually for fairly small amounts, along iden-
tical lines. Standardized guarantees are not provided
by means of a financial derivative (i.e., credit default
swaps [CDSs]) nor in the form of a one-off guaran-
tee, but for which the probability of default can be
well established. These guarantees cover similar types
of credit risk for a large number of cases. Examples
include guarantees issued by governments on export
credit or student loans. It is not possible to estimate
precisely the risk of any one loan being in default,
but it is possible to make a reliable estimate of how
many out of a large number of such loans will default.
It is, therefore, possible for a guarantor to determine
suitable fees to charge for a guarantee working on the
same principle as an insurance corporation for which
the fees received in respect of many policies cover the
losses by a few. The transactions and stocks for provi-
sions for calls under standardized guarantee schemes
recorded are similar to reserves for nonlife insurance;
they include unearned fees and calls not yet settled.

4.154 Standardized guarantees can be contrasted with
two other types of guarantees:

a. Guarantees that meet the definition of finan-
cial derivatives (as defined in paragraph 4.156)

protect the lender, on a guarantee-by-guarantee
basis, against certain types of risk arising from a
credit relationship by paying the guarantor a fee
for a specified period. The guarantees covered
are such that experience in the market allows
the guarantor to apply standard master legal
agreements or to make a reasonable estimate of
the likelihood of the borrower defaulting and to
calculate suitable terms for the financial deriva-
tive. CDSs are included in financial derivatives
as options (see paragraphs 4.180 and 4.182).

b. One-off guarantees occur in situations in which
the conditions of the loan or of the security
that is guaranteed are so particular that it is not
possible for the degree of risk associated with
it to be calculated with any degree of precision.
These guarantees are not recognized as liabili-
ties on the balance sheet of the guarantor until
their activation, that is, when the event occurs
that makes the guarantor responsible for the
liability. These are off-balance-sheet contingent
assets until activated.”

G. Financial Derivatives and Employee
Stock Options [F7]

4.155 Financial derivatives and employee stock
options (ESOs) are financial assets and liabilities that
have similar features, such as a strike price and some
of the same risk elements. Although both transfer
risk, ESOs are designed to be a form of remuneration.

Financial derivatives [F71]

4.156 A financial derivatives contract is a financial
instrument that is linked to another specific financial
instrument, indicator, or commodity, and through
which specific financial risks (e.g., interest rate risk,
foreign exchange risk, equity and commodity price
risk, credit risk) can be traded in their own right in
financial markets.

4.157 The value of a financial derivative derives
from the price of an underlying item: the reference
price. The reference price may relate to a commod-
ity, a financial asset, an interest rate, an exchange rate,
another derivative, or a spread between two prices.

** One-off guarantees granted by governments to corporations
in financial distress and that have a very high likelihood of being
called are, however, treated as if they were activated at inception.



The derivative contract may also refer to an index or a
basket of prices. No principal amount is advanced that
has to be repaid, and no investment income accrues.
Financial derivatives are used for a number of pur-
poses, including risk management, hedging, arbitrage
between markets, and speculation. Valuation of finan-
cial derivatives is covered in Chapter 5.

4.158 The risk embodied in a financial derivative
contract can be traded either by trading the contract
itself, as is possible with options, or by creating a new
contract embodying risk characteristics that match,
in a countervailing manner, those of the existing con-
tract. The latter practice, which is termed offsetability,
occurs in forward markets. Offsetability means that it
is often possible to eliminate the risk associated with
a derivative by creating a new but “reverse” contract
having characteristics that countervail the risk under-
lying the first derivative. Buying the new derivative is
the functional equivalent of selling the first derivative,
because the result is the elimination of the underlying
financial risk. The ability to countervail the under-
lying risk in the market is therefore considered the
equivalent of tradability in demonstrating value. The
outlay that would be required to replace the existing
derivative contract represents its value; actual offset-
ting is not required.

4.159 Financial derivative contracts are usually settled
by net payments of cash rather than by the delivery
of the underlying items. Exchange-traded contracts,
such as commodity futures, are often settled before
maturity. Cash settlement is a logical consequence
of the use of financial derivatives to trade risks inde-
pendently of the ownership of underlying items.
Some financial derivative contracts, particularly those
involving foreign currency, are, however, settled by
deliveries of the underlying items. Once a financial
derivative reaches its settlement date, any unpaid
overdue amount is reclassified as accounts receivable/
payable, as its value is fixed, and, thus, the nature of
the claim becomes debt.

4.160 There are two broad types of financial deriva-
tives—options and forward-type contracts. A major
difference between option and forward contracts is
that, whereas either party to a forward contract is
a potential debtor, the buyer of an option contract
acquires an asset and the option writer incurs a lia-
bility. Option contracts can expire without worth;

options are exercised only if settling a contract is
advantageous for the option holder.

Classification of Financial Assets and Liabilities

4.161 In the financial markets there are a large assort-
ment of financial derivatives in the broad categories
of forward-type contracts and options contracts. A
number of standard types of forward-type contracts
and options contracts are shown in Tables 4.2 and 4.3,
respectively. Examples of exotic options—those with
relatively atypical contract terms—are described in
Box 4.3.

Forward-type contracts

4.162 A forward-type contract (forward) is an un-
conditional contract by which two counterparties
agree to exchange a specified quantity of an under-
lying item (financial or real) at an agreed-upon
contract price (the strike price) on a specified date.
Forward-type contracts include forwards, futures,
and swaps.’! Forward-type contract is used as a term
because the forward is often used more narrowly in
financial markets (often excluding swaps).

4.163 At the inception of a forward-type contract, risk
exposures of equal market value are exchanged, so a
contract typically has zero value at inception. As the
price of the underlying item changes, the market value
will change, although it may be restored to zero by
periodic settlement during the life of the forward. The
classification of a forward-type contract may change
between asset and liability positions.

4.164 Futures are forward-type contracts traded on
organized exchanges, while forward contracts are
bought and sold in OTC trading conducted through
computer-linked networks of dealers, or by telephone
between FCs or between an FC and a nonfinancial
corporate client. Forward contracts are not standard-
ized, whereas futures contracts have standard terms
as specified by the futures exchanges. The exchanges
facilitate trading by determining the standardized
terms and conditions of the contract, acting as the
counterparty to all trades, and requiring margins to
be deposited and paid to mitigate against risk.

4.165 Significant differences between forward and fut-
ures contracts include: (1) buyer and seller negotiating

°! Other types of arrangements also called swaps, but not meeting
the definition of a financial derivative, include gold swaps, central
bank swap arrangements, and other similar arrangements.
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Table 4.2 Standard Types of Forward and Futures Contracts

Forward contract. An over the counter (OTC) agreement
to buy or sell an asset for a predetermined delivery price
at a specified future time.

Futures contract. An exchange-traded agreement to buy
or sell an asset for a predetermined delivery price at a
specified future time.

Swap contract. An OTC agreement between two parties
to exchange future cash flows.

e Interest-rate swap. Fixed-rate payments
swapped for floating-rate payments.

e Currency swap. Payments in one currency
swapped for payments in another currency.

e Cross-currency interest-rate swaps. Fixed-rate
payments in one currency swapped for
floating-rate payments in another currency.

e Equity swap. One party’s swapped payments
are based on the performance of a stock price
or stock index. The other party’s swapped
payments can be based on a fixed or floating
rate, another stock price, or a stock index.

e Forward rate agreement (FRA). An over-the-

counter obligation that applies a predetermined
interest rate to a notional principal amount over a
specified future time period.

directly in a forward contract, whereas futures contracts
are handled through a clearing house; (2) a forward con-
tract usually contains an exact delivery date, whereas a
futures contract usually specifies an entire month or sev-
eral days within a month; (3) forward contracts are usu-
ally settled by delivery of the underlying asset or by cash
settlements at maturity, whereas futures contracts are
usually closed out prior to maturity; and (4) both for-
ward and futures contracts have zero value at inception,
but in a forward contract daily gains or losses are allowed
to accrue, whereas for a futures contract the clearing
house requires daily marking to market and daily settle-
ment of any gain or loss on the contract.

For future and/or forward contracts:

e Currency (exchange rate)

e Equity shares in a corporation(s) (individual
share price or stock price index)

e Debt securities (interest rate)

e Gold (gold price)

e Other commodity or commodity basket
(individual commodity price or commodity price
index)

e Swap contract (interest rate). A forward
agreement to enter into a swap contract at a
future time—called a deferred swap or forward
swap.

¢ Notional principal (interest rate)
¢ Notional principal (exchange rate)

¢ Notional principal (interest rate and exchange
rate)

e Notional principal (stock prices, stock price and
interest rate, etc.)

¢ Notional principal (interest rate)

4.166 The remainder of this subsection discusses dif-
ferent types of forward-type contracts.

4.167 A forward rate agreement (FRA) is an arrange-

ment in which two parties, in order to protect
themselves against interest rate changes, agree on
an interest rate to be paid, at a specified settlement
date, on a notional amount of principal that is never
exchanged. FRAs are settled by net cash payments.
The only payment that takes place is related to the
difference between the agreed forward rate and the
prevailing market rate at the time of settlement times
the notional principal underlying the contract. The
buyer of the FRA receives payment from the seller if



the prevailing rate exceeds the agreed rate; the seller
receives payment if the prevailing rate is lower than
the agreed rate. An FRA is equivalent to a swap agree-
ment in which a pre-determined fixed-rate payment is
swapped for a floating-rate payment.

4.168 A foreign currency forward contract involves
two counterparties who agree to transact in foreign
currencies at an agreed exchange rate in a specified
amount at some agreed future date.

4.169 A swap contract involves the counterparties
exchanging, in accordance with prearranged terms,
cash flows based on the reference prices of the under-
lying items. Swap contracts classified as forward-type
contracts include currency swaps, interest rate swaps,
cross-currency interest rate swaps, and equity swaps.
Under a swap contract, the obligations of each party
may arise at different times, for example, an interest
rate swap for which payments are quarterly for one
party and annual for the other. In such cases, the
quarterly amounts payable by one party prior to pay-
ment of the annual amount payable by the other party
are recorded as transactions in the financial derivative
contract.

4.170 An interest rate swap contract involves an
exchange of cash flows related to interest payments,
or receipts, on a notional amount of principal, which
is never exchanged, in one currency over a period of
time. One party pays an interest rate based on variable
rates and the other based on fixed rates. Settlements
are often made through net cash payments by one
counterparty to the other.

4.171 A foreign currency swap is a spot sale/purchase
of currencies and a simultaneous forward purchase/
sale of the same currencies. For foreign c